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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board
of directors (the “Board”) of GR Properties Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
the report for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the
“Year”).

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in
(i) the provision of property management services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); (ii) property
development and property investment in the United
Kingdom (the “UK”), United States of America (the “USA”)
and the PRC; and (iii) operation and management of a
leisure and lifestyle experience centre in the PRC.
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Beijing, as China’s capital and 5th of the world’s wealthiest
cities, whose housing rate always keeps at a high level,
is a high-class market for the global investment. So, it is
always a city for investment that we will consider.

On 8th July 2017, the Company entered into a purchase
agreement with Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly
owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a
company wholly owned by Mr. Sun Zhongmin) as the
vendor, pursuant to which the vendor agreed to sell
its entire share capital of Wholly Express Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively, “Wholly Express Group”)
to the Group for a consideration of HK$673,364,000,
HK$491,400,000 of which was paid by the allotment and
issue of the consideration shares at the issue price of
HK$0.91 per share and remaining HK$181,964,000 by the
issue of the convertible bonds at the initial conversion
price of HK$0.91 per share.

Wholly Express Group is principally engaged in the
operation and management of leisure and lifestyle
experience centre, including but not limited to provision
of catering, banquet, fitness and sport facilities services.
Such services are provided in a property located
at Ronghua South Road, Economic-Technological
Development Area, Beijing, the PRC, which is self-owned
by Wholly Express Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

The property is located in Economic Technological
Development Area located in Yizhuang (78 §t) at the
southeast of Beijing, the PRC, which is surrounded by an
area of large construction side under development. The
construction site includes hotel, offices, residential and
retail properties. The development of the remaining area
is estimated to be completed gradually from 2018 to 2022.
Although the Wholly Express Group incurred net loss in
previous years which was mainly due to the surrounding
area under development, the Company expects that the
operation of leisure and lifestyle experience centre by
the Wholly Express Group will gradually improve with
the effect of increasing population and flow of people in
surrounding area upon the completion of the construction
site. This acquisition can enhance the Group’s revenue
and broaden its earnings base by penetrating into the
property development industry in the PRC, and enjoy
potential capital appreciation of the property in the future.

On 15 November 2017, the Group acquired Juxon House,
a grade A commercial building located at 100 St Pauls
Churchyard, London, the UK (the “Property” or “Juxon
House”). The Board considers that this acquisition could
solid the Company’s foundation of investment as well as
enhance our prestige in the London market. The Board
currently intends to hold the property for investment
purpose to receive rental income and plans to engage
a local professional property manager to manage the
Property and the leases and licences (collectively, the
“leases”) subsisting in respect of the Property. Taking into
account the prime location of the Property and the existing
leases, the Company believes that the acquisition could
generate stable cash flow and income to the Company and
may enjoy potential capital appreciation in the future. The
Company will from time to time explore different options to
enhance and maximise the value of the Property, including
renewing the Leases upon expiry, rebalancing its tenant
portfolio.

Apart from acquisitions, the Group has made another
milestone in capital market. The Company successfully
completed the subscriptions of shares to investors on 22
February 2018. Pursuant to the subscription agreements,
an aggregate of 179,484,147 subscription shares,
representing approximately 9.85% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription
shares, have been allotted and issued by the Company to
not less than six subscribers at the subscription price of
HK$1.00 per subscription share.

GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Z W EEA R P B b R R AR R A A B Bl
FEam ZVERBATIEETHER
B o ZEETIHWEEEE PHAE =X
MEEYE ARG TREGBIBERZ
—NFEZZZFZEISTK c BEWholly
ExpressS B A FEENEEBFEEITEMR
RESERISEREP - AR R EFWholly
Expresste B &) 0k B & B 14 42 0F BE B 0 0 48
EHRREEIRTKENHEREME A D
RAAREMNEMMELRS - ZWES
BB BE AP R ERMBEITELMA
EEWRELRAEERARNER TR RER=E
EBETERNEHE -

RZZF—+F+—A+EHB  AEBREN
P 3 B fm B EE (R 2B 20 = E b 5100 5% BIARR
7 %1 FJuxon House ([ & %2 18k [Juxon
House]) - EE @R ABZWBAENZE AR
AIREEBUARRARMNGHTHNE
Z-EEZCHEABMBAZDEERERS
kS BA - Ret8lERA— 28R
¥VECEEEZMERBRAZYENR
ERGFEEHFE(GBIAE]) - E B3 Z
MEZEBMALLRBEERE  AREHEE
ZWBEBBEARAEABERERERK
A BRRAKRAIGEZEEEERNEE - K
NAIBTEHERTREEARALEZZIR
SEMEZEE  REAZSHEOIHE
B AREF4ES -

BRUEEEIEIN  AEEEREATSEY S
—BERRE - ARFRZE-NF_A=Z+=
B EREIEEENRGNDRE - BRER
Bin#  AAFCHRERBERMD1.00% T
7 RIBERLEE K E1TA 179,484 147X RE
B (BIARBIEREROEARBEETR
KH499.85%) TR DRANBREA -



In the future, we would like to continue obtain more
equity money rather than borrowings so as to balance the
gearing level of the Group and expand the shareholder
base of the Company. After the substantial acquisition of
Juxon House in UK in 2017, we plan to continue seeking
investment opportunities for properties development and
investment in the USA this year. At the same time, the
Group will consider investments in the PRC in order to
diversify the risk of the Group. The Board will continue the
strategy to expand the Group through acquisition of assets
together with broadening the shareholders base through
share placements or rights issue.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to the fellow members of the Board, and on
behalf of the Board, the management and entire staff of
the Group for their diligent work and contribution in the
past year. Last but not the least, | would like to extend my
sincerest appreciation to the investors and shareholders
of the Company for their continuing confidence in and
support for the Group over the years. In 2018, the business
portfolio of the Group will continue to be optimised and
rationalised to provide the Company’s future development
and business growth with a motive force. We will devote
our best efforts to generate encouraging returns for our
supportive shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

The Company has taken a big stride forward in year
2017. Our management is pleased to share with our
supportive shareholders that we have completed
two acquisitions in 2017 which further expands our
asset portfolio.

Acquisition of Wholly Express Limited and
its subsidiaries

On 31 August 2017, the Company completed
to acquire the entire share capital of Wholly
Express Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Wholly Express Group”), at a consideration of
HK$673,364,000, from Winluck Global Limited (a
company wholly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian) and
Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to
HK$491,400,000 by the allotment and issue of the
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.91
per share and remaining as to HK$181,964,000 by
the issue of the convertible bonds convertible in
the shares of the Company of the initial conversion
price of HK$0.91 per share. The convertible bonds
are fully converted subsequently in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Wholly Express Group is principally engaged in
the operation and management of leisure and
lifestyle experience centre (“Recreational Centre”),
a self-owned property, including but not limited to
provision of catering, banquet, fitness and sport
facilities services. Such services are provided in
the Recreational Centre located at Ronghua South
Road, Economic-Technological Development
Area, Beijing, the PRC, which is self-owned by
Wholly Express Group with a gross floor area of
approximately 28,056.88 square meters. Wholly
Express Group is able to contribute approximately
HK$80 million to the Group annually.

The Recreational Centre is located in Economic
Technological Development Area located in
Yizhuang (78 &) at the southeast of Beijing, the
PRC, which is surrounded by an area of large
construction side under development. The
construction site is estimated to be approximately
118,974.90 square meters with hotel, offices,
residential and retail properties. The development
of the remaining area is estimated to be completed
gradually from 2018 to 2022. The directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company considered that
although the Wholly Express Group incurred net
loss in previous years which was mainly due to the
surrounding area under development, the Company
expects that the operation of the Recreational
Centre by the Wholly Express Group will gradually
improve with the effect of increasing population
and flow of people in surrounding area upon the
completion of the construction site. This acquisition
can enhance the Group’s revenue and broaden
its earnings base by penetrating into the property
development industry in the PRC, and enjoy
potential capital appreciation of the property in the
future.

For details of acquisition of Wholly Express Group,
please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 9 June 2017, 7 July 2017 and 31 August 2017
and circular dated 8 August 2017.
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Acquisition of Juxon House

On 15 November 2017, Talented Chief Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a purchase agreement to acquire a
property in London, UK, namely Juxon House, at
a consideration of £134,500,000. Juxon House
was expected to contribute rental income of
approximately £5.5 million annually and had a
historical rental yield of approximately 4.10%.
The acquisition completed on 8 January 2018.
The consideration was paid by an external bank
borrowing of approximately £80,130,000 and
remaining funded by shareholder loan of the
Company from Wintime Company Limited.

Juxon House is located at 100 St Pauls Churchyard,
London, the UK. It situates in a prominent position
on the northern-western side of St Pauls Cathedral,
on the corner of Ludgate Hill/St Paul’s Churchyard
to the south and Ave Maria Lane to the west,
with Paternoster Square to the east, which is a
prime professional and financial district with the
London Stock Exchange and some multinational
organizations having offices in the near vicinity.
Juxon House is a grade A commercial building
with a net lettable floor area of approximately
123,781 square feet, among which the office
accommodation, the retail accommodation, and the
ancillary and storage area have a net lettable floor
area of 100,774 square feet, 20,083 square feet
and 2,924 square feet respectively. Juxon House
comprises a lower ground floor, a ground floor and
five upper floors, basement storage and twenty car
park spaces. As at 31 December 2017 Juxon House
was fully let to four office tenants and four retail
tenants.

10 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company believes that the acquisition of Juxon
House could generate stable cashflow and income
to the Company and may enjoy potential capital
appreciation in the future. The Company will from
time to time explore different options to enhance
and maximise the value of the property, including
renewing the leases and licences subsisting upon
expiry, rebalancing its tenant portfolio.

For the details of acquisition of Juxon House, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 15
November 2017 and 8 January 2018 and circular
dated 29 November 2017.

Shares Subscription under General Mandate

On 26 January 2018 (after trading hours) for the
purpose of raising additional funds to facilitate
its business development as well as to introduce
the investors as strategic shareholders and to
strengthen the capital base and the financial
position of the Company, the Company entered
into the subscription agreements with not less than
six subscribers, pursuant to which the subscribers
have agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has agreed to allot and issue, 179,484,147 new
shares in aggregate, at the subscription price of
HK$1.00 per subscription share. Completion of
the subscription took place on 22 February 2018.
The net proceeds from the subscription after
deducting relevant expenses incurred in relation
to the subscription, amount to approximately
HK$179.32 million which is used by the Company
for repayment of shareholder loans from Wintime
Company Limited and general working capital
(including administrative expenses of the Company)
of the Group, which is in line with the intended use
disclosed in the Company's announcement dated
26 January 2018.

Upon the completion of the subscription, the
financial position and shareholder base of the
Group has been strengthened. For details of
the subscription, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 26 January 2018 and 22
February 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

8= HE

—E—+tF —ZE-RF

+=ZBA=+—-H +Z-ZA=+—H

LEFE LEFE

(Restated)

(&2&E75)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FE T

Turnover B 229,822 216,392
Loss for the year AEEEIR (65,014) (65,363)
Assets and liabilities EEMNMERE 2017 2016
—ZE—+tF ZE-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Total assets EEBE 2,415,782 1,657,683
Total liabilities ERERGES 1,306,958 502,927
Net assets EERE 1,108,824 1,154,756
Total debts BIET 826,757 198,990
Capital liquidity ratio® ERNE s 1.28 0.9
Gearing ratio* EEAEER 74.6% 17.2%

RITERRBESRARD AR

Bank balances and cash dividend by current

liabilities
# Total debts divided by total equities # BERRER AR AE
2. BUSINESS REVIEW 2. ¥E¥MOE

During the year ended 31 December 2017 (the
“Year”), the Group’s operations are organised
into business units based on the nature of their
operations. There are three reportable operating
segments, including (i) the property management
segment; (ii) the property development and
investment segment; and (iii) the operation and AOREERER F—EEE=ZME
management of a leisure and lifestyle experience REBALF B - 88 — B R 58 B 7Y
centre. The first and third segments are located in EEH - EZFHEPREH -

the PRC, the second segment is located in the USA,

UK and the PRC.
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BRI ¢ R(i)RFE & B A AR B AR
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2.1

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property management segment

Subsequent to the completion of the
acquisition of It R EEEIEBR A F
(Beijing AOCEAN Business Management
Company Limited*, or “AOCEAN Business
Management”) in May 2015, the Group
successfully engaged in the property
management segment.

As at 31 December 2017, AOCEAN Business
Management manages 14 major residential
and commercial property projects, all of
which are located in Beijing, the PRC. The
services provided by AOCEAN Business
Management under the management
agreements thereof include, inter alia (i)
provision of heat supply and maintenance
services of heat exchange stations
and pipeline network; (ii) provision of
management services to car parks such
as maintenance of various facilities and
equipment in the car parks; and (iii) provision
of property management services to vacant
properties and general management
services such as repair and maintenance
of the buildings and fire safety equipment
and facilities to residential and commercial
property projects.

Adhering to the principle of human-oriented,
and seeing from the perspective of
customers and market needs, AOCEAN
Business Management has been improving
and perfecting its management system
and service products so as to embed
management into services and provide
quality services wholeheartedly. AOCEAN
Business Management will be dedicated to
establishing community service network,
enhancing Online to Online (“020")
development for the community and
providing attentive services in order to
improve customer satisfaction.

2.1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

2.2

Property development and investment
segment

During the Year, the property development
and investment segment is located in the
USA, UK and the PRC.

Santa Monica Project

In August 2015, the Group acquired a
parcel of land located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California,
the USA. The parcel of land has a total site
area of approximately 40,615 square feet.
According to the current entitlement of the
parcel of land, the proposed development
potential for the site is a mixed-use three
stories development. The total gross floor
area is estimated to be approximately 39,395
square feet for residential use, approximately
30,083 square feet for commercial use
and approximately 75,000 square feet for
parking. Total rentable/saleable floor area is
estimated to be approximately 38,000 square
feet for residential use and approximately
25,000 square feet for commercial use and
190 on-site subterranean parking spaces
upon completion of the development. The
development cost of the land had been
funded by way of construction loan from
bank in the USA and internal resources of the
Company.

The construction of Santa Monica Project
started in the second half of 2016 and is
expected to complete in second half of 2018.
The original plan of Santa Monica Project
was to lease the commercial units and sell
the residential units. During the year, the
management of the Company decided to
lease the residential and commercial units to
receive rental income upon completion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board is of the opinion that leveraging
on the Company’s profound knowledge of
and experience in the real estate sector and
in accordance with our future development
strategy, it is a good time to seize the
opportunity to explore the property market
in the USA. The property market in the USA
is one with great development potential
for property development business. Santa
Monica in the State of California, the USA,
is a city of booming tourism. It is situated
at a prime location and purchase price is
reasonable. The Board believes that the
acquisition will strengthen the Company’s
current core business and enhance its
competitiveness and sustainability in making
profits in the long run.

Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 March 2015, 1 April 2015
and 20 August 2015 and the circular of the
Company dated 14 May 2015 for details of
acquisition of the parcel of land located in
Santa Monica.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

Boundary House

In August 2016, the Group acquired an office
building, Boundary House, in London, UK.
Boundary House is located at 7-17 Jewry
Street, London EC3N 2EX, which is the
crossover between the increasingly vibrant
Aldgate district popular with technology
media telecommunications occupiers and
the established city of London financial and
insurance heartland. Boundary House is also
close to numerous mainline and underground
stations with convenient access of rail
transportation, including the new Crossrail,
which is a high speed train expected to be
delivered and in service in 2018 connecting
the East-West of London. Boundary House
is an office building with a net internal floor
area of approximately 45,062 square feet,
which comprises a ground floor and seven
upper floors, basement storage and seven
car park spaces. As at 31 December 2017.
Boundary House is fully occupied except
with one vacant unit available for lease and
is let to 10 office tenants under 13 subsisting
leases with term expiring between September
2018 and May 2023 (the “Leases”). The car
parking spaces, roof and basement are also
let to five licensees under six licences with
term either expiring before 2021 or on a term
until determined by either party. The Leases
is expected to contribute approximately
£1,300,000 rental income to the Group
annually, disregarding the rent free period
provided to tenants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board considers that the acquisition of
Boundary House could be a good investment
opportunity for the Group to explore and
invest in the UK property market. The Group
currently intends to hold the property for
investment purpose to receive rental income
and engaged a local professional property
manager to manage the property and the
Leases. Taking into account the prime
location of the property and the existing
Leases, the Board believes that Boundary
House could generate stable cash flow
and income to the Company and may
enjoy potential capital appreciation in the
future. The Company will from time to time
explore different options to enhance and
maximise the value of Boundary House,
including renewing the Leases upon expiry,
rebalancing its tenant portfolio and property
re-development.

Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 11 July 2016 and 30 August
2016 and circular of the Company dated
1 August 2016 for details of acquisition of
Boundary House.

Juxon House

For details of Juxon House, please refer
to Section 1 “Overview of The Year” in this
announcement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

2.3

Fuzhou properties

Previously, the Group’s property investment
in the PRC was conducted through Faith
Stand (China) Limited (“Faith Stand China”)
and & B {EK E ¥ % & 6 R 2 "Al(Jiacheng
(Fujian) Investments Company Limited*,
Jiacheng Fujian) by leasing out investment
properties held by Faith Stand China
and Jiacheng Fujian comprising shops,
storerooms and car parking spaces located
in two residential property development
projects in Gulou District, Fuzhou, Fujian
Province in the PRC (the “Properties”). In
2016, in view of the downturn of the property
rental market in Fuzhou over the last few
years where the Properties are located;
and the loss-making position of Faith Stand
China and Jiacheng Fujian in prior years,
the Group had disposed of the Properties by
way of disposal of the entire equity shares
of Faith Stand China and Jiacheng Fujian
to an independent third party. Details of the
disposals are set out in the announcement
dated 15 June 2016.

Operation and management of leisure
and lifestyle experience centre

For details of the Wholly Express Group which
is engaged in operation and management
of the Recreational Centre, please refer to
Section 1 “Overview of The Year” in this
announcement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

== A A
%EE n‘—JL Afd & JJ jfﬁ
3. FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt %5 [0 B
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
B=E HE
—E Lt F T XF
+=ZBA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
LFE LEFE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(&=&E5))
Turnover EER 229,822 216,392
Loss for the year FREBR (65,014) (65,363)
Assets and liabilities EERERE 2017 2016
—E2—+tF ZE AT
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Total assets EER 2,415,782 1,657,683
Total liabilities AfERE 1,306,958 502,927
Net assets EERE 1,108,824 1,154,756
Total debts 157 826,757 198,990
Capital liquidity ratio® & AN &) b 1.28 0.90
Gearing ratio* B E A E X 74.6% 17.2%

Bank balances and cash dividend by current liabilities RITEBRLARSBURBEE
# Total debts divided by total equity v BISAEBRAERARE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

3.1

Financial analysis

Due to the acquisition of Wholly Express
Group during the Year, the consolidated net
loss for the year ended 31 December 2016 is
expected to be restated from approximately
HK$36.82 million to approximately HK$65.36
million as a result of applying the principles
of merger accounting, as prescribed
in Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5
“Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” (“AG5”) issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as
if the acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Wholly Express Limited, which
was completed on 31 August 2017 and was
accounted for as a business combination
under common control, had occurred at
the beginning of the earliest financial year
presented (i.e., 1 January 2016), for details
please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 8 August 2017. On this basis, the
Wholly Express Group’s results were
consolidated as from 1 January 2016 in the
preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017.

During the Year, the Group achieved a
revenue of approximately HK$229,822,000
(year ended 31 December 2016 restated:
approximately HK$216,392,000). The
substantial increase in revenue is mainly
attributable to the completion of the
acquisition of Boundary House in August
2016 which has contributed full year rental
income of approximately HK$10,211,000 (year
ended 31 December 2016: approximately
HK$3,691,000) to the Group during the
Year. The increase in revenue during the
Year was also contributed from the property
management segment. During the Year, the
Group manages 13 major residential and
commercial projects in Beijing while only 8
projects under management in 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group recorded loss for the Year
of approximately HK$65,014,000 (year
ended 31 December 2016: restated loss of
approximately HK$65,363,000). The loss for
the Year was mainly due to:

(i)

(if)

the net loss generated from the Wholly
Express Group which was mainly due
to surrounding area of the property
held by the Wholly Express Group
located at Ronghua South Road,
Economic-Technological Development
Area, Beijing, the People’s Republic
of China is still under development.
As disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 8 August 2017,
the aforesaid surrounding area is
estimated to be completed gradually
from 2018 to 2022. Based on the
unaudited management accounts
of the Acquired Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017, the net
loss generated from Acquired Group
was mainly arise from the depreciation
of assets of approximately HK$19.42
million; and

the recognition of fair value loss of the
Group’s investment property, Boundary
House, located at 7-17 Jewry Street,
London EC3N 2EX, the United
Kingdom of approximately HK$23.59
million, which is made based on a
shorter lease term under the new lease
agreements entered into between the
Group and its tenants indicating lease
rates at lower than initially expected
level and an expected decrease in
rental income generated by such
investment property.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRBWw Lo

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
the Group arranged construction loan
for Santa Monica Project and complete
the drawndown of loan of approximately
US$679,000 (approximately HK$5,268,000)
as at 31 December 2016. As at 31 December
2017, such construction loan had a balance
of approximately US$ 7,056,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$55,121,000). In
addition, the Group borrowed a loan of
£13,875,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$132,264,000 as at 31 December 2016
and HK$146,356,000 as at 31 December
2017) as at 31 December 2016 and 2017 with
Boundary House being charged as security
for the loan. During the Year, the Group has
no other new borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December
2016, the Company and Wintime Company
Limited, an immediate holding company of
the Company, entered into a shareholder
loan facility agreement, pursuant to which
Wintime Company Limited agrees to provide
a facility with amount up to HK$250,000,000
to the Company. This shareholder’'s loan
is unsecured, interest bearing at 2% per
annum and repayable on 36 months after
drawdown. During the Year, the Company
and Wintime Company Limited, entered into
another shareholder loan facility agreement,
pursuant to which Wintime Company Limited
agrees to provide a facility with amount up
to HK$1,500,000,000 to the Company for
financing the working capital requirements
of the Group in connection with its property
acquisition and development. This
shareholder loan is also unsecured, interest
bearing at 2% per annum and repayable on
36 months after drawdown.

In order to fund the acquisition of Juxon
House, the Group made a new bank
borrowing on 8 January 2018 with amount
of approximately £80,130,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$881,430,000), with Juxon
House being charged as security for the loan.
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3.2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash flow management and liquidity
risk

Management of the Group’s cash flows is
the responsibility of the Group’s treasury
function at the corporate level. Our objective
is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through a combination
of internal resources, bank borrowings, debts
and equity securities, where appropriate. We
are comfortable with our present financial
and liquidity position, and will continue to
maintain a reasonable liquidity buffer to
ensure sufficient funds are available to meet
liquidity requirements at all times.

The directors of the Company review the
capital structure of the Group by using
a gearing ratio, which is calculated on
the basis of dividing the total debts by
total equity. The review is conducted
at least semi-annually and before each
major financing or investment decision is
made. The Group objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding
and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings including bank and other
borrowings, shareholder’s loan and other
bond instruments, if any. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants regularly to ensure that
it maintains sufficient working capital and
adequate committed lines of funding to meet
its liquidity requirement.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had
unutilised facilities of approximately
HK$1,124,720,000 (31 December 2016:
approximately HK$188,542,000) from Wintime
Company Limited. As at 31 December 2017,
the Group has cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$723,891,000 (31
December 2016 restated: approximately
HK$290,574,000) and total debts of
approximately HK$826,757,000 (31
December 2016: approximately
HK$198,990,000), which is considered as a
healthy level of liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBN WA

3.3

3.4

3.5

Foreign currency exposure

During the Year, the Group’s business
operations were principally in the PRC,
UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are HK$, RMB, £ and United
States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in
RMB, £ and US$. The majority of assets
and liabilities are denominated in HKS$,
RMB, £ and US$. Any significant exchange
rate fluctuations of foreign currencies
against HK$ may have financial impact
to the Group. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy at present.
However, the Group will closely monitor the
exchange rate movement trend and take
corresponding measures in a timely manner
to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and
exposure.

Human resources and remuneration
policy

As at 31 December 2017, the total number of
employees of the Group (excluding Directors)
was 370 (31 December 2016: 347). Most of
them were located in the PRC.

Remuneration offered by the Group was
determined in accordance with the relevant
policies in Hong Kong, the PRC and the USA
and with reference to market trend, as well
as individual competence and performance
of the staff. Other related benefits included
contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes, social insurance and medical
insurance funds.

Final dividend

The Board resolved not to declare any
final dividend for the Year (year ended 31
December 2016: Nil)

24 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

3.3

3.4

3.5

S 5 L B

RARFEEAR  AEBEZEHE
BXE2AETHE REKXER
BA - MTBELEEBKRE
T ARKE CRERET(E
L) AREZRZEBNAA
R¥ REREXT/EM - X
MoOEEMBEHUAET - A
R¥  HRERITR/EM I
BB TINA EEREXR
g AJRE e H AT EBKYH
FE - AKEBNYLEINES
R - AT AEEREY
FEEXRB(CBE - RERERN
& 35 Fi5 il DA BB I BEE L B % 7

=

ADERRKFHHMEE
RZF-—EtF+ZA=+—
H A&EEZEE(TMBEE
F)VEBAZION(ZT— K F
+=—BAZ=Z+—H :347A) - K
HoEPEIIE-

AEEREZHMESIRES
B PELREEEREE 2
EMHHBKE R B TEARE
N REMETE - At ERE
MeReEs HeRBED
RERRBRESHR -

RKHAKRE
EEZRFARTERAFELZ
ERRARE(BE-ZT—RX
FT-_A=+-BLFE:
') o



3.6

3.7

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had
investment properties with an amount
of approximately HK$470,948,000
(31 December 2016: approximately
HK$405,199,000) and properties held
for sale with an amount of approximately
HK$154,980,000 (31 December 2016:
approximately HK$104,716,000) to
secure bank borrowings of approximately
HK$201,477,000 (31 December 2016:
approximately HK$137,5632,000). Such bank
borrowings comprise of the construction loan
for Santa Monica Project and the loan with
Boundary House being charged as security.

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables
of approximately HK$61,000 (31 December
2016: approximately HK$315,000) in total was
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2017, deposit amounting
to approximately HK$39,636,000 (31
December 2016: HK$38,800,000) has been
pledged to secure standby letter of credit
issued to the general contractor for Santa
Monica Project.

Capital and other development related
commitment and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the
Group had no material contingent liabilities.
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had
contracted but not provided for commitments
for development costs and capital
expenditure in amount of approximately
HK$103,548,000 (31 December 2016:
approximately HK$186,243,000) and
acquisition of Juxon House in amount of
approximately HK$1,358,420,000.
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BEBN WA

3.8

3.9

Property valuations

Property valuations on the Group’s
investment properties located in the UK and
the USA and the property located in the PRC
as at 31 December 2017 have been carried
out by independent qualified professional
valuers, Gerald Eve LLP, JLL Valuation &
Advisory Services, LLC and Knight Frank
Petty Limited, respectively. The property
valuations were used in preparing 2017
annual results. The valuations were based
on income capitalisation approach and sales
comparison approach.

Significant investments and Material
acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures

For significant investments held, their
performance during the year and their
future prospects, please refer to Section 2
“Business Review” in this announcement.
Save as disclosed, the Group had no
significant investments during the year.

For major acquisitions during the Year,
please refer to Section 1 “Overview of The
Year” in this announcement. During the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
had disposed of the entire equity interests,
of Faith Stand China and Jiacheng Fujian,
please refer to the paragraph headed
“Fuzhou properties” of Section 2.2 of
“Business Review” in this announcement.
Save as disclosed, there were no other
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the global economy for 2018 will be
full of uncertainties, especially, in the aftermath of
the UK referendum for Brexit. In accordance with
the future development strategy of the Group, the
Group would like to tap into international markets
such as the USA and Europe. This should give
diversification and a hedge against our future
domestic businesses, in order to bring good returns
to the shareholders. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition of Juxon House in the
UK allows the Group to capture the opportunity to
establish its position and engage in the property
market in London, the UK and for the Group to
invest in income generating real estate with the
potential of capital appreciation of properties in
the long term and re-development potential in the
future. The directors of the Company believe that
after the said acquisition, the Group will be able to
broaden its income base through the stable rental
incomes generated from the property. This will
also enhance the operation base of the Group and
optimise the investment properties portfolio of the
Group.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Scope of the Report

This is the second Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “Report”) of GR Properties Limited (the
“Company” or “GR Properties”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “We” or “Us”). The information
and data in this Report cover the property management
segment of the Group.

Reporting Period

This Report outlines our sustainable development strategy
and performance during the period from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2017 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Basis

In preparation of the Report, we follow the requirements
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited to disclose our
performance in environmental and social aspects. For
performance about our corporate governance, please refer
to the Corporate Governance Report.

Your Opinions

We attach great importance to the opinions from
stakeholders. If you have any feedbacks with regards to
this Report and our sustainable development strategy
and performance, please send us your comments to
info@grproperties.com.hk.

28 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

RMREHRE

AR E R EE
ARETEARMEARABD(TAAA]HL
(B E)EREMBRAR(SEAI A%
B HRMDERNE _HRE 48R
BamE([ARE]) - AREFHEHR K
BEREAFTENMEEERS -
HEHE
AREMEBRMR-_FT—EF-A—B=E

—tF+-A=+—HA{HREHRBI)
MARHEERRBEEREA -

BEKE

Efﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬁiﬂ% BRRBEEEBRERS

ﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ & EmARRIM S -+ £ 2R
. i@&a/niﬁih 5I)(TESG#E 5 1) &

%*%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁh%&ﬁ?ﬁﬁE‘J%?ﬁ °

ﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁp‘*ﬁﬁfﬁ%iﬁ F2

BFERTHIEEERREIFD

EHER

BEM+2ERSEB2ENER B
TWMHAZERAEBENATFEER
RERRBEBEARE RALEHE

info@grproperties.com.hk °



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders include employees, owners and
residents, suppliers and business partners, shareholders
and potential investors, government and the local
community. We maintain close communications with our
stakeholders and listen to and consider their opinions
through 24-hour customer service hotline, questionnaire,
staff meeting and shareholder meetings, enabling us to
make continuous improvements to achieve sustainable
development.

Similar to last year, in the Reporting Period, we also
conducted a stakeholder survey to gather the voice of
our stakeholders. The materiality matrix below was drawn
based on the survey results:
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Aspects:
&S

1

10

11

12

13

Diversity and equal opportunity
ZrilehEHRS

Employee turnover rate

BImAKX

Occupational health and safety
BExzMEE

Training and development

B R 2 R

Child labour and forced labour prevention
Bh LEZE T K 58 i &

Employment relationship and employee
communication

EBREBEREILER

Employee benefits/leisure activities
BEIRF/FRELED

Sewage disposal

75 7K BE

Greenhouse gas emissions

B =R B HE

Air emissions

BE RBEL

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste

management
1 B K FE 1 B BE W) B2 38

Energy and water conservation
£ 49 82 & A 7K
Natutalxresource management
RAERNA

14 Supplier’'s environmental and social
performance evaluation
HEFRE LR GREATG

15 Carbon trade

W25
16 Suppller selection
/\/\ &*iﬁ

17 Anti- corruptlon practices
5 35 I B
18 Emergency plan
KERZRAR
19 Product safety
EmZE

20 Complaint handling
o 72
21 Intellectual property rights
N E
22 Consumer privacy
BEFE/HBELR
23 Technology research and development
£ i B 9% ) 3
24 Volunteer activities participation

Ea /\%I/EE

25 Charlty donatlon

SUSTAINABLE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

“People oriented” has always been a paramount
philosophy of us as a provider of property management
services. We are committed to maintaining the sustainable
development of our living environment. For this purpose,
we have formulated a series of policies and measures to
integrate environmental and social considerations into our
daily operations in order to create long-term values for our
properties and even the environment and community at
large.

We have obtained a series of international standard
certificates to ensure the quality of our sustainable
development.
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SERVICE QUALITY

Our service mainly has four functions: customer service,
engineering, environment and security. Our Project
Management Procedures ({IE B #f & 12 %l £ )) defines
the standards of each function to govern our work. We
developed Quality, Environment and OHS Management
Manual KE 2 REEKBRERRLZ2EEF M) in
accordance with our management philosophy of “creating
high-quality products, providing prominent services (%% &
BEER  EREBAEAMRT)” to ensure that all projects and
employees are complying with our “Six Clear Principles”,
complete each task seriously and serve every customer
diligently.
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“Six Clear Principles”

[ ~EEREA ]

Our customer service, engineering and security staff
conduct inspections every day. Our project managers
also carry out sample check every week to ensure service
quality. We will conduct quality inspections for all projects
every year in terms of over 900 criteria, including the
customer service centres, maintenance, greening and
hygiene.
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2017 Performance Target
“E-tFEEFREBER

Owner/customer satisfaction score of no less than 90 out of 100
¥F /BPFEAREMEE TEROD

B ag ER®RE

Achievement

B3R

Overall score: 95
BETFD 9By
Management service: 96
EER 960
Environmental management: 94
RIFER 945

Safety management: 96
ZEEER 965D
Customer service: 96
BEPIR® 967
Engineering service: 96
TR : 967

100% complaint response rate v Achieved
100%1% & B 78 =X vOERK
100% satisfaction in supplier evaluation v Achieved
#7551 B & 1% £100% vOER

Zero major accidents throughout the year v Achieved
PEEEEREEEREL vOERK

100% coverage of quality assurance inspections v Completed
HEITI00% 2 BERERDE v B2 e
Review of customer privacy protection procedure v Completed
BAHREEFLERF v B2 e

At least three times of security patrols a day, security staff on duty | v Completed
on 24/7 basis

BEEIIRRRUE  REFBH24/E - BATR T = v 2 EK
Daily fire patrol and monthly inspection of fire facilities v Completed
BERSETHAKE BARENH AR v 2K
Review of contingency plan v Completed
A EEESRE v EEK
Purchase of public liability insurance for every project v Purchased
REEAYMEERBEBEAREELTRR vEBE
On-site assessment to all new suppliers and at least 10% existing | v Completed
suppliers

ETMBHNHER UARBRZIDRI0%NRBHER v EEK
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B e MEARE

Communication with customer

We are in pursuit of excellence to provide our customers
with high-quality property management services.
Therefore, we attach great importance to the views of our
customers. Our housekeepers will conduct inspections
every day and soothe customers’ pain.

In addition to daily patrol, we also set up a 24-hour
customer service hotline, through which our customers
may put forward repair and service requests, feedbacks
and complaints anytime and anywhere. Our housekeepers
will diligently and sincerely handle such feedbacks
or complaints in a timely manner. In general, verbal
feedbacks or complaints will be replied within one working
day, while written feedbacks or complaints will be replied
within three working days.

EFEE

B TEEREY EIREFPRHED
MEBERS B RAFEETEREFF
MER FTREXRSBRGEHEERIE
THE  REPHHEE -

BT BBKE  BMTEIL24NEFREP R
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HRENBEHRE R RBREEREHFE -
ERERSUAL EHMEE  KEE
BERAEF -BMRAT REBELOBEER
HEWF— R TIEBBAE—EIIER MEE
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Receive opinion/ Register Assign
complaint —> opinion/complaint handling staff
BEWE R/ ZBIRHF BB R/REF ZIkAE
Communicate with Handle Update
customer —Pp Complaint record
BEFER Ba IR BEAC SR
Re-visit Resolve
customer —Pp complaint/issue
BHER TR TE K

In order to improve the service quality and strengthen the
communication with customers, we set up Customer Re-
visit System (K% P B & &l E)), in which our customer
service specialists will give a call to revisit the customers
upon completion of maintenance or complaint handling
to confirm if they are satisfied with our solutions. Our
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housekeepers will also visit our customers frequently to
listen to their voice. Moreover, we will conduct customer
satisfaction survey every year to collect and analyze
customer feedbacks, thus enabling us to make continuous
improvements and “create high-quality products and
provide prominent services” for our customers.

Aocean Life (2 4 5%)

In order to provide more efficient and thoughtful service,
we launched a new mobile application — “Aocean Life”
during the Reporting Period. With Aocean Life, residents
can receive our latest information anytime and anywhere,
directly contact our customer service staff as well as
upload and manage maintenance request without the need
of showing up in person. We are constantly improving the
functions of Aocean Life with an aim of providing more
convenient services in the future.
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Aocean Housekeeper
HRER

More direct communications

BREEE

Users may directly communicate with
their designated Housekeeper for any
enquiries or concerns anytime and
anywhere. Customers may also make
evaluations and raise suggestions to
help us make continuous improvements.
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Aocean Repair
RIRIE

More efficient repair

MEEIRE

Users may make an appointment for
maintenance and repair by submitting
their request and uploading relevant
photos  online. Information  on
maintenance personnel, maintenance
progress and receipts can be easily
obtained via your mobile phone.
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EREAMAEB02[ZA-202
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Aocean Payment
BREE
More convenient payment
SNEE
202

Users may check and pay for

management and maintenance fees

with ease.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety of residents has always been our
major concern. We have formulated a series of safety
management policies, together with adequate safety
training for our staff to prevent and manage safety risks
and raise the awareness among our staff and residents
in safety issues. We have also formulated a series of
emergency plans and conduct regular safety drills,
such that our staff are able to respond to all kinds of
emergencies (fire accidents, flooding, power failure
and traffic accidents, etc.) property and efficiently, thus
safeguarding life and property of our residents and the
public.

Environment and Drinking Water Sanitation

Environment and drinking water sanitation are vital to the
health of our residents. As a result, our environmental
specialists and property management staff are striving
their best to maintain a good hygienic condition at all
times. In case the condition is unsatisfactory, corrections
will be made at once. With respect to the safety of
drinking water, we engage laboratory professionals to
perform annual testing in accordance with the “Standards
for Drinking Water Quality”. The test inspects 22 items
including water’s color, turbidity, taste and smell,
visible substance, pH value, hardness, volatile phenolic
compounds, sulphate, chlorides, nitrate nitrogen, ammonia
nitrogen, nitrite nitrogen, iron, manganese, copper, lead,
oxygen consumption, free residual chlorine, total coliform,
thermoduric coliform, escherichia coli, aerobic plate
count, etc. During the year, all projects have satisfied the
requirements.

38 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

EmaRZR
EPHNREERZE2—BERRMEERERE
REBEFOETEZEERR - RMBIET
—RINLEEEHE LHBAXRRHNRE
Bl MBI EESFABR - £ TEFER
REEZZRAR REEIREFPLEE
BoREFHBRRA - RMATGET —
RiESTAR  THRETEBIK  EE
TEEEREEBRESMH(NE KR 7
B RBNE)  BRRE ZEMERE -
REEFPUARABNEGHEL R -

BRRERKAKEGE

REMKAKFLEHEFREERAEE -
HMEHEEMRREEANEREZHAER
IREENRREELE  RMAOWEEEA
EERAHEETZARAKE WBRMBEAE
MEEGRERT  —BEERRBEZRD
B EBBFLBERZE -RKAKLES
e RMEFOeZEEERAKE &
RECEERAKBEERE)RRMAME
HEMEERANKETRE  BREEE -
BEE  RMIK - AERAEY - pHE - &
BE - ERDE WEE fiY  WHEKESE
A -RAA - PHEES - H - F W i
MEAE  BESRE  BABEE  MHAKXB
HE - RBERHRE - BEEARF2ER
RKEEERRAER - AFEMAEE
BRAMARBIEE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Fire Safety

We conduct fire drill on a regular basis and implant the
idea of “safety first” into our employees, residents and
visitors. We also conduct daily fire patrol and inspect the
fire equipment monthly. Once a safety risk is identified,
remedial actions must be taken immediately. Workers
involved in activities that require the use of flames must
hold valid license and obtain our approval in advance. Our
customer service and security team will visit the site from
time to time to ensure safety.
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Snow Cleaning and Removal

In winter, snow may not only bring inconvenience to
pedestrian, but also bring potential safety hazards. In
order to ensure safety and convenience of our residents,
we have formulated snow removal plans and prepared
snow removal and antiskid tools. When there is a snowfall,
our staff will always be ready for snow cleaning, snow
removal and skid prevention, thus minimizing potential
safety hazards in the community.

RERE
LFERBLNBESR THEEBBEEITAT
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Flood Prevention

In order to prevent water logging caused by heavy rains
in the rainy season, which may harm the equipment and
public safety, we arrange staff to inspect drainage system
in advance to ensure that channels are unblocked. We will
also conduct flood prevention exercises on a regular basis
to let our staff be trained to handle emergencies in case of
accidents or disasters.
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Privacy Protection

We are committed to protecting the safety of customers’
personal information. We abide by all laws and regulations
with respect to privacy protection. We formulated privacy
protection guidelines to instruct our employees to properly
handle any personal information and provide frequent
trainings to our staff to increase their awareness in
privacy protection. During the Reporting Period, there
were no cases regarding breach of privacy or leakage of
customers’ data, and no complaints regarding that the
Group was verified to fail to safeguard customer privacy or
lose customers’ data were received from any outsiders or
regulators.

EMPLOYEES

Property managers shall constantly adapt to and keep
pace with the improving, intelligent and technology-based
society, in which perspectiveness, professionalism and
flexibility are essential. Responding to the development
of intelligent property management, GR Properties leads
our employees to acquire more relevant professional
knowledge and skills. By providing comprehensive career
development opportunities, we cultivate our employees to
become all-rounded talents, develop their potentials, in
order to lay the foundation of our future success.
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Employment Data

SEREEENBESIER

Total workforce by gender

Total workforce by category

EMERIED B T AR RHAE D BT AR
18A
254 A 40/\—\ 312A
116 A—\
B Male B M Ordinary and technical personnel —#& & H it A &
Female %2 Middle management # 4% &2 /8

I Senior management &4 S &
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Total workforce by age

Employee turnover rate by age

BREESTHFIRD M BTRERERNFR DM
Below age 20 Below age 20 - | 250
2085 1A 0BT 250%
Age 2150 Age 2150 :
308 101A 1302 9%
Age ST I Age 31-40 9
4085 1514 A0S I 49%
Age 41-50 I Age 41-50 o
41-50% B 41-505% R
Age 51-60 Age 51-60 0
1o N 26 A c1go MH31%
Above age 60 Above age 60 P 1500
soms £ 2N 6085 F I
Employee turnover rate by gender
RIERIEID B TR E
42.9%
8m%—1\
B Male 5
Female %Z
Child and forced labour prevention BErFETIRBHEBHHE

It is clearly forbidden by GR Properties to use child
and forced labour. With the same token, we also never
consider any suppliers using child and forced labour.
HR Department will check the identity card of newly
recruited employees to ensure that they reach the legal
age of employment. In case of any child and forced
labour discovered, we will take immediate actions to
protect the victims, and inform relevant social welfare
institutions to provide the victims will appropriate
assistance.

B EREELETRANEE - [
i RAT A EREBET KRS
BOHERETREIERERSE - 5
ETABE ANERISEEERESR
IHhE BEEFRNTASIEER-
—HEREBTRABWESBOERN - BMA
VEGIBIREITE - REE T IR Hl
EEHXEA - LBANEBRLSRENK
B UBRIXEADNGSEENHE -
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Cultivation of Talents

Continuous learning is important in a rapidly changing
environment. We provide abundant training opportunities
to our employees so that they can acquire relevant
skills and keep up-to-date in order to provide high
quality services to our residents. We offer different
types of training programs to accommodate different
needs of employees, including orientation training,
financial/customer service/security/engineering skill
training, emergency and fire safety training, equipment
maintenance training, regulatory and compliance training,
leadership and management skills training as well as team
building activities. During the Reporting Period, we have
provided more than 9,000 hours of training.

Team Building Activities

The key to our provision of high-quality service lies on
our strong cohesiveness and team spirit, which can
be enhanced by team-building activities organised in
a regular basis. In 2017, we organized team building
activities for a total of three hundred participants in various
forms, such as games, outward bound and bonfire parties.
Such activities receive a great success, enabling all team
members to strengthen their team spirit and bonding.

B g NEIamE

BEEAT

EREBZENERET  HESBIFTEER -
BARAREERFBIET - X TEIFRE
PIESHRBARE  BERMEMRER

ER  REPRMHEENRYE - RAR/T
RENNETESERHTRAMEZIEE -
BEAREI BB ER LR TIEME
Il - RESHRBEH L 2REEFI
FRR ﬁ%ﬁﬁw YEEREI - BEN
HEEENEI  ZOBEBRERBIF -

A 3R 4 HR W P9 28 Pt 48 H B 3R 9,000/ By
B e

BB EZREE
HARHEERENERER &M@ TIEE
BEEZBRBNRZENNBEE  BHZ
RAEER MEKEREDHEPDEEM
P9 B B AE A o B AP 2 B AR O B B AR
g - NWEWWIL%E%%EZE%E
T28 - ZMNEFEREHTAZE
BEEER - SMNRII %A%Eﬁé@
EEEBKNESBELRSE  EHEE

REBKFES BEHLETHEEEAR
MRS IBE RPN EEMERZ -
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Fairness and Diversification

What most healthy and mature teams have in common is
proper gender balance and age composition. We believe
that a diversified workforce may boost our innovations, so
as to have a better understanding of customer needs and
enhance our competitiveness. We uphold the principles
of equal opportunity and anti-discrimination through
transparent and interactive communication channels.
In the recruitment process, abilities, qualifications and
affinity are our major concerns while other factors such
as age, gender, race and nationality will not be assessed.
Employees can provide feedback or lodge complaint to
the management regarding injustice or unfair treatment
(including their appraisal result or evaluation of their
work). We do not tolerate any types of harassment
or discrimination in our workplace. Employees are
encouraged to report to the headquarter via our complaint
hotline, and we will appoint functional departments to look
into the case. During the Reporting Period, we did not
receive any complaints about discrimination or workplace
harassment.

Employee Protection

We strictly comply with the Labour Contract Law ({% T
& [E%)) and all applicable local employment laws and
regulations. We have executed a labour contract with
all serving employees, and paid “social insurance and
housing provident fund” (including endowment insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury
insurance, maternity insurance and housing provident
fund) for them. We provide an array of benefits to our
employees, such as dormitory, entertainment facilities, TV
and computer, and leaves such as marriage leave, funeral
leave, maternity leave and breast-feeding breaks. We also
provide meal allowance, canteen and holiday welfare.
We hold various activities such as birthday parties, sport
clubs and outdoor activities on a regular basis so that our
employees can achieve work-life balance.

We provide different awards to commend outstanding
employees, such as Best Work Award (& & I {E %), Best
Management Award (& £ & 12 #£) and Special Contribution
Award (4 % B Bt 28). We also reward employees who
raise good suggestions with bonus, prizes, vacations or
promotion opportunities.
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Attention to Communication

We attach importance to the opinions of our employees,
and enable our staff and management to communicate
mutually through diversified communication channels,
such as regular meetings, symposiums, half-year and
annual meetings, internal systems, as well as bulletin
boards. We listen to their views with sincere and earnest
attitude and take positive actions to promote mutual
improvement for the Group and its employees.

Occupational Health and Safety

Employees are our core members, and thus we see
their health and safety the foremost. We have obtained
OHSAS18001 Certificate, and made continuous
improvement in workplace health and safety to prevent
work injuries.

In order to create a working environment with “zero”
work-related injury, we need to constantly strengthen the
OHS awareness and knowledge among our employees.
We have formulated the Quality, Environment and OHS
Management Manual KE £ - BB EBREL2E R F
ff)). Our employees are required to execute Employee
Safety Production Liability Statement ((E TZ 24 E &
f£2£)), in which they are committed to complying with all
safety requirements. We often organize production safety
education and training, and promote safety awareness.
Through routine safety inspections, we ensure safety
measures are in place, protective equipment is used
correctly and safety procedures are implemented. Each of
our projects has appointed a safety officer and the head of
engineering department to be responsible for the safety of
our frontline workers. On-site workers are required to wear
safety reflective jacket. We also provide equipment to staff
to prevent cold or heat stroke for outdoor work.

B e NEAmE

ERERE
BRMEREIRENER UZTbrE
AREE EEIMTEBLMARR  BIEH
g HEWMSE  FFRFRKRE  ABR
S URAERE - HMURE - HEBNAE
EERMMHER  WRDBEHMNITE -
BEIMEBEHRRES -

BEREHZZ
FE—UEBEIHZEEMIZLKNE BT
MERELZ2—UBEZE - HME W
BOHSAS1800 1l X REL 2 BB ZR
FCOEIESHAMNEEMEZ 25 M TER
HE T AHFETIRARESE -

ZAGEIZTIIBNIFERE  RAFEL
EMme 8 THRXERELE2EHEM
HABIECEE REKBELZE2EET
fi)y BRkETIRB(EIRE2LEERE
B AHREBRIRE2ER  AMAKLER
TREEERBENEIN ETRE2LEET
B EBTKESEA  BREZZFRER
CHEEFLE R2REALERR -
RERFERENT HMASEHBEBEAR
BEZ2RBBEAN ITRFEHFUAEEET
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/
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We attach great importance to the principle of “safety
first”. Tasks which have high risk or require professional
skills (such as tasks related to high-voltage electricity)
are outsourced to professional and competent service
providers. In order to reduce the risk of accidents, we
also formulate emergency plans, conduct annual fire drills
and inspections for protective measures and relevant
equipment, and make daily security patrols.

Promoting a green workplace, we provide green plants
as far as possible in our office to create a comfortable

working environment for our employees.

Work-related injury and fatalities

BMEAlZ2E ] Z2RABRMERMKE
EREENIFEWPINESEENEHT
) BRI HZNEE  FERNIER
BETT - RPN ET RSBE  £1TF
BEAORE sl e e R B REETT
Fir UBAETZE2NE  RESFHH
EH R o

BPETHETER RURENRAEHE
ETRt REIRR —EFEEENT
EIREE -

TEEHRHR

2017
2017 &

Number of work-related fatalities Nil
EIEREMIE T A OA
Rate of work-related fatalities 0.0%
HI(EREME T X 0.0%
Lost days due to work injury (excluding leave due to trivial iliness) 0 day
AIGHEARIERE(TEREIFEIEGZ —KRER) FS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental protection is not just to create an
environment-friendly product or slogan, but to integrate
sustainable development into everything we do. We have
obtained ISO 14001: 2015 Environment Management
Certificate and I1SO 9001: 2015 Quality Management
Certificate, and formulated the Quality, Environment and
OHS Management Manual to actively reduce our impact
on the environment, especially in terms of energy saving
and waste reduction. In the meanwhile, we popularize our
skills and knowledge as well as environmental awareness
to our employees, suppliers and customers, and promote
green life, such that we can contribute to environmental
and resource sustainability.
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We protect the environment mainly through three HPIRGEER SHEXENRRE#=
categories: green management, green equipment and K#EBEETHRMAORBRE LIE
environmental awareness:

Category Environmental Protection Tasks
il REREIHE

Green management e Establish plans for energy and water saving every year
meen e BFHITRRENALE KT R

e QOrganize monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to
discuss and analyze the energy consumption data, completion of
indicators, and the remaining energy consumption quota

e HEBBARREINMEZE HH FTAZXHEBENRFERE  EETHK
BR - RRERNBREE  ETHTA®H

e (Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce
carbon emissions caused by transportation

e HEHEAMMBEEAE ML ERBIZM TSRO

e Control air conditioning temperature to maintain the temperature
in office and public area at 26°C in summer and 22°C in winter

o EHIZFRAE BPLAENMAAEHNZEZFHREAEFTN - EXR26
g - & R22/E

e Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and

water wastage
e THIREXZBRE BREERE RLEBEMREKE

Green equipment e |nstall voice or infrared sensor to control regional lighting
RERE e ZERBEFJUINGRERG HEHIRHELHE

e Replace ordinary lamps in each garage with LED lamps

e ULEDEEEBERBZHEEEEAEBREE

e Adjust time switch in a timely manner by sunlight for lights and
roof advertisement words

e EREAYHERERE BEESFREARBVLEFABRKZEHNA

e Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far
as possible

o FUAERBER _MEENALHRELRE

e Replace boiler burners to increase efficiency and reduce
emission

o EIAIMIEMGESS - 1005 E A R AL KR R HE

e Use central control system for energy management, and adjust
such system seasonally to save energy

e BBETREGERERRNER EaFTHETAE  UEHERR

e Adopt rainwater recycling system for irrigation

o EIBFIK B FR G B W R K HEFTE M

e Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save
energy

o FEREAEXKHERS BHOER
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Category Environmental Protection Tasks
Eil REREIHE

Environmental awareness e Provide environmental protection training for employees to

RREH improve their attention to environmental protection issues, and
require them to apply energy saving measures into their daily
work, including considering the necessity of energy dissipation
and water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when
leaving, focusing on water and electricity waste caused by
equipment damage, and arranging maintenance in case of any
damage

e REIRMURRBUAEBI RAURERESTENHEIT  EXKE
THEEERBRABETILEED  BREEERERKNLEN -
BEFEE  THEK ISREARBEREZEMREKENER -
KB 3R AE o

e |Install sub-meter and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to
encourage water and electricity savings

e BRREKENEK REIANSEEFNINRA  BEEFPHL

e Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to

encourage better behaviours
e TERREH  REMES  HBRBITREE

Complying with Environmental Laws and REREKRGBREM

Regulations

We strictly comply with all applicable environmental 188 8 7 & & 18 P £ 10 B9 3R 3 R o 1%
laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas ¥l BEEEREEEREHFN - AKEL
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation 85 - BEENEEREZVNELEFHED
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. We continuously & - RFIHEHEMBE R T - XBEE
educate our staff to ensure they strictly follow all relevant @2 TS EREMBRERZAN - TG
laws and regulations and avoid damaging the natural EEBIZAARE - EATHERLT @ &
environment. We try our best to meet or exceed regulatory FIE N EZ L ABARBERKERNRRE
requirements in order to minimize our impact on the MIEERE  BWIBMEBAREERKEE -
environment. During the Reporting Period, we did not RARHEHE - HAIL LA W2 L 7] F
receive any complaint or charge in relation to violation of & RIRRIGHINRFHZES -
environmental laws and regulations.
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Emissions

Our main emissions are living garbage, indirect emissions
of greenhouse gas from electricity, exhaust gas from
mobile vehicles, emissions of greenhouse gas from using
air conditioning, and exhaust gas from heat supply to
residents.

Emission Category
BE B Bl

Non-hazardous waste (public area)

BEBERN(QAES)

B wg ERRE

BB
BPNEZERDEREEENR EAE
NEEERELNRERE  TEHFHAE

ROZHEENBERBHER  URA/E
FHEBRERARMELENER -

Emission

e

Total output 1,883.70 tonnes
mELS 1,883.70 2 g
Paper 2.70 tonnes
i 2. 702 Mg
Living garbage 1,881 tonnes
A E Bk 1,881/ M

Intensity of non-hazardous waste
(average by number of household)

BEBREWERE(EFPHTFY)

230.56 kg/household

23056 2T/ BF

Intensity of non-hazardous waste
(average by total chargeable area)

BEERVER(BYEXEBEREBEEEFH)

1.55 kg/m?

1,555 FF /G F 75 %

Total waste disposed to landfill

ZERYRERERAE

1,883.70 tonnes
1,883.70/A A

Note: The Group does not generate a significant amount of
hazardous waste.

We promote the idea of waste reduction at source to our
residents, and encourage them to use reusable bags
instead of plastic bags, to reuse and recycle wastes, to
donate unnecessary materials, and to use environmentally-
friendly products. We take the lead to reduce paper
consumption and landfill load by promoting paperless
office and using electronic channels, such as E-mail and
internal communication system.

i REUBEANEZTEREVEL -

BPPEFPEMFRERE  SBEFER
FERBER ERRERR  BERERLEYE
WnkE BIAITENYRIBREMAMIER

EOEBERRRMNERS - BZPASER
HITHAEERL FENBETFRE
MEBLAMRSBR BB FEREM
HHENBR -
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Emission Category Emission
BE Bk 2 Bl BB
Exhaust gas

BER

NOx 246.53 kg
REALP(NOX) 246.53RQ fr
SOx 56.15 kg
B &t ¥(SOx) 56.15 2 fT
PM 95.63 kg
&% BBRL(PM) 95.63 1 T
Greenhouse gas (“GHG”)

BERE

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1&2)
REREBAENE (BE1RHE?2)

15,841.27 tonnes COqe
15,841 27 A —ELIRE =

GHG emissions (Scope 1)
BERBHRE (BE1)

8,097.98 tonnes CO2e
8,097 98 A ME —E LIk E 2

GHG emissions (Scope 2)
BERBHRE (HE2)

7,743.29 tonnes CO2e
774329 M —E LR E 2

BRERBHERTE(EF&HFH)

Intensity of GHG emissions (average by number of household)

1,938.96 kg CO2e/household

1,938.96 2 fr — &bk
28/ ®F

RERBHRTE(BYMEERREEETY)

Intensity of GHG emissions (average by total chargeable area)

13.05 kg CO2e/m?
13.05A fr — &b iz
BEE/BFHTK

During the reporting period, we conducted comprehensive
inspection and maintenance, and upgraded 8 boilers in
North Garden to ensure their smooth operation. After the
technological improvement of low-nitrogen combustion,
NOx emission is reduced by at least 30mg/Nm3 with the
combustion efficiency not lower than the original one.
We also changed the burner control system, in which
the intelligent electronic proportional control made the
combustion curve more delicate, and air and fuels are
mixed more effectively. It is in such way that the boiler is
more energy-saving, and NOx emission is reduced by at
least 30mg/Nmsa.
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Management of Resources

We consume energy sources mainly to provide lighting,
heat supply, elevators and escalators to our customers.
We tried our best to adopt latest technology and
equipment to optimise the use of energy and resources.
We also require our project managers to submit energy
saving plans each year to reduce energy wastage as far
as possible.

Resource Category

&R E 5

Energy consumption
BE 5 UH 3%
Total energy consumption

BREREE

B wg ERRE

BEREE
BPOEENEREIERLBERE - H8E U
LEB - KFEBEFE BRMEEAUKER
BHAMEMMEEEEHENSORERR -
KPP ERSEBEELLCETFIRIENGE
FE BRAAEREERRE -

Discharge

HHE

49,254,066.06 kWh
49,254,066.06 F FL B

Energy consumption for purchased electricity

SMNEENREIREE

8,756,409.62 kWh
8,756,409.62F I &

Energy consumption for non-renewable fuels

FBEMBRERREE

40,497,656.44 kWh
40,497,656.44 F F K

Energy intensity (average by number of household)

BERTE(EFPEFH)

6,028.65 kWh/household
6,028.65T ELE /& F

Energy intensity (average by total chargeable area)

ERZE(BYMEERREMETFY)

40.57 kWh/m2
4057 F L& BF 5K

During the Reporting Period, we installed over 2,800 LED
lamps in the common area, stairs, garages and basements
for each project. The power of lamps in the original lighting
system was about 37W on average, while the power of
newly-installed LED lamps was about 13W on average, so
the electricity we saved was approximately 420,000 kWh.
LED lamps have a longer lifespan than fluorescent lamps.
After the replacement, energy consumption has reduced,
lowering the workload of engineering staff responsible for
maintenance and reducing waste due to replacement.

RFERE  RMASEBEEHN A KME -
ST BEEMMESMNEER T2800%
YILEDEE - RENBRPERZFETBFEAEE
BIIh R4 49 /837W - RFIRIBERAAG B
MNEE  FILTEMNLEDEERARGHNINER
FHHB13W - BEPIETE T 49420,000F
FEMNEN - LEDEBEE RS0 IERE L E
ER THTEEKREELEFEINITARE
BETRAEBNGEETIEE  UREAER
MEAREEY -
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Management of Water Resources

With respect to water usage, we collect rainwater for
irrigation through rainwater recycling system, install
automatic faucet in public washroom, adjust the amount of
flushing water, and use non-negative pressure fresh water
supply system to reduce water consumption.

Resource Category

KERERE

R A RAKTE - B EERKE KRR
[RFRKETER EARFLERAETFA
FHABMEKER BN KEAEE
BERE UREREABRKHERGS
E iR D KB IRERE

Discharge

BIRER HHE

Water usage

i

Water consumption 243,559.81 m3

FEkE 243,559.8137 7 K
Water consumption intensity (average by number of household) 29.81 md/household
BARKEBEEERPHEFH) 2981 FK /B
Water consumption intensity (average by total chargeable area) 0.20 m3/m?

MARKEE(EYEEERERETH)

0.20x2 753K /& F 75K

SUPPLY CHAIN

We spare no effort to provide our customers with the best
quality service, and to promote sustainable development.
In addition to our strict management, we also expect that
our suppliers and business partners can be aligned with
us to provide high-quality products and services, operate
by undertaking responsibility to society and environment,
and comply with all applicable laws and regulations.

We have formulated Procurement Management Rules
((ERBE B 12 R 7E)) to regulate our suppliers. In the selection
of new suppliers, we score and make on-site inspection on
suppliers to select the most suitable ones to be recorded
in our Qualified Supplier List ((AEHEF ZEE)). We also
review all suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the stability
of the quality of their services and products, and that they
are upholding good business ethics and integrity. We will
review such suppliers from the perspective of product
quality, environmental protection, occupational health and
safety, and service quality.
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Suppliers are required to execute the Integrity Commitment
(CEEH#FEE)), to promise that they attach great importance
to integrity and do not tolerate corruption, bribery or other
illegal acts. In the Integrity Commitment, suppliers are
required to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in
their operations. We also encourage suppliers to operate in
a more environmentally-friendly manner using raw materials
that pose fewer impacts on the environment. In the process
of procurement review, suppliers who adopt green products
will receive a higher score. Whether suppliers treat their
employees well and whether they actively participate in
community activities are also our considerations in the review
of suppliers’ quality.

Procurement
Guidelines
FAEE S|
Green
Procurement
KB
Supply Chain
Management
HEEE IR
Integrity
Commitment
BREF A
Qualified
Supplier List
B8 Bk

B ag LER®RE

e

HERZZET(RBARSE)  mibfis
HABHREENER  BITAFLRE
5 BEREEATA  BRMOMAEREELE
EmREHRBABIEFRTIETR - M
NeBHEEARRERROT A - LMER
REORBETEE - HFETREFENER
Bh BMAYRKAGEEMNOMHER -
ETUEENTD BRMAEFEHRERE
Bl HERESAERET HEEH2HEHM
BEZEHTBEARMEENARZ — -

A

Supplier
Evaluation

HERTE

v

On-site
Inspection
BISER

A
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ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

We always abide by all applicable laws and regulations
with a high degree of integrity and morality. All of our
employees, customers, suppliers and other business
partners should strictly comply with all applicable laws
and regulations and put an end to all embezzlement,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering behaviours.
During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any
complaint or charge against us or our employee in
corruption.

Employees are required to maintain a good business ethics and
integrity. It is clearly outlined in our Employee Handbook (&
T F 1)) with respect to the moral regulations for employee
behaviours, in which employees are forbidden to ask for or
accept any interests from any business-related units, and where
appropriate, our employees are required to report their interest
conflict to the Group. In addition, we often provide relevant
training to enhance employees’ awareness in integrity and
morality.

We have a report mechanism, through which our
employees may report directly to our Audit Committee
any suspected misconduct, bribery, corruption or fraud.
Once the case is confirmed, we will take appropriate and
timely action, and inform relevant regulators to solve it
impartially.

For further information about our corporate governance,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

We are a member of the community with close
interactions with the community as part of our work. We
educate our staff to provide support to our community
and neighbourhoods as far as possible. We focus our
contribution into 3 main areas: health, charitable activities
and environmental protection education.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR 1o kEamsE

ESG GUIDE INDEX TABLE {ESG#5|)%& 5|
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter
TEHE EEH - REBERBEERER =]

A. Environmental

A BB

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: S
General Information on: Emissions 46-50
Disclosure |(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

—REE FRERRAERBHEN mMAKRTH&BEES - B HERY 46-50
EREEFEENNELSH
(a) BUK + &
L) BFHBETABEARZENHBZEZRRAINE
e
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions |Emissions 49-50
data.
BB | HERUYRE SR AR BB - 213,87 49-50
FEIRATA
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. |Emissions 50
BREN |RERBAFNELTE - BB 50
EIEAL2
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. We do not generate a N/A

significant amount of
hazardous waste

BMBER |MEEREEEVRERTE - REBEVWEREREEEE | TEA

E1EA13 WE %

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and Emissions 49
intensity.

BREN |MELAEBZTEEVEENRETE - HERY 49

FEIRA1.4

KPI' A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and | Emissions 49-50
results achieved.

BREN |(HOAREFRENERRAEKR - BB 49-50

E1EA15

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous |Emissions 49-50

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.

BHREN |(HAREEEREZTEEVNAFZE REEEEN|HERY 49-50
E1EA1.6 HHE R FTISRR o
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B tgkERwE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter

TEHR BEH —KRREXBEARER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
[EEA2 - EIR{E A

B

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including | Management of 51-52
Disclosure |energy, water and other raw materials. Resources
Note: Resources may be used in production, storage, | Management of Water
transportation, buildings, electronic equipment, Resources
etc.
—REE  ARERER(BIERR  KREMEME)MBER o [RERE R 51-52
FOBRAAREE HF EH BT BTRES - KB EEE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type | Management of 51
in total and intensity. Resources
BMEEN |(RELVESHWEER SEEEREARELRER o |ERER 51
FEIRA2.1
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Management of Water 52
Resources
BHREN |[RREKERFE - KERE R 52
FEIEA2.2
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and | Management of 51
results achieved. Resources
BN (e RERAMETERAEAR - LR E IR 51
#E1RA2.3
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Management of Water 52
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Resources
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
MEEN | RIASKEERKR LA B EAERE  ARREARK| KERER 52
B1EA24 | REFTEIRFAER -
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished We do not produce N/A
products and with reference to per unit produced. |products
BRENR |EEmMAEEMHNEERGEERMGEE - |TEA BMEEGHEE | TER
E1EA2.5 o
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3: RERRKAEIR
General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant Environmental protection | 46-48
Disclosure |impact on the environment and natural resources.
—REE | REBETAHREIRAERENEAZENER - | RERE 46-48
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities |Environmental protection |46-48
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
BMRENR |MAEXBEHHRERRAERNEAZERER | RIFRE 46-48
BIFEA3Y  |BREEBBEHEEENTE -
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B -2k

/\—/\—\\ =
BAWmE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter
TEHE EEH - REERBERBENER =40
B. Social
B.#t&
Employment and Labour Practices
EERBIER
Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1: EE
General Information on: Employees 41-46
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, leaves,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
—REE AFRFMRBE BEREA ITERS R (BT 41-46
TE#E  Zb RERUREMESREFNE
(a) R + &
L) BETFHETABERTZENHBEZRZRAINE
e
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age |Employees 41-42
group and geographical region.
BsEN  |(EMR EEEE  FRAEANRMEISMEESR BT 41-42
BEB11 &
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employees 42
geographical region.
BsEN (RN FRANEMEESNEERALEET . B 42
E1EB1.2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
HEB2: @EEET S

General Information on: Occupational Health and | 45-46
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
—RERE AERUHLZ2IGRBEAREEEHECBENCE | BERRRLSE 45-46
Hy -
(a) LR + &
L) EFHETABERTZENHBBEZEZRAINE
£ o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Occupational Health and | 46
Safety
BREM |(AIEFBERMmMIETH ABKLLLE - BEXREEZE 46
E1EB2.1
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter
TEER - EH —REBERBEERER =41
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and | 46
Safety
BB AE THEBAIIEAE - BERELZR 46
#E1EB2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Occupational Health and | 45-46
measures adopted, and how they are implemented | Safety
and monitored.
BRAER |HAMEKANBEREEL2ER UREENT BERRERZS 45-46
EEB23 | REEGE -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EMEB3 : #R&E &FI
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and | Cultivation of Talents 43
Disclosure |skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of Description of training activities. Description of
training activities.
—REE AHERAREBTIEBRENTHRRRENRE - | BBATL 43
HIFIES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Not disclose this year 43
and employee category.
BARER |(RUEIREEEAESNZIEBEEBSL - REEETREABER| 43
FE1%B3.1
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Not disclose this year N/A
employee by gender and employee category.
BREN |(RUMNKEERFE Y SREETKXINTYE | AFEEIKEFBEEN | TER
E1EB3.2  |EEH o
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
EHB4: & T#A
General Information on: Child and forced labour |42
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and prevention
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RBE | BEBLEINRHSTY #E T R S BEE | 42
(a) LR+ &
L) BEFHBETABERZENHBZEZRRAINE
£ o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Child and forced labour |42
practices to avoid child and forced labour. prevention
BHEN (AR EREMNNEENERETIREH ST o | FET REHBBBER | 42
$E1%B4 A
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Child and forced labour |42
practices when discovered. prevention
BAREN |HAEERRRRABASERERELMERNLRE - | ZRIEETREHISBHE|42
FE1EB4.2
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEEHRE - EE
Operating Practices

—REBRBAREARER

RIR -1t ke

Chapter
4]

/\—/\—\

/D#&D

LEED
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
EEBS : H{EEE
General Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain 52-53
Disclosure |risks of the supply chain.
—REE EEHEENRSELILGEAREIE e 3 52-53
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Over 90% of our N/A
suppliers are local
suppliers
BREN |RwEIHSNHEREE - B HEEEBIR00% A | 1T i B
#E1%EB5.1 A3 A e
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain 52-53
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
BREN |(HMOABRERHERNED mERTEEENN | HERE 52-53
#E1EBs.2  |HMERMEE UREBEEBOHNRITRERFE -
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EHB6: EmEE
General Information on: Service Quality 31-41
Disclosure |[(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
—REE FRAMREHESARBENEREZE? EES S8 RBES 31-41
RALBEEARBER T EN
(a) X + &
L) EFHETABERTZENHBZRZRANNE
£ o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped We do not produce N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. products
BREN |EDEACEXERBHTALZERRIEAMAR | NER  BMIAHEE|TEMD
#E1EB6.1  |WHBE DL ° !
KPI B6.2 Number of products and services related Communication with 34-35
complaints received and how they are dealt with. |customer (partial
disclosure)
AREN |BEEREGRRBNRFBEEUREESE . |EPERHIRR) 34-35
5 1%B6.2
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter
TEER - EH —REBERBEERER 4]
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | Our business does N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. not invoice intellectual
property rights
BREN |(HOoEAERRENBEESANED - T#A - KPEBREY | T BB
$E1%B6.3 N 50 8 E R
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and We do not produce N/A
product recall procedures. products
BAREN |(HOEERTBERERLBKER TER  HREHEE | TER
15 1EB6.4 ah
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Privacy Protection 41
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
BRENR | EBEENRERLBBOR - A RMEEHANITR|RERL 41
#E1EB6.5  |EERFIE -
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EMHEB7 : RES
General Information on: Ethics and Integrity 54
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
—REE  AADILEERE R HFREEER BRWE 54
(a) &k + &
L) BFHBITABERZENHBEZEZRAMNE
*
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Ethics and Integrity 54
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases.
BREN [RERBAEZETANEEERLETVEELANE G| BEHNE 54
#EEB7.1 |SFRARHNEE RFAER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Ethics and Integrity 54
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
BREN (RO SREREBERESF  UARBEENTRERS|BEHE 54
EIEB7.2 & -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter
TEHE EEH - REERBERENER =]
Community

P

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8: &K AE

General Policies on community engagement to understand | Community Investment |54
Disclosure |the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
—REE AFENHR2ERBEREEMEHLREFTENERE HERKRE 54
¥BEHEERMRAEMHEE -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community Investment |54
BARER |EIER#E - te®kE 54
5 1%B8.1
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Not disclose this year N/A
BREN |[EZITEBEMBAER - REREEIEBERABAEN | TEMA
5 1EB8.2
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 54, was appointed as an
executive director and the Chairman of the Company on
17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wei is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In
addition, he is also the President of GR Properties USA
Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC (each a US subsidiary
of the Company).

Mr. Wei graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t
T TIZER) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor
of Engineering degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei
obtained the senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei
has more than 10 years of management experience in the
real estate sector, and is currently a director of Beijing
Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (3t 52 B 8% % I A R &
A]) who is primarily responsible for its product planning
and market strategies. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei
did not hold in the past three years any directorship in
other public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Wei is a director and the beneficial owner of Wintime
Company Limited (“Wintime”), the controlling shareholder
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) of the Company. As at the date of this
report, Wintime held 929,661,315 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 60.10% interest in the issued
share capital of the Company. Wintime is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Winluck Global Limited. The entire issued
share capital of Winluck Global Limited is beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei. As such, Mr. Wei was deemed to be
interested in the said 929,661,315 shares in the Company
under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification
purpose only
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Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 51, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun has been involved in the real estate sector since
1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for
various formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun
is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company
Limited* (Jb 2 B 8% ¥ 18 B BR 2 7). Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Sun did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Sun is the beneficial owner of 96,110,510 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 5.28% interest in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Sun does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Liu Shuhua, aged 41, was appointed as an executive
director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
17 February 2014. Ms. Liu is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Liu graduated from the Central University of Finance
and Economics (4 & B 4% K 8) in 1998 and was conferred
a Bachelor of Economics degree in accountancy.
Thereafter, Ms. Liu obtained the intermediate accountant
qualification in 2004. Ms. Liu has been engaged in
financial field for more than 10 years, including financial
management work in real estate development enterprises.
She is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (It = B # ¥ Ix & R 2 7]). Save as
disclosed herein, Ms. Liu did not hold in the past three
years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. Liu does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification
purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, aged 47, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of each of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada
with a bachelor’'s honours degree in administrative
studies. Being an experienced Hong Kong certified
public accountant and a U.S. certified public accountant
(practising), he has gathered many years of experience in
the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung is the assistant
president and general manager of the finance department
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
392), an executive director, the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 371), an independent
non-executive director of South China Financial Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 619), as well as the company
secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247). Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Tung did not hold in the past
three years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Tung does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, aged 50, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 12 July 2017. He also acts as he chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Company’s audit committee and nomination committee.
Mr. Au Yeung holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) Degree
in Business Studies (Finance) from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a charter holder of the
CFA Institute, and a member of Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts.
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Mr. Au Yeung is currently a vice president of a private
property developer in Mainland China. Meanwhile, he
is also an independent non-executive director of China
LNG Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (HKEX stock code: 931).
He served as the vice president and the chief financial
officer of several property developers including South
China Holdings Company Limited (HKEX stock code:
413), Fosun International Limited (HKEX stock code:
656), Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited (HKEX stock code:
16) and Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited (HKEX
stock code: 1238), all of the companies are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Au Yeung has
been in charge of financial management for a number of
companies across different industries, including property
developers, financial institutions, conglomerates and
international audit firm totally more than 27 years of
experience. He was also an independent non-executive
director of Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited from 20
May 2016 to 26 September 2016 (HKEX stock code: 381).

Mr. Au Yeung did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Au Yeung does not have any relationship with
any other directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien, aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 14
February 2018. She also acts as a member of each of the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EFER

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing)
and Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years
of experience in finance and accounting field and over
20 years of management experience in information
technology audit, computer system, finance and
administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management
and consultancy services of accounting, audit, company
secretary and taxation for the subsidiaries of listed
companies from Europe, China, East Asia and Hong Kong.
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Ms. To did not hold in the past three years any directorship
in other public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. To does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring
high standards of corporate governance practice. The
Company stresses the importance of maintaining the
quality of the Board by ensuring that the directors possess
a wide range of expertise and the effective implementation
of an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company will seek to improve its management
and raise its control level to enhance the Company’s
competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns
for the shareholders.

A. BOARD
A.1. The Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximise
long-term shareholder’s benefit. It assumes
the responsibility for providing effective and
responsible leadership and control of the Company,
and directing and supervising the Company’s affairs
in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the
Chief Executive Officer the day-to-day leadership
and the management of the Group.
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A.2.

Board Composition

At present, the Board comprises three executive
directors and three independent non-executive
directors. The directors of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date
of this report were:-

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(appointed on 12 July 2017)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael
(resigned on 12 July 2017)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
(resigned on 14 February 2018)

On 12 July 2017, due to his own decision to devote
more time to his other business commitments,
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael tendered his written
resignation as an independent non-executive
director upon expiry of the director’s service
contract to the Board. He also resigned as a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Board and resigned
as chairman of the Remuneration Committee of
the Board. Mr. Au Yeung was appointed as an
independent non-executive director and a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee and chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Board on the even date.
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On 14 February 2018, due to his own decision
to devote more time to his other business
commitments, Mr. Chui Tsan Kit tendered his
written resignation as an independent non-
executive director upon expiry of the director’s
service contract to the Board. He also resigned as
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Board. Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Board on the even date.

The biographical details of the current directors are
set out on pages 62 to 66 of this annual report. The
Board possesses a balance of skills and experience
which are appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The opinions raised
by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company in the Board meetings facilitate
the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. All independent non-executive directors
have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules. A balanced composition of executive and
independent non-executive directors also generates
a strong independence element on the Board, which
allows independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the
Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and
experience to meet the developmental needs of the
business of the Group.

In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive directors, representing more than one-third
of the Board. All independent non-executive directors
are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director, who were in the
Board during the year, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.
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The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate
policy and overall strategy for the Group and to
provide effective oversight of the management of the
Group’s business and affairs. Apart from its statutory
responsibilities, the Board also approves the
strategic plans, key operational issues, investments
and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management. These
functions are either carried out directly by the Board
or through committees established by the Board. The
Board is also responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four
times a year to approve the annual and interim
results, and to review the business operation and
the internal control system of the Group. Apart
from these regular meetings, Board meetings are
also held to approve major issues. At least 14
days’ notice of each regular meeting is given to
all directors. Agendas and accompanying Board
papers are sent not less than three days before the
date of Board meetings to ensure that the directors
are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft
minutes of Board meetings and Board committee
meetings are circulated to directors for their review
and comment. All the said minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any director.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive of an issuer should be
separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 17 February
2014, Mr. Wei Chunxian and Ms. Liu Shuhua have
been appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (the "CEQ”) of the Company respectively.
There is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the CEO, in that the Chairman
provides leadership for the Board and bears
the primary responsibility for the functioning of
the Board, by ensuring its effective operation,
while the CEO is authorised and responsible for
the management of the day-to-day business of
the Group as well as the implementation of the
strategies approved by the Board.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”).

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors) have entered into service contracts or
letters of appointment (as the case may be) with the
Company for a term of one year, which is terminable
by either party by giving no less than three months’
or one month notice in advance to each other
(as the case may be), subject to retirement from
office by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting.

Pursuant to Article 77 of the Articles, any director
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting and shall then
be eligible for election but shall not be taken into
account in determining the directors or the number
of directors who are to retire by rotation at such
meeting.

According, Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and Ms. To
Tsz Wan Vivien shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.
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Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the nearest number to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring
director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Ms.
Liu Shuhua and Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diversified Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of the
Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, length of service,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The Company will also take into consideration its
own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable
objectives based on several focused areas: age,
cultural and educational background, length
of service, professional experience, skills and
knowledge for the implementation of Board diversity
of the Company.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
6 directors, amongst them, 3 are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity
in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the
Board’'s composition, the Nomination Committee
considered that the requirements of the Board
Diversity Policy had been met.

Induction and Continuing Development for
Directors

Pursuant to the CG Code which has come into
effect from 1 April 2012, all directors and the
company secretary should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Reading materials on relevant topics have
been issued to directors where appropriate.
All directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses. Newly appointed director has
received formal and tailored induction and training
on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements.

According to the records maintained by the
Company, the directors received the following
training with an emphasis on the roles, functions
and duties of a director of a listed issuer in
compliance with the requirements of the CG Code
on continuous professional development during the
year:
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Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HEHHE,
Directors BEE B E MR [EP=1
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Wei Chunxian BELAE v 4
Mr. Sun Zhongmin RHPR%EA 4 v
Ms. Liu Shuhua 2RE L+ v v/
Independent Non-executive Directors 7 IF#177E F
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELEE v v/
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung Blim B e AL 4 4
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RBREEE v 4
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEEL LT

During the year, all directors confirmed that they
have complied with the CG Code.

A.7. Directors’ Attendance Record of Board and A.7.

General Meetings

There were ten board meetings and three general
meetings held during the year under review. The
attendance of the directors at the board meetings
and the general meetings was as follows:

B/\Kifﬁﬂ FIEEE®ER  HEH
B EZERSAD -

EEHFEEBEREERKRRAE
2 7C &%
REBFEANBRT T REEREH
R=ZXRBERAE EFHFEFRE
ZLBERRENEROT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the directors

EEEHAEES
BITERREY
Board General
Notes meeting meeting

Directors 2= LoFza EERgR BRAE
Executive Directors HITEFE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) MBS E(EE) 11/11 3/3
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BRIPR%E& 11/11 3/3
Ms. Liu Shuhua 2RE L+ 11/11 3/3
Independent Non-executive Directors &7 IE#H iTE FE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELEAE 11/11 3/3
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung Blim T e L AL (a) 9/9 2/2
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B E (b) 2/2 11
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RB B & (c) 11/11 3/3
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MERELZ L (d)
(a) Appointed on 12 July 2017 (a) RZE—tF LA T-_HEZE
(b) Resigned on 12 July 2017 (b) RZE—tF+LAT+-HET
(c) Resigned on 14 February 2018 (c) MRZZE—NFE-A+MAEBT
(d)  Appointed on 14 February 2018 (d) RZE-NF-_ATHOEEZRT
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The Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code as stated in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Compliance with Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, all the
directors of the Company have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards and
provisions as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company
is not aware of any non-compliance with the Model
Code regarding the trading of the Company’s
securities for the year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of potential legal actions against its
directors and officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board
has set up an Audit Committee, a Nomination
Committee and a Remuneration Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.
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B.1.

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in July 1999
with specific written terms of reference (which
have been revised subsequently to cope with
changes) which clearly deal with its authority and
duties. The Audit Committee’s role is to review the
Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and to make relevant
recommendations to the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee consisted of
three independent non-executive directors. With
effect from 12 July 2017 following the resignation of
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael and the appointment of Mr.
Au Yeung Po Fung as independent non-executive
director, Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric acted as
Chairman with Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and Mr. Chui
Tsan Kit acted as members. Subsequently on 14
February 2018, Mr. Chui Tsan Kit was resigned
and Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien was appointed as
independent non-executive director and acted as
member of Audit Committee.

The corporate governance functions performed
during the year included the following:

(a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board,;

(b) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with
the code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit
Committee has performed the following tasks during
the year:
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(i) reviewed the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with the applicable
standards;

(ii) reviewed the draft interim and annual
financial statements and the related draft
results announcements;

(iii)  reviewed the change in accounting standards
and assessed the potential impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements;

(iv)  discussed with the management the relevant
issues including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
functions and ensured that the management
has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget; and

(v) made recommendation on the appointment
or reappointment of the external auditor and
approved their terms of engagement.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-
depth experience in their profession. All of them
possess appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during
the year under review and the attendance of its
members was as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Notes EEAHAEES
Members of Audit Committee EREBEERE bt &2 BTEBRE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERERE 3/3

(Chairman) EY-

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung B 5B LA (a) 2/2
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B A (b) 1/1
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit ?%)@M"’”‘f'ai (c) 3/3
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEREZ L (d)
(a) Appointed on 12 July 2017 (a) RZE—tFLAT-_BEZE
(b) Resigned on 12 July 2017 (b) R-E—+FE+A+_HET
(c) Resigned on 14 February 2018 (c) RZZE—-—NFZATMABE
(d) Appointed on 14 February 2018 (d) RZE—-NE-_A+NBEEZE
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B.2.

Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in
March 2007 with specific written terms of reference
(which have been revised subsequently to cope
with changes) which clearly deal with its authority
and duties. The Nomination Committee’s roles
are principally to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding
any proposed changes; identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board in this regard; and
assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

In respect of code provision A.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Nomination Committee of the Company
is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive
directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee
consisted of three independent non-executive
directors. With effect from 12 July 2017 following
the resignation of Mr. Guan Zheng Michael and
the appointment of Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung as
independent non-executive director, Mr. Wei
Chunxian acted as Chairman with Mr. Tung Woon
Cheung Eric and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung acted as
members.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year included the following:

i) to review the structure, size and diversity
(including without limitation, gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services) of the
Board and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

i) to assess on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and
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iii) to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for
Directors and to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members.

The Nomination Committee held three meeting
during the year under review and the attendance of
its members was as follows:
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B UYeEHABEERT
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Notes BEEXHAEE
Members of Nomination Committee IEEZEE/KE K1 it HITEBIY
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) é@%@%ﬁi(fﬁ) 1/1
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric R A 1/1
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung "”F’ijaﬂﬁiﬁi (a) 0/0
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B A (b) 1/1
(a) Appointed on 12 July 2017 (a) RZZE—+tFLtA+_BEZE
(b) Resigned on 12 July 2017 (b) R-ZEBE—tFEA+-_B&MT
Remuneration Committee B3. FMZEES

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in
May 2005 with specific written terms of reference
(which have been revised subsequently to cope
with changes) which clearly deals with its authority
and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role
is to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for directors and
senior management and to ensure that they are
fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to
the Group’s overall performance, having regard to
the interests of shareholders. The principal duties
of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
directors and senior management with reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time. No director or any of his/
her associates may be involved in any decisions as
to his/her own remuneration.

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules,
the Remuneration Committee is chaired by an
independent non-executive director and comprising
a majority of independent non-executive directors.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of three directors. With effect from 12 July
2017 following the resignation of Mr. Guan Zheng
Michael and the appointment of Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung as independent non-executive director, Mr. Au
Yeung Po Fung acted as Chairman with Mr. Tung
Woon Cheung Eric and Mr. Chui Tsan Kit acted as
members. Subsequently on 14 February 2018, Mr.
Chui Tsan Kit was resigned and Ms. To Tsz Wan
Vivien was appointed as independent non-executive
director and acted as member of Remuneration
Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included the following:

(i) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company; and

(i) reviewed and approved the remuneration
package for the executive directors and
management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting
during the year under review and the attendance of
its members was as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Members of Notes BEEXHAEE
Remuneration Committee FMZEERE 0Nz HITEBIY
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman) B E LA (a) 0/0
(£/E)

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELEE 11
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B AE (b) 1/1
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit TIEH S & (c) 1/1
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEEL LT (d)

(a) Appointed on 12 July 2017 (a) RZZE—tFLAT-_HEZE
(b) Resigned on 12 July 2017 (b) RZZE—tF AT _BEE
(c) Resigned on 14 February 2018 (c) RZE—-—NF-A+MNBEFT
(d) Appointed on 14 February 2018 (d) RZE-NF_A+TNUNBEZE
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARATION AND REPORTING OF
ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the accounts which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. A statement
by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
is set out on pages 128 to 135 of this annual report.

The directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL
Risk Management Structure

The Board of directors is responsible to maintain
an effective risk management and internal control
system, in order to safeguard the interest of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. However,
the risk management and internal control systems
were designed to manage rather than eliminate all
risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations
such as unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events
such as natural catastrophes, fraud, and errors of
judgement, but it may provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements
or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk
Management framework in order to implement
effective risk management. Our risk management
structure is simple and clear, which has categorical
duties.
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Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is responsible for establishing the risk
management framework and risk management
policies, and the relevant policies are aiming
to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The
Board, with assistance from the Audit Committee,
monitors risk management and internal control
system in an on-going manner and reviews, at least
annually, the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the
risk management and internal control system below
the Board. The Audit Committee assists the Board
in overseeing the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems by providing advice and
support in respect of all risk matters, including
on-going monitoring of the implementation of risk
management procedures, reviewing the Group’s
risk register, reviewing and approving the internal
control review plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for
identifying and on-going monitoring strategic,
operational, financial, reporting and compliance
risks associated with the daily operations of the
Group. The Management reports to the Board and
Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulate various
internal control measures to mitigate the risks, and
rectify internal control deficiencies they identified in
a timely manner.
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Independent Professional Internal Control
Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control
review, the Group has outsourced the internal
audit function to an independent professional
internal control advisor (the “Internal Control
Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
procedures and effectiveness of the internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor
formulates the internal control review plan based
on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit
Committee about the review results directly.

Risk Management Procedures

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk
Management framework so as to effectively
manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group. The
Enterprise Risk Management framework defined the
procedures for identifying, assessing, responding
to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function,
the Group strengthened the understanding of risk
management so that all employees will understand
and report the risks timely which enhanced the
Group’s ability to identify and manage risks.

Define risk [dentify
scope —} potential risks
EIRvAEL BB R
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Monitoring and
report changes
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In the course of risk identification, the Management
liaise with each operating function, collect
significant risk factors that affect the Group
from the bottom to the top, in various aspects
including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk
assessment scope, the Management will assess the
potential impact and possibilities of the risks and
prioritise the risks, and make appropriate internal
control measures are then developed to mitigate the
risks identified and monitor the changes of risks in
an on-going manner.

Main features of our risk management and
internal control systems

Maintain an effective internal control system
(operational level)

° Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key
position;

o Establish code of conduct, convey to all
employee the Group’s requirements on
integrity and ethic;

° Establish whistle blowing mechanism,
encourage employees to report incidents of
misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoid leakage of
price sensitive information;

o Establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible
person of disclosure, unified response to
external enquiries and obtain advice from
professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary.
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In 2017, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of internal control policies and procedures,
including those related to financial reporting and
Listing Rule compliance and the Management also
conveyed confirmation of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to
the Board and the Audit Committee. The Board
has considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions during the evaluation of
the review of risk management and internal control
systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management
level)

Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board,
the Management communicate with each operating
function, collect significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group
has established a risk register to record the risks
identified, the Management will assess the potential
impact and possibilities of each major risk and
develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2017, the Management conducted evaluation of
risk management structure and procedures and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board
and Audit Committee, including a 3-years internal
control review plan, to enable the Board and
Audit Committee to effectively monitor the major
business risks of the Group and know about how the
Management responses to and mitigates such risks.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoiding leakage of price
sensitive information. We also establish inside
information disclosure policy, including reporting
channels and responsible person of disclosure,
unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the
Stock Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements
regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information.
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Independent review

The Group has outsourced the Internal Control
Advisor to conduct an internal control review,
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and
submitted the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.

In 2017, the Internal Control Advisor has completed
the internal control review work during the year.
The review aimed at the transaction incurred during
the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2017, and the scope of the review included the
effectiveness of the internal control measures in
corporate level and operational level. the Internal
Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The Management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses
identified. Nothing has come to the Audit
Committee’s or Board’s attention to believe that risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group are inadequate or ineffective.

Principle risks and uncertainties

The following are the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and their changes
during the year:
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R-T—tF  REERETRIAKR
FENAZBERIE BRHH T
—+tF-—A-RE-_Z—tF+=AH
=+ BEHREELENR S  BREE
BRCEERNEEERNNZEER
BRI - AEBEHETERNEZLZES
ERANIEEZTIESER -

HRBEFRORNZEBBEXTEZRE @ &
BECHIETMLEERRAETR - &
ZEZEENREFERAERIEME
< P48 15 30 B 10 [ B i 22 K R D

EERGFEERTR -

AEENTERREAAEEMS

AT EBE/RNEENEE R & TR
EM - ARERAFEENEEHFTRN

Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
2, B it TEARERRER 25
Economic Affected by economic downturn, — Regularly analyse overall Decreasing
downturn the number of people who are able economic changes, adjust iR
BETAT to purchase or rent the property business strategies, and

decreased. We may need to lower

selling price or rental rate or may even

not be able to sell or lease. We might

also be unable to increase our property
management/other additional service

fee due to the overall worse economic ~ —
conditions.
RERKEBEMYETHRNEEIARD
EOARYD  AEEAFETAEE A
OREEEHE /HBE-MAURELR
REBREMBNRSERER HoBMh —
RBHOER -
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communicate quickly with
managers in business areas
through video conferencing

to implement recommended
improvements
EEANBELESS  BEE
BRE UTABRGEAREE
EEBRBERAREREER
BT

Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects
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Varasiiy
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f ut TERBERERE 25
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our — Be close to the pay market Increasing
Resources staff might affect our ability to provide dynamics, control the wastage 1% fil
ANER quality service to meet our customers’ rate
demands. In addition, labour costs — REEBMISERE - EHIR AR
in mainland China are expected to
increase which might also decrease our — Recruitment planning every year,
profits or competitiveness. timely replenishment of staff
EEABETYEREELTR BER turnover
MENRBKEREEFPER - B - — BFEETREARE  LEGHRR
B 31t ) 25 &) ) B AR TR R A B 3 A0 7 AT XAF
SHIBDARMMBRZEESN -
— Provide adequate training for
staff to improve staff service
standards
— REIRHAREI RAET
fR 757K %
Brand Name  If we fail to maintain our service level — Daily self-examination to No change
b in customer service, engineering, maintain and enhance the quality %21t

cleaning or security, customers may
lose confidence which will have a very
negative impact on our Company'’s
reputation and image.
SEAERRAERREKT  ETFRE
TREE BRIRZIEFHREAR
BREPAAEL HEBRFRENK
BREENTE -

of service and engineering
ARETRBEEEEEAFRE
FRRBEMIREEKY

Investigate customers’
satisfaction, monitor the latest
ratings for each project,
follow up timely on customers’

complaints

HAEEPREE ERZHEHEM
EHAR REREFPBAEE
ETRE

Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with

problems
EHENET BREIBRH
e H R E
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERERE 25
Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and — Conduct strict assessment and ~ No Change
SN contractors to proceed projects to follow due tender procedures mE
their completion on time and on the in selecting outsourcing service
unsatisfactory quality of the work may providers.
incur extra cost to the Group in order to  — TR 2N MR 7 7 B dE 1T R
complete the work. ERETERBELE -
RGHER AR EREZETK I
FETERERMERE A2y EEP — Our project manager and legal
HEAMBRBHRERE  (2BMNTEE staff would review the terms of a
INEEIMNK AR A TE R A B T AE - outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of
each party therein are clearly
defined and stated.
— BEEEBNEBABEEIHNES
RGN - RS HBE KROEM
B o
— Evaluate and update
performance by outsourcing
service providers on regular
basis to ensure their service
standards meet the Group’s
requirements.
— THRENBRBRERRR
BRREBRBKIHEEEZEK -
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency — Put in place various contingency No change
disasters situations triggered by natural disasters plans and strategies and with m2
EAKE (e.g. fire, electric shock, traffic accident designated persons-in-charge

etc.) or epidemic outbreaks may lead
to substantial/numerous claims and
liabilities against the Group and damage —
to our reputation, in addition to human
casualties and direct losses on assets.
SETERERMERNBEALEH
Zzu)\“< BE QXEEBENF)XNERARE —
BEN RUBSABABBEUREZEEE
BEMN T ASERHAE BE
RE AR URWESEEREES -
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to deal with specific risks, and
conduct of regular disaster drills.
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FUREBEHEEA LT HE
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Periodic checks on equipment
for emergency and regular
inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
THmENLRE  ARETH
FUE REERERBRR -

Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
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Varasiiy
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f ut TERBERERE 25
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in — Put in place various work safety No change
health and place appropriate emergency procedures, strictly observe i34 d
safety equipment, formulate and oversee and implement precautionary
BEEEE  the implementation of various safety measures for all duties and
Z% procedures that result in injuries of our procedures that are hazardous
employees in work may incur liability to in nature. Designated persons
the Group against any compensation, would be appointed to oversee
give adverse effect to our reputation and the implementation of such
cause an outflow of talents. measures.
SEERERMENERA HIETE — HEZ2TERF  BEHNTS
BEEEZERFONT SIBEIREIE EREEREETIEREFERN
BREG SEHURTEALRERT o PEfEm TiEREEAGERS
RAMBBENEEYE  URSIEAT WMITIER
M e

— Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational

safety.
— R 2B BRETHRER
ZEMER

— Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.

— THRELRE2RE  HRRHBE

fEE®
Interest rate The Group holds borrowings on floating — Closely monitor the interest rate, Increasing
7l & interest. This may increase the cost and report to the management & il
and have an effect on profits due to the timely on the interest rate
increase in interest rates. changes
SERBAIDMNEFENRBR Bt — BOEENERR - LERER
SXMELARTEMEMLAR - FEF EEZZAAEE(

e
— Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk
— 1 72 B 3 05K Y I SRS HE PR
& A = &l by
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REELWMS
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERERE 2E
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilites ~— — Actively monitor the fluctuation  Increasing
exchange rate denominated in Hong Kong dollars, in foreign exchange rate change, % fil
i & Renminbi, US dollars and GBP. Foreign consider all necessary actions

exchange rate fluctuations may bring
exchange losses to the Company.
SERBAUNET  ARY  ZTRESF —
BrEERAR IEEXRHHEAAK
REBRELEX -

Relevant Changes in politics, policies and —
politics, regulations on real estate might increase
policies and  our operating expenses. If we breach
regulations on relevant regulatory and governing —
real estate requirements, such as lack of ability
BHEMEHR to adjust the operational procedures
MBEBUA » B timely, the Group may incur losses due  —
KRER to penalty, suspension or interruption of
operation
ERBR ERKEEEREZHSEM
SEELERAY FEERREMEARE
EER(BHEARAERGRALERFE —
B)MAREcARERXE N RE%
L EMms ERE -

E. COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the
Company has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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(such as reduce loan/investment,
hedging).
SEEEEXER  WHTEHEB
EHRR (WA EE/RE £
BEHE)

Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure
THETHRENT 2 AH
[l B

Actively monitor changes of laws No change
and regulations associated with &£ 1t

the business of the Group.
BRERAXEERBRABNE

BERE

Consult legal staff or legal
advisors to ensure the Group’s
compliance with policy,
regulatory and governing
requirements.
BEEBABIERERBERA
SEMARE ZANEE (B
R Ek

E. QAF®BE
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young.
(including any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with Ernst & Young or
any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information
would reasonably conclude as part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally). The remuneration
paid/ payable to Ernst & Young in respect of audit
services and permissible audit related and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December
2017 amounted to approximately HK$1,850,000 and
HK$1,935,000 respectively. The non-audit services
of HK$1,935,000 comprised (i) accountants’
report relating to circulars for acquisitions of
approximately HK$1,675,000 (ii) agree-upon
procedures on interim financial information of
approximately HK$200,000; and (iii) other and tax
services of approximately HK$60,000.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general
meeting of shareholders of the Company can
be convened by a written request signed by
shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights
of all the shareholders having a right to vote at
that meeting, stating the nature of the business
to be dealt with at that meeting, and deposited
at the Company’s registered office. The rights of
shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings
are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll
and the poll procedures are included in all related
circulars to shareholders and will be explained
during the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the website of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day
of the shareholders’ meeting.
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The general meeting of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. The Chairman of the Board, as well
as the Chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee or in
their absence, other members of the respective
committees, normally attend the annual general
meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings
to answer shareholders’ queries at the shareholders’
meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including
election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communication
and relations with its investors. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Company had not amended its constitutional
document.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) hereby present its
report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the property
development and investments in the PRC, the USA and the
UK, and the provision of property management services
in Beijing, the PRC. Details of the principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk,
liquidity risk, operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the
Year is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA
and the UK. The divergence of monetary policies in major
advanced economies of global nations is expected to
continue to contribute partly to the volatility of fund and
trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong Kong, the
PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities
and real estate prices is also affected by political and
economic developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
USA and the UK. The long term business and profitability
growth of the Group is expected to continue to be affected
by the changes in macro-economic variables, including
unemployment rates, real gross domestic product growth,
consumer and asset price indexes and credit demand,
and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and
the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2017
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to
139.
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The Board did not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2016: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the Year (2016: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 has been stated in Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 7 and Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 8 to 27.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are set out in Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on page 28 to 61.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 28
to 61.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and equity of the Group for the last five financial years/
period, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
and the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2016 are set out on pages 251 to 252. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources
to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain strong working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, the Board is not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during
the year is set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 20 April 2017, the Company granted 5,000,000 share
options to a consultant of the Company under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 November
2016, with exercise price of HK$1.05. For details of the
share options granted, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 April 2017. On 18 May 2017, the
5,000,000 share options were exercised and 5,000,000
shares were issued with market price of HK$1.28332 and
thus the share capital of the Company was increased by
HK$6,416,000.

On 31 August 2017, the Company completed the
acquisition the entire share capital of Wholly Express
Group, at a consideration of HK$673,364,000, from
Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly owned by Mr.
Wei Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly
owned by Mr. Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was
paid as to HK$491,400,000 by the allotment and issue of
540,000,000 consideration shares at the issue price of
HK$0.91 per share and remaining as to HK$181,964,000
by the issue of convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$165,587,240 convertible into 199,960,440 shares at
the initial conversion price of HK$0.91 per share. Based on
the market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.86 as
at 31 August 2017, the share capital of the Company was
increased by approximately HK$464,400,000 as a result
of the issuance of 540,000,000 consideration shares and
was further increased by approximately HK$89,882,000 by
the issuance of 104,513,716 shares upon the conversion
of convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$95,107,000.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash
distribution/or distribution in specie as at 31 December
2017 in accordance with the provisions of section 291, 297
and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Movements of the reserves in the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on page 140 and 141 and in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, less
than 30% of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers, and less than 30% of the
Group’s purchases were attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
has related party transactions with related companies
(as disclosed in the note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements), including It REEFEEBR A F, FAtEH
BREERAR AR RIEREEEXABR 2R, which are
controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin,
directors of the Company. These related companies are
top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors
of the Company, or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
top five customers and suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the
Group did not make any charitable donations.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(appointed on 12 July 2017)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael
(resigned on 12 July 2017)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
(resigned on 14 February 2018)

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Ms. Liu Shuhua and Mr. Tung
Woon Cheung Eric will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

According to Article 77 of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting and shall then be eligible for election.
Accordingly, Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and Ms. To Tsz Wan
Vivien shall hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received written annual confirmations
of independence from all independent non-executive
directors and as at the date of this report all of them are
considered to be independent.
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BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) is set out as follows:

Board changes
On 12 July 2017:

— Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung succeeded Mr. Guan Zheng
Michael to act as independent non-executive
director of the Company.

On 14 February 2018:

— Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien succeeded Mr. Tsui Tsan Kit
to act as independent non-executive director of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the directors of the Company
are set out on pages 62 to 66 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group as well as the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee.

Further details of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
are set out in the corporate governance report on pages
79 to 80 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph
headed “DIRECTORS” above, the persons who have
served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report
included Mr. Chen Gang and Ms. Huang Fei.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of each of the directors and the
employees of the Group is on the basis of their merit,
qualification, competence and experience in the industry,
the profitability of the Group as well as remuneration
benchmarks from other local and international companies
and prevailing market conditions, executive directors and
employees also participate in bonus arrangements which
are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’'s performance.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Company’s Articles of Association
provides that every Director, executive Director, manager,
secretary, officer and auditor of the Company shall be
indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liabilities incurred by him as such Director, executive
Director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to
the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance. The
Company has also maintained Directors and officers
liability insurance during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the
Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company during the Year.

REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT BY
BAND

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
for the remuneration payable to the members of the
senior management by band for the Year, please refer
to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees, as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, in notes 9 and 10
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and
significant related party transactions are disclosed in
this report and in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statement. Save for the above, no director nor a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive and their associates
in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), were as follows:

EERGRES

EFRERITHRARRERG R
MR ZERRXE

RZTE—+F+_A=+—H EZRER"
TRABURREZBEALIRARAR
HBZE(EXAEZMMEGI(E 5
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FETEHFRXHZBRESTR(TRESA)
BHEARNANBR 2 Em AR IT

(a) Interest in Shares (a) BwmER
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Number of underlying issued share
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares capital
HEDE
BRTRAZ
ExpL ) BREROHE HBEROHA BAEDH
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 96,110,510 (L) — 6.21
BRmEXE EREARAA (Note 1)
(B1i£1)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 929,661,315 (L) 95,446,724 (L) 66.27
MUERE RELB 2R (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Biit1) (Brat2)
(L) denotes long position (L) RETE

Note 1: The shares are held by Wintime Company
Limited. Wintime Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Winluck Global Limited.
The entire issued share capital of Winluck
Global Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian. Each of Winluck Global Limited and Mr.
Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Wintime Company Limited under
the SFO.

Ktz 1: B B 5 faWintime Company
Limited#5 A ° Wintime Company
Limited&AWinluck Global
Limitedz 2= & K B & 7 °
Winluck Global Limitedz & B
BETRAARGELELEE S
HE - BEFHFLBEKH -
Winluck Global Limited£2 2 4%
‘R E S B HIR A RWintime
Company Limitedff# A 2 i1
hEEARERE -
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(b)

Note 2: Pursuant to an agreement dated 7 July 2017

entered into among the Company as purchaser,
Winluck Global Limited and Silky Apex Limited as
vendors and Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun as guarantors
for the sale and purchase of the entire issued
share capital of Wholly Express Limited (which
was completed on 31 August 2017), convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$165,587,240
and HK$16,376,760 were issued to Winluck
Global Limited (being a company wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Wei) and Silky Apex
Limited (being a company wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Sun), which are convertible into
181,964,000 conversion shares and 17,996,440
conversion shares at an initial conversion price
of HK$0.91 per conversion share respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
convertible bonds issued to Silky Apex Limited
were fully converted. As at 31 December 2017,
there are outstanding convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$86,865,519 (convertible
into 95,446,724 conversion shares at the initial
conversion price) issued to Winluck Global
Limited, representing approximately 5.81% of the
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds.

Interests in associated corporations

Name of the member of the Group Name of shareholder

AEEKEEH

ESE:

Mraz2:

BiEARXQXAERE H)
Winluck Global Limited&Silky
Apex Limited (fE R & 77) & 3t
EERBEEEUERBERA)E
VEBHBA017TFTATEZA
% B EWholly Express Limited
2 EE AT A (B 201748
A31H M) 8 - MWinluck
Global Limited (38 5t & & % &
Em A 2 A 7F) KSiky Apex
Limited (FR 55 & 2 3 & & =
Bzra)BETASEI A
165,587,240 7 T & 16,376,760
BB ABRRKRES  EFEH
Bl 5 ¥ 5 181,964,000 A% &4 3 %
19 }.17,996,440 % 832 iR 1 -
AReEIRRR 1) 2 ¥ ia B A B A2 0.91
BT o BLE20175E 128318 1b
& € |Silky Apex Limited# 17
Z2HBBRESEE2PER R
—ET—t+F+A=+—8"
WMAEMATENTBRRES
H H186,865,519/%5 7 7] #8145 &
77 FWinluck Global Limited#y
95,446,724 R B I H - HEER
NAEIR BT RRES SRS
e A BRRARL5.81% ©

Approximate
percentage of
equity interest
REBLNB DL

Ruilai Recreational Fitness
Company Limited*
(Em#iskERE S BRAA)

IERGFEHRRBEIBERAA

Note:

Xinrong (Beijing) Investment Fund Management
Company Limited* (& (tR) REE & E &
BPRRAR]) is a company established in the PRC
and indirectly wholly-owned as to 91% by a close
associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian and as to 9% by
Mr. Sun Zhongmin. Accordingly, Mr. Wei Chunxian
is therefore deemed to be interested in the 20%
equity interest in Ruilai Recreational Fitness
Company Limited.

The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for
identification purpose only, and should not be regarded
as their official English translation. In the event of any
inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.
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Xinrong (Beijing) Investment Fund
Management Company Limited*
(B (R) REESERBRATF) (Note)

2R (ERREECERRR QB (HZ)

Hiat -

20%

ERUER)KREASEEABRA
AlA—HMRFEBEKL AR A
HEGELEERHEAME
2ERBNBNERELBAERMHERE
EAEREE2ERBI%MEZ -
It B4R AR BRI R
KERETBRRREHB20%H
AR HE o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none
of the directors nor the chief executive of the Company
had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, as at 31
December 2017, the following persons (not being directors
or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

EERGEE

BREXHEBEEN R_T—EF+_-A
=t+t—B ARREFRESTHRAEH
BERARRLEABEIE(EERES MY
BEIEPIEXVED) Z iy - BB S E#E
THAIWRIERE  (AQREEFREE
GEPIEXVEETRE8D RFAEME RN A F K
BRIz ENEEZIAR(BRREESR
BRI ZZFHRXREFEIREIERESR
ZHEMBOXR) + F(b)RIREFH LG FRAI
SE35216R 78 T AR AR G 3Pt B RC 1 2 (Efe]
BEIORAR  H(C)RBELTRAANME L
MBETAEFETESFRIZIBEETAA
MEARRNBRBRAZEMESSARE ©

FERREHEMALTRERGRHE
MIRMMCHERRKE

REEMA R_T—tLtF+-_A=+—
B UTARBAEEHREFITHABRKI
AT - R R AR RE R D R SR AR
REARDIORE  MEFEDZIXER
B(EHF BB GRODEXVEE2RE35 #
ARARNBNBRZAEE S — AR A
REB(EF LB RPN FE3B6HEMEFHE
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EERRES

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

RELAFTKRIMRERBEGZIHF
g

COMPANY:
Percentage of
Issued
Number of Shares Share Capital
Name (ordinary share) Capacity (approximately)
HEBRTRAE
=g BROBE (EER) &6 Bk (HH)
Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) 929,661,315 (L) Beneficial owner 60.10%
Wintime Company Limited (#74£1) EmEB A
Winluck Global Limited (Note 2) 929,661,315 (L) Beneficial Interest held by 60.10%
controlled corporation
Winluck Global Limited (#/7#2) XEEFERBELERER
95,446,724 (L) Beneficial owner 6.17%
EanlEEA
Chance Talent Management 150,000,000 (L) Beneficial owner 9.70%
Limited (Note 3)
Chance Talent Management EnEBA
Limited (#/:#3)
450,000,000 (S) Beneficial owner 29.09%
EmEA A
CCBI Investments Limited (Note 4) 150,000,000 (L) Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
controlled corporation
CCBI Investments Limited (/#:4) XEFEFECER RS
450,000,000 (S) Beneficial Interest held by 29.09%

CCB International (Holdings)
Limited (Note 5)
BRRER(ZER)BR AR (HZS)

CCB Financial Holdings Limited
(Note 6)

CCB Financial Holdings Limited
(Hiit6)

CCB International Group Holdings
Limited (Note 7)

CCB International Group Holdings
Limited (#7727)

150,000,000 (L)

450,000,000 (S)

150,000,000 (L)

450,000,000 (S)

150,000,000 (L)

450,000,000 (S)
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controlled corporation
XEmEERBZERESR
Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
controlled corporation
XEEEREzEGEER
Beneficial Interest held by
controlled corporation
XEEFEREzERER
Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
controlled corporation
XEEBEREZERaER

29.09%

Beneficial Interest held by 29.09%
controlled corporation

X rEREZEnER

Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
controlled corporation

XEEFERBEzERER

Beneficial Interest held by 29.09%
controlled corporation

RELERBEZERAER
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Number of Shares

EERGRES

Percentage of
Issued
Share Capital

Name (ordinary share) Capacity (approximately)
EEBITRE
% ROBE(ZER) &6 B (BH)
China Construction Bank 150,000,000 (L) Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
Corporation (Note 8) controlled corporation
HEIRERBITRD AR DR (H728) XELERBEZERER
450,000,000 (S) Beneficial Interest held by 29.09%
controlled corporation
X rEREZEniEn
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. 150,000,000 (L) Beneficial Interest held by 9.70%
(Note 9) controlled corporation
FRESREEREEAA XEFERECERER
(H1it9)
450,000,000 (S) Beneficial Interest held by 29.09%
controlled corporation
XEEERBE ESER
Note 1: As at 31 December 2017, Wintime Company Limited  A7/7#7: 720174 12A31H  Wintime Company
holds 929,661,315 shares directly. Limited & £ 1% 929,661,315 i {7 -
Note 2: Winluck Global Limited is deemed to be interested in the  A/:72 - BN E 2 &K E A FWintime Company

929,661,315 shares by virtue of its controlling interests in
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Wintime Company Limited.

Pursuant to an agreement dated 7 July 2017 entered
into among the Company as purchaser, Winluck
Global Limited and Silky Apex Limited as vendors and
Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun as guarantors for the sale and
purchase of the entire issued share capital of Wholly
Express Limited (which was completed on 31 August
2017), convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$165,587,240 and HK$16,376,760 were issued to
Winluck Global Limited (being a company wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Wei) and Silky Apex Limited
(being a company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Sun), which are convertible into 181,964,000 conversion
shares and 17,996,440 conversion shares at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.91 per conversion share
respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the convertible bonds issued to Silky Apex Limited were
fully converted. As at 31 December 2017, there are
outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$86,865,519 (convertible into 95,446,724 conversion
shares at the initial conversion price) issued to Winluck
Global Limited, representing approximately 5.81% of
the share capital as enlarged by the conversion of the
outstanding convertible bonds.

Limited®) 5 % # z% ° Winluck Global
Limited# 18 /& 12 929,661,315 % A% 17 &
HmEER -

BHEAXQAMEAE H) Winluck
Global Limited % Silky Apex Limited (£
BEFIRBREERBALEWEAER
NI B A2017FE7A7TEB 26 H
E EWholly Express Limited® & & 3%
TTIRA(BER2017F8A31H MK ) K1
3% - MWinluck Global Limited (385t &
2EHREZEAR 2 A R) K&Siky Apex
Limited(B L £ 2 REmHEBZA
A)]) BT S B H A AB165,587,2407% 7T
116,376,760 LK Al R EH - Hep
2 5 Bl & 4 A 181,964,000 % # # i% 15
K.17,996,440 % 82 ¥ f% {5 - & BY 8 A AR
2 R ER(E 50918 T - H E2017
%12 431 A ASilky Apex Limited3$77 2
BB ESFEEHER R_F—+
F+-A=Z+—H HEHKRTED
Al AR fE % 0 E 986,865,519/ T A &5
¥ A 3 1T FWinluck Global Limited&y
95,446,724k 8RR H - HERARALE
BT RIRE S E BTG A A &) A
#495.81% o
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As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to
be interested in the 929,661,315 shares and is interested
in the 95,446,724 conversion shares by virtue of his
entire equity interests in Winluck Global Limited.

RZZE—+E+-_A=+—H @R
1% % BWinluck Global Limitedfy % 30 4
= MUBRAT R S A 1R 214 929,661,315
BB 395,446,724 @R (D R A

s e

Note 3: As at 31 December 2017, Chance Talent Management ff:23: W-_Z—+&+-H=+—H ' Chance

Limited holds 150,000,000 shares directly. Talent Management LimitedH # # &
150,000,000 3% % 17 ©

Note 4: As at 31 December 2017, Chance Talent Management ffit4: WZZ—+%F+_H=+—H ' Chance
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCBI Talent Management Limited/&CCBI
Investments Limited. Investments Limitedz = & K1 /@ A 7] °

Note 5: As at 31 December 2017, CCBI Investments Limited isa ffiZ5: R -_ZT—+t&F+_-_HA=+—H ° CCBI
wholly-owned subsidiary of CCB International (Holdings) Investments Limited £ 3 58 B BR (35 3% )
Limited. ERAFZZ2EMBLRF -

Note 6: As at 31 December 2017, CCB International (Holdings) f#fi#6: W-_ZE—+F+_-_A=+—H -CCB
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCB Financial International (Holdings) Limited £CCB
Holdings Limited. Financial Holdings Limitedz 2= &K &8

NI

Note 7: As at 31 December 2017, CCB Financial Holdings Mfi7 - WR-—Z—+%€+=-H=+—H CCB
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCB International Financial Holdings Limited&CCB
Group Holdings Limited. International Group Holdings Limited,Z

TEMB AR -

Note 8: As at 31 December 2017, CCB International Holdings /#/#8: W-_ZE—+F+_HA=+—H -CCB
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China International Group Holdings Limited /4
Construction Bank Corporation. FEZRBRITRNDERATZEZENE

NI

Note 9: As at 31 December 2017, Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Mi#9: R-ZZT—+F+_/F=+—H  hR[E
is interested in 57.11% of the equity interest of China CHREBREARREEPEERERTT
Construction Bank Corporation. DB RAT 257 11%8) B HE o

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2017, the B ENFEEEN  R-ZT—t&F+=A

=t+—B ARAEFRESTHAER
HMBEEMEMEARAREEFARSTHRAR
RON AL - D RARRE B D A 2
WRREARGEIORE - ML FEE IR
BERB(EFLBEGIDEXVEF2RES
DEWARANRE LB RXAFWE  H—MAK
R ARBCE 5 R B E R BI) 5 336 15% M 17
WEMATEEE -

directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any other person (other than the directors
and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted
the Share Option Scheme, pursuant to which the Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any
person, who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the Company or the
Group. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
(i) incentivise and reward those who have contributed or
may contribute to the development of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the
Group by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company thereby linking
their interest with that of the Group. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board in the relevant offer letter to a
grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (“Option”) must be held before it can be exercised
and no performance target which needs to be achieved
by a grantee before the options can be exercised. Under
the Share Option Scheme, the Board will have absolute
discretion in determining the subscription price (subject to
the Listing Rules) in respect of any Option. The Board is
of the view that the flexibility given to the Board will place
the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
Participants and retain human resources that are valuable
to the growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to the
Participant in the offer and shall be at least the higher
of (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant. The
consideration payable for acceptance of the option by
each Participant is HK$1.00 which shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the Participant does not accept
such grant of option pursuant to the procedures specified
in the respective offer letter or notice within the stipulated
time frame, such option shall be regarded as unaccepted
and lapsed.

EERGRES

i

RZZT—RNFE+—ALB  A2alBKEH
FWERETS - B EECARNEBERM
H2ERABHARARNAEEEL S5 E
= O N/NI] =i N S S 1 /N e S
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Based on the 897,420,738 shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme are 89,742,073 shares, being 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme. 89,742,073 shares represents 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
Subject to the obtaining of Shareholders’ approval with
respect to the adoption of the Share Option Scheme,
pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme. The Board shall not grant any options which
would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted but yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Company exceeding, in aggregate, 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to each
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options to a Participant which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted to such Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant exceeding the Individual Limit shall
be subject to approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting with such Participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such Participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period

of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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BERERETIARMNBBE BT
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On 20 April 2017, the Company granted 5,000,000 share
options to a consultant of the Company under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 November
2016, with exercise price of HK$1.05. The share options
were fully exercised on 18 May 2017.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
entered into certain transactions which constituted
connected transaction(s) and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, the details of which are set out below.

A. Continuing connected transactions
subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 1t 58
T ESEAR QT (Beijing AOCEAN Property
Management Company Limited* or “AOCEAN
Property Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provided heat supply and
maintenance services to a total of 12,808 property
units of Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1) and
Beijing Guolong (Note 1) with a total floor area of
approximately 1,214,000 square metres.

On 20 October 2017, the Company, Beijing Guorui
Property and Beijing Guolong entered into new
heat supply services agreement, new property
management agreement and new Kingdom Guorui
sales office management agreement, and upon
such agreements having been approved by
independent shareholders on 19 December 2017
and becoming effective on 1 January 2018, they
superseded the original Beijing Guorui Property
Heat Supply Services Agreement, Beijing Guolong
Heat Supply Services Agreement, Beijing Guorui
Property Management Agreement, Beijing Guolong
Property Management Agreement and Kingdom
Guorui Sales Office Management Agreement,
originally all dated on 27 November 2015. For
details of these new agreements, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 20
October 2017 and circular of the Company dated 24
November 2017.

EERGEE

RZE—+tFNWAZ+H  KRAFRER
RARZE-—RE+T-ALBERANER

REET EIR AT E R 1.058 JT [ A R & &#)
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(1) Beijing Guorui Property Heat Supply (1) X*FEESEHEREHBER (W72
Services Agreements (Note 2)
Date: 27 November 2015 B —E-LEt+-AZ++tH
Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management HE bk () REMEER
(i) Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1) (iy L RBEE (M ET)
Original term: 1 April 2014 to 15 September 2015 (with REEH: “E-NEMA-BE-T
no automatic renewal clause) —RFEAATER(LEED
BREX)
New term: 16 September 2015 to 15 September MES —E-AFNARTRAEZ
2018 (both days inclusive) Z-N\FNATRBA(BEM
HBEEA)
Location: Fortune Street Phase One* (31 —H), A ArBGRYRE 50
Fortune Street Phase Two* (8 & i — &) ME RSB K
and Rui City International Building* (3 FUARTARGRERS « & 18
Elf X E) in Chaoyang District, Beijing,
and Kingdom Guorui* (B #e& 18) in
Daxing District, Beijing.
Provision of AOCEAN Property Management's REZRS: RAEMEERZREGE:
services: responsibilities include (i) overlooking (NEEARERF RELE
the daily operation and provision of RE BT BRI R E B
repair and maintenance services of the Wik 2 R © R(il)HER PR
heat exchange station and facilities and HERFEBMES RE
the pipeline network; and (i) ensuring i
that the heat supplied complies with
governmental guidelines and standards,
etc.
Fees: Residential properties: RMB30 per B EENE:  BALRTHE
square meter per heat supply season, FHARAR®I 0L HES
payable on annual basis FY M
Commercial properties: RMB42 and BRAVNE  REFHRHE
RMBA47 per square meter per heat %%E\Jﬁffé_i\ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁi
supply season, payable on annual basis Bk AR 42T R AR 4T
in respect of the original term and new T EEEFEIR

term, respectively

Transaction amount ~ RMB875,799 (equivalent to approximately ZE-REN ARY875799L(FHE R
during 16 HK$1,010,000) B+ABZE 1,010,000% )
September 2016 to —T—+tF
15 September 2017: AATEA
RHeH
Transaction amount ~ RMB208,787 (equivalent to approximately ZE—tFN AR208787L(HERNK
during 16 HK$241,000) B+AEZE 241000%7)
September 2017 to -+
31 December 2017: F+-A
=+—-B%
5%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Annual cap: Original term:
Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 15
September 2018 are RMB1,466,000,
RMB2,291,000 and RMB4,258,000,
respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 27 November 2015
and approved by independent shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company held on 11 January
2016.

Beijing Guolong Heat Supply Services
Agreements (Note 2)
Date: 27 November 2015

Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beijing Guolong (Note 1)

Original term: 1 April 2014 to 15 September 2015 (with

no automatic renewal clause)

New term: 16 September 2015 to 15 September
2018 (both days inclusive)

Location: North Garden* (JL7E&) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing.

Provision of AOCEAN Property Management’s

services: responsibilities include (i) overlooking

the daily operation and provision of
repair and maintenance services of the
heat exchange station and facilities and
the pipeline network; and (ii) ensuring
that the heat supplied complies with
governmental guidelines and standards,
etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges
the individual owners/tenants of the
property units directly for those units
which are occupied. Beijing Guolong will
be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units within the aforesaid property
project

(2)
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Al) % 14A.60(1)# 2 5 4 B
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R % 1466000 T A B
# 2291000 b AR %
4,258,0007T

* O EHESY
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1t Bl RE R BR # 5 (M a2 2)
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Fees: RMB30 per square meter per heat
supply season, payable on annual basis

Transaction amount RMB3,115,855 (equivalent to approximately
during 16 HK$3,594,000)
September 2016 to
15 September 2017:

Transaction amount RMB575,937 (equivalent to approximately
during 16 HK$664,000)
September 2017 to
31 December 2017:

Annual cap: Original term:
Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 15
September 2018 are RMB3,351,000,
RMB3,159,000 and RMB3,217,000,
respectively

*  For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 27 November 2015
and approved by independent shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company held on 11 January
2016.

(3) Beijing Guorui Property Management (3)
Agreements (Note 3)

Date of Agreement: 27 November 2015 (as supplemented on
20 October 2017)

Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management

(ii) Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)
Original term: 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015
New term: 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018

(with no automatic renewal clause)
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Location:

Provision of
Services:

Fees:

Transaction amount
during 1 January
2017 to 31
December 2017:

Annual cap:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Fortune Street Phase One* (81541 — ),
Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bfi##1— ),
Rui City International Building* ($3% BIBS A
[E), and GOLDEN TOWER* (£ K% KE) in
Chaoyang District, Beijing, and Kingdom
Guorui* (B $ie% 78) in Daxing District,
Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is
responsible for (i) safekeeping of the
keys of the vacant units; (ii) carrying
out monthly inspections of the vacant
units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the
vacant units; (iv) inspecting the vacant
units during bad weather conditions;
(v) providing security services; (vi)
maintaining and managing facilities and
assets for public use; and (vii) providing
initial clean up service after completion
of the construction of the property
projects, etc.

The management fee ranges from
RMB1.846 to RMB9.4 per square meter
per month for different property units

RMB8,705,633 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,040,000)

Original term:

Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 31 December
2018 are RMB4,481,000, RMB6,858,000
and RMB14,244,000 (as supplemented
on 20 October 2017), respectively

* For identification purpose only
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EERMEE

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 27 November 2015
and approved by independent shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company held on 11 January
2016. The supplemental agreement was announced
by the Company in its announcement dated 20
October 2017 and approved by independent
shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company held on 19 December 2017.

(4) Beijing Guolong Property Management
Agreement (Note 3)

Date of Agreement: 27 November 2015 (as supplemented on
20 October 2017)

Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management

(ii) Beijing Guolong (Note)
Original term: 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015
New term: 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018

(with no automatic renewal clause)

Location: North Garden* (Jt£[E) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing.

Provision of AOCEAN Property Management is

services: responsible for (i) safekeeping of the

keys of the vacant units; (ii) carrying
out monthly inspections of the vacant
units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the
vacant units; (iv) inspecting the vacant
units during bad weather conditions;
(v) providing security services; (vi)
maintaining and managing facilities and
assets for public use; and (vii) providing
initial clean up service after completion
of the construction of the property
projects, etc.

Fees: RMB1.25 to RMB2.25 per square meter
per month

Transaction amount RMB2,147,325 (equivalent to approximately
during 1 January HK$2,477,000)
2017 to 31
December 2017:
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(5)

Annual cap:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Original term:

Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 31 December
2018 are RMB3,003,000, RMB2,642,000
and RMB2,842,000 (as supplemented on
20 October 2017), respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 27 November 2015
and approved by independent shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company held on 11 January
2016. The supplemental agreement was announced
by the Company in its announcement dated 20
October 2017 and approved by independent
shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company held on 19 December 2017.

Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management
Agreement (Note 4)

Date of Agreement:

Parties:

Term:

Location:

Provision of
services:

27 November 2015

(i)  AOCEAN Property Management
(ii) Beijing Guorui Property (Note)

8 October 2015 to 7 October 2018

Kingdom Guorui* (Bl f{e% %) — sales office
and ancillary areas at Beijing Economic and
Technological Development Area, Daxing District,
Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible
for (i) welcoming and arranging customers to visit
the show flats; (ii) coordinating services related
to sales act ivit'\es (iii) the security, hygiene and
concierge services of the property; (iv) the daily
operation, management and maintenance of the
common parts including the restaurants, bars and
other amenities facilities and common facilities;
(v) maintenance of the hygiene and security of
the common parts of the property; (vi) refuse
collection and disposal; and (vii) maintenance and
management of the greenery of the property, and
S0 on.

* For identification purpose only
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EERRES

Fees:

Transaction amount

during 8 October
2016 to 7 October
2017

Transaction amount
during 8 October
2017 to 31
December 2017:

Annual cap:

Beijing Guorui Property shall bear the following
expenses, disbursements, costs and fees, which
are paid by AOCEAN Property Management in
advance and settled between the parties quarterly:

o the expenses incurred in the course of
providing services to the property, including
all supplies, materials and labour costs;

o disbursements including the costs incurred
for external wall cleaning, floor brightening,
maintenance of the exterior greenery as well
as power charges and replacement costs of
facilities;

o the costs of acquiring the fixed assets,
equipment and facilities necessary for the
additional services if Beijing Guorui Property
requests AOCEAN Property Management
to provide additional services or themed
activities related to sales; and

o the relevant taxation and profit margin of 10%
over the actual costs and expenses incurred in
the course of managing the property.

RMB4,587,555 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,291,000)

RMB896,988 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,034,000)

For the three years ending 7 October 2018
are RMB12,048,000, RMB13,253,000 and
RMB14,578,000, respectively

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 27 November 2015
and approved by independent shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company held on 11 January

2016.
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Note 1:

Note 2:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

it =B EH E M % 2 7 (Beijing Guorui
Property Development Company Limited*, or
“Beijing Guorui Property”, which together with
its subsidiaries, as the "Beijing Guorui Group")
is a connected person of the Company by virtue
of Mr. Wei Chunxian (the Chairman, executive
director and the controlling shareholder of the
Company) being a director and the controlling
shareholder of Beijing Guorui Property, holding
approximately 91% equity interest (the remaining
equity interest of approximately 9% being held
by Mr. Sun Zhongmin (an executive director of
the Company)) and each of Mr. Sun Zhongmin
and Ms. Liu Shuhua (an executive director of
the Company) being a director of Beijing Guorui
Property. Since t mBIE Z £ AFR Q7 (Beijing
Guolong Property Company Limited* or “Beijing
Guolong”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Beijing Guorui Property, Beijing Guolong is also a
connected person of the Company.

The previous annual caps were reviewed and
revised by Directors pursuant to first supplement
agreement and second supplement agreement
which both dated 20 October 2017. Both revisions
of annual caps (the “Revisions of Annual Caps”)
were confirmed, approved and ratified by
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) on 19 December 2017.

To rationalize the transaction arrangement and
to improve the operation and management
efficiency, the parties entered into the new
conditional agreement (the “2018 New Heat
Supply Services Agreement”) on 20 October 2017
for the three years commencing on 1 January
2018. The heat supply services provided under
the former heat supply services agreements
was sourced from independent third parties
by AOCEAN Property Management and would
continue to be sourced from independent third
parties by AOCEAN Property Management under
the 2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement.
Upon the 2018 New Heat Supply Services
Agreement becoming effective on 1 January
2018, it supersedes the Beijing Guorui Property
Heat Supply Services Agreement and Beijing
Guolong Heat Supply Services Agreement, and
the same ceases to have any effect.
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Note 3: To rationalize the transaction arrangement and
to improve the operation and management
efficiency, AOCEAN Property Management
and Beijing Guorui Property entered into new
agreement (the “2018 New Property Management
Agreement”) on 20 October 2017 in respect of the
provision of management services of the vacant
units and units occupied by the Beijing Guorui
Group within the residential and commercial
property projects of the Beijing Guorui Group
for the three years commencing on 1 January
2018. Upon the 2018 New Property Management
Agreement becoming effective on 1 January
2018, it supersedes the Beijing Guorui Property
Management Agreement and Beijing Guolong
Property Management Agreement, and the same
ceases to have any effect.

Note 4: To rationalize the transaction arrangement and
to improve the operation and management
efficiency, AOCEAN Property Management and
Beijing Guorui Property entered into the new
conditional agreement (the “2018 Kingdom Guorui
Sales Office Management Agreement”) on 20
October 2017 for the three years commencing
on 1 January 2018 in respect of the provision of
property management services, sales related
services and ancillary services to the sales
office and ancillary areas of the property project.
Upon the 2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office
Management Agreement becoming effective on 1
January 2018, it supersedes the Kingdom Guorui
Sales Office Management Agreement and the
same ceases to have any effect.

For the details of Revisions of Annual Caps, the
2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement, 2018
New Property Management Agreement and the
2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management
Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 October 2017 and 19
December 2017 and circular dated 24 November
2017.
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Continuing connected transactions
subject to annual review and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A.60 of the

Listing Rules

Ruilai Tenancy Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Premises:

Term:

Rent:

Actual transaction
amount during 31
August 2017 to 31
December 2017

Usages:

Management fee:

12 January 2017 (as amended on 7 July 2017)

(1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord) (Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ruilai Recreational Fitness Company
Limited ('Ruilai Recreational') (as tenant)

Second Floor, Block B1-B2, Jinchang'an Building,
No. 82 Donghuan 4th Road Central, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC (#3t R 815 & R R U # & B
82% & RZ AEB1-B2IE2/E%) of a total gross area
of approximately 2,160 square metres.

1 February 2017 to 31 August 2019

approximately RMB328,542 per month

The annual rental payment payable by Ruilai
Recreational to Guorui Property Development are
as follows:

Annual rental amount 4
(approx. in RMB) (FAEE)
(approx. in HKD) (#871)

RMB1,251,591
(equivalent of approximately HK$1,443,000)

Fitness centre

Ruilai Recreational shall pay a property
management fee to R EAHEERER D
A (AOCEAN Business Management Company
Limited), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, of approximately RMB45,995 per month
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From
1 February 2017
to 31 January 2018

From
1 February 2018
to 31 January 2019

From
1 February 2019
to 31 August 2019

—E-tf —E-\E ZE-hE
—_R-HE% —A-HZ% —_R-H%
—E-N\% ZE-N\% ZE-N\%
-A=t-H -A=1-H NA=1-H
Annual management  FEEHEELHE
fee amount
(approx. in RMB) (WARE) 551,940 551,940 321,965
(approx. in HKD) (#%7) 633,771 633,771 369,700
Actual transaction ~ RMB173,570 RZE—tFN AR¥1735707T
amount during 31 (equivalent of approximately HK$200,000) A=+—8 (HER#200,000% )
August 2017 to 31 FZ2—+
December 2017 F4+- A
=f+-B2
B

Ruilai Recreational is owned as to 80% by the
Company and 20% by Xinrong (Beijing) Investment
Fund Management Company Limited (2 £t R)
wEELERAMRARD M), which is a company
established in the PRC and indirectly wholly-owned
by an associate of Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun. As stated
in Note 1, Beijing Guorui Property is a connected
person of the Company. As such, the provision
of property management services by AOCEAN
Business Management to Ruilai Recreational
under the Ruilai Tenancy Agreement and the
Ruilai Tenancy Agreement constitute connected
transactions under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.
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(2)

(3)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Ronghua Travel Tenancy Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Premises:

Term:

Rent:

Usage:

12 July 2014

(1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord) (Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ronghua Tiandi International Travel
Agency Company Limited (‘Ronghua Travel')
(as tenant)

No. 1008, Unit 2, Block 2-1, Block 2, No. 82,
Dongsihuan Road Central, Chaoyang District,
Beijing, PRC (#1t R 1 #1 15 2 & 1035 & J5 82 5%
28 2-1 2 E 0 1008) of a total gross area of
approximately 86 square meters.

from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2019

free of charge

registered office of Ronghua Travel

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

Ronghua Advertising Tenancy Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Premises:

Term:

Rent:

Usage:

30 June 2014
(1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord) (Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ronghua Tiandi Advertising Company
Limited ("Ronghua Advertising') (as tenant)

No. 802, Unit 1, Block 2-1, No. 82 Dongsihuan
Road Central, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC (#1t
RTSEHERDRSEE2%2-1 818 T8025)
of a total gross area of approximately 86 square
meters.

1 July 2014 to 30 June 2019

free of charge

registered office of Ronghua Advertising

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

(2)

(3)
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(4)

Crystal Tree Tenancy Agreement
Date: 1 August 2016 (as amended on 7 July 2017)
Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord) (Note 1)

(2) Beijing Crystal Tree Commercial Management
Company Limited ('Crystal Tree") (as tenant)

Premises: No. 12, Block 1, No. 69 Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC (#3t 7 1h & k5 & 835 2693} 1
12125%) of a total gross floor area of approximately
2,000 square meters.

Term: 3 years from 1 August 2016

Rent: free of charge

Usage: registered office of Crystal Tree and operation of

spa center

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

Ronghua Travel, Ronghua Advertising and Crystal
Tree are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company. As stated in Note 1, Beijing Guorui
Property is a connected person of the Company.
As such, Ronghua Travel Tenancy Agreement,
Ronghua Advertising Tenancy Agreement and
Crystal Tree Tenancy Agreement constitute
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of a
shareholder loan

Interest on loan from a shareholder

Date of supplemental 24 August 2016
agreement:
Parties: (i) the Company

(i) Wintime Company Limited
(“Wintime”) , a company beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian as to
100% and a controlling shareholder
of the Company

Principal amount: HK$250,000,000

Terms: Three years from the date of
draw-down of the relevant shareholder
loan or such other date as mutually
agreed by Wintime and the Company
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Purposes of
shareholder loan:

Interest rate:

(2) Date of supplemental
agreement:

Parties:

Principal amount:

Terms:

Purposes of
shareholder loan:

Interest rate:

Total drawdown
loan amount at 31
December 2017:

Interest during the
year:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

For financing the working capital
requirement of the Group in connection
with its property acquisition and
development

2% per annum

24 November 2017

(i) the Company

(i) Wintime Company Limited
(“Wintime”) , a company beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian as to
100% and a controlling shareholder
of the Company

HK$1,500,000,000

Three years from the date of
draw-down of the relevant shareholder
loan or such other date as mutually
agreed by Wintime and the Company

For financing the working capital
requirement of the Group in connection
with its property acquisition and
development
2% per annum

approximately HK$625,280,000

approximately HK$3,778,000 accrued
interest not yet paid

EERGRES

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions
which were undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. For those related party transactions that
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than
those described in the section above headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”)
under the Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt
from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BREX BRAEEMERBRARR
B# : HEREEES
F& FE2%
(2) wWRWE —E—tF+-A=fmHmA
A
HEVE (i) KARF
(i) Wintime Company
Limited ([Wintime]) -
ADEERBR R E S
F100%EZHEEZ A
N 1,500,000,0007% 7T
ROEBARREERZHR
Wintime£2 A2 & £ [& % & 1)
HiHSRASE=F
BREZ BREEMERBRARR
B# : HEELEEES
Flx FE2%
RZE—+  #)625,280,000/%5 7T
F+—-A
=f+—-HE
REEX
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company
have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions undertaken by the Group were
entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial
terms or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes it
to believe that the continuing connected transactions (a)
have not been approved by the Board; (b) were not, in all
material aspects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions,
in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this Report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At as the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Pursuant to a construction loan agreement (the
“Construction Loan Agreement”) entered into by
and among East Pacific Properties LLC (“East Pacific
Properties”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company as borrower, the Company as guarantor and
a licensed bank as lender (the “Lender”) effective on
27 September 2016, the Lender has agreed to provide
a bank loan (the “Loan”) in an aggregate amount of
not exceeding eighteen million United States Dollars
(US$18,000,000.00) which shall be used to finance the
direct construction costs and related expenses of the
residential and retail buildings and relevant structures to
be constructed on the land in Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 in
Block 4 of The Chelsea Green Tract in the City of Santa
Monica, County of Los Angeles, State of California of
the US. The Loan shall be repaid in full on or before the
maturity date (the “Maturity Date”), which is two (2) years
after the day on which the Lender first advanced all or a
portion of the Loan to East Pacific Properties. The Maturity
Date may be extended twice, for periods of one year
each, if there is no event of default then existing and East
Pacific Properties has paid the Lender an extension fee as
stipulated in the Construction Loan Agreement.

Pursuant to the Construction Loan Agreement, it shall
constitute an event of default if Mr. Wei Chunxian, the
controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to
it under the Listing Rules), an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company, does not maintain direct
management in East Pacific Properties under which
circumstance the Lender may in its absolute discretion
declare all amounts owing by East Pacific Properties under
the Construction Loan Agreement immediately due and
payable.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of
corporate governance so as to ensure better transparency
of the Company, protection of shareholders’ and
stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value. In
the opinion of the Board of the Company, the Company
had complied with all code provisions set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of
publication of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of the directors, all of the directors have
complied with, for any part of the accounting year covered
by this annual report, the required standard set out in the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”
and “Related Party Transactions” of this annual report,
there were no contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year, and in which
a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest, nor there were any other contracts of significance
in relation to the Company’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
businesses.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefits schemes of the Group
are set out in Note 2.4 (headed “Employee Benefits
(pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 have been audited by Ernst & Young.
A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017 were approved by the
Board on 29 March 2018.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B|IAZBENRE S

To the members of GR Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 249,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

BIAZBERE S

HEBEXER

RERFANFEHE  BREZFASRM
ERANGAMBHRRTREENER -
HEEHRRAERMEERRAVBRERE
BEMERERBETEED MAEH
HEEEEFERER - TXHARMY
BMEREATEEZTENER -

BPMEBITARE [ ZBE B GRS HB
BERAENEEZI-HAEANEE  BHE
MZEEEMNEMT Bt - AANFSE
BRTREESEAMBRRENERAR
MAFEMERNET B EFNERERE
REATEENET  REMAMBEN N
EMBREANETERIRFEER -

FERE 2017 HSEESRAT 129



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZEE RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At 31 December 2017, the
Group had trade receivables of

approximately HK$25,429,000 in

aggregate, which mainly arose
from the provision of property
management services and

leasing of investment properties.

Significant management’s
judgements and estimates were
involved in determining the
recoverability of these trade
receivables for impairment
assessment.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 19 to the financial

statements.

We reviewed the ageing
analysis and historical
settlement records of trade
receivables to obtain an
understanding of settlement
pattern, the historical
percentage of delay in
settlements and bad debts to
assess the reasonableness of
the provision for impairment
of trade receivables made
by the Group. We also

tested the accuracy of the
ageing analysis of the trade
receivables prepared by the
Group and re-performed the
calculation of impairment
provided to assess the
arithmetical accuracy.

We circulated and obtained
direct debtor confirmations on
a sample basis or subsequent
settlement as alternative
procedures to ensure the
existence of the trade
receivables.

We considered the
adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in the financial
statements in connection
with the impairment of trade
receivables.

130 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

MEEXERE)
TEFHFE BB IS EEF
HEE

B 5 W R 696 (8 F 15

R-_ZE—+F+_-A
- +t—H E£8%
SERWKEBEBAFTHA
25,429,000 7t * £ *
EESARMMEER
RERHAEREDE -

RHEFGEEEZFE
5 WO ) B 3 Y1k
S R ENE R E
R bt o

R E SRR
MsE3 &% 19 e

RMERE S EWR
Rk DT B RSN
BATRENERN &
B RIRRRABEL
BIAREE EEBEME
0 E 5 & W FIRREE
BHREN - BT
B ERERHAMNES
JE W K08 B ik 0 AT HO 2
Mt YW EHTEME

BTS2
el .

B A RS B i
EEERESARRE
SHAEEMNEARRE
AR B 5 M 3
B -

ZMEEE ESER
BHEBRETERESE
WRERENRENZ

=T



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the

key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties and a building

At 31 December 2017, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s
investment properties and a
building (the “Building”), which
is included in property, plant
and equipment, amounted to
approximately HK$470,948,000
and approximately
HK$810,953,000, respectively,
and represented 53% of the
total assets of the Group in
aggregate.

In accordance with the
accounting policy of the Group,
the investment properties and
the Building are stated at fair
value and a revalued amount

in the consolidated financial
statements, respectively. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the
valuation for the investment
properties and the Building.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3, 13 and 14 to the
financial statements.

We considered the
objectivity, independence
and competence of the
valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology
adopted by the valuers and
evaluated the data used

as inputs for the valuations
and performed market
value benchmarking against
comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to

assist us in evaluating

the assumptions and
methodologies for valuation
of the investment properties
and the Building held by the
Group.

We considered the
adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in the financial
statements in respect of fair
value measurement of the
investment properties and
the Building.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
|/ ZHEN RS E

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Bz S E S

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ e ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ? BRESTERMNSG
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, IEVEﬁ%Eﬁ WIR BTG ETR
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether B OATREGEHEHESEHXERERE
a material uncertainty exists related to events or MEATHEEN WAkl BE5£E
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the SELENEENBERERRE - 1R
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. BMRAGEENTHEENE - ABH
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, EEZHBMFETIRBFERAEBE
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s AV RRPOEBEEEZEERS &
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated EEBWEEERTRE  BIRMALHA
financial statements or, if such disclosures are 3Eﬂ1%‘”ﬁﬁél’7’f?%lﬁﬂi$ﬁ¢ A9
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions Eﬁ%%b”\@iﬁ%ﬁﬁi#&i B 1k FTER
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the BHERE - AW - KRREHHE
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events /R—J R @Z E%IT LU BB
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 2o

continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and e AEHRE M BEmANERS mA R
content of the consolidated financial statements, HEHELRND  BREEZER - ARER
including the disclosures, and whether the BV BBREEGAARBRRSESE
consolidated financial statements represent the I8 o

underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence e B OEEEERAERIINTBE

regarding the financial information of the entities or ﬂﬁéﬂiﬁ CEEMERIRE  AH
business activities within the Group to express an EHEHMRERER - BRMBEEE
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. éf CEBRHITEESER c RMHE
We are responsible for the direction, supervision SAERAEL2HESE -

and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, HFEBFZE8EBERTLABAEE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of RI%H  EBABHEREEE - BERMAR
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 255t A0 78 &8 Bl 08012 &I &9 (£ Al B R ERFE ©
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement FH MBI ESFEZTE LIRS ER - 5 B H M
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements A EEBIUENABEEZ K - WA
regarding independence and to communicate with them HEBBRMAAEMERAESEEHME
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably S M®EEREMEBEIE - LA R (4@ A) 8
be thought to bear on our independence, and where BB #0358 ©

applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is CHENG, Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower,

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central,
Hong Kong

29 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEax

Year ended 31 December 2017 EZE—F—+F+=-H=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt & FETT FEIT
(Restated)
(&%)
REVENUE KA 5 229,822 216,392
Other income and gain, net HE AR - F58E 6 17,490 1,633
Cost of inventories sold FELEKA (20,502) (21,598)
Employee benefit expenses EIRANER (89,532) (89,018)
Marketing expenses EIHER (441) (639)
Depreciation and amortisation #1 & & & 4 (25,244) (21,083)
Utilities, repairs and NEEFE BERRER
maintenance and rental HEEA
expenses (114,317) (95,768)
Other operating expenses HEmgE B A (35,895) (44,988)
Fair value loss of investment & WERAFEEE -
properties, net et 14 (20,552) (9,155)
Finance costs B E A 7 (8,462) (1,584)
Loss on disposal of HEMBRAFNEIE
subsidiaries 34 — (1,587)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BATE A 8 (67,633) (67,395)
Income tax credit FSHLE % 11 2,619 2,032
LOSS FOR THE YEAR KEEEE (65,014) (65,363)
Attributable to: TH AT -
Shareholders of the Company &2 &% & (65,014) (62,798)
Non-controlling interests R E = — (2,565)
(65,014) (65,363)
LOSS PER SHARE AATRR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EBtERER
SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted (HK$) EXR#E(ETT) (0.045) (0.045)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SxmiaER

Year ended 31 December 2017 EZ—F—+F+=-A=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—+t5F AN
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M i FET FET
(Restated)
(&E7))
LOSS FOR THE YEAR KEEEE (65,014) (65,363)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HinZ2mEUW A
INCOME
Other comprehensive income/ X & 2 [&] #5 & %7 7 48
(loss) to be reclassified to HEwm B E M
profit or loss in subsequent PE W (EE)
periods:
Exchange differences: ME N Z
— Translation of foreign — BERIIMNEEEE
operations 97,406 (87,376)
— Reclassification —SAEBEEZ
adjustments upon HEWNB QRN
disposal of subsidiaries BN ERAE
included in profit or loss 34 — 15,942
97,406 (21,434)
Other comprehensive income/ X #& BT & E# 745
(loss) not to be reclassified to  # 18 75 #7 B b
profit or loss in subsequent ZE W (EE) -
periods:
Change in fair value of BFATFEESD
a building 13 22,498 155,352
Income tax effect in respect EBFRAFEES 2
of change in fair value of a Frisfis &
building o8 (5,625) (38,803)
16,873 116,549
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AFEHMZMH
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, W - HBR T8 B
NET OF INCOME TAX 114,279 95,115
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEERHRELE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 49,265 29,752
Attributable to: TH AL EA -
Shareholders of the Company 72 &) J& & 49,265 32,317
Non-controlling interests IE 2 B A 25 — (2,565)
49,265 29,752
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wRe MBI R

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=A=+—A

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
—E—+F —E-RF —E-RF
+=—B=+-8B +t=ZA=+—8H —H—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iia=3 FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(lmE5) (mE5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment #1 % « & & & i & 13 828,589 771,390 668,463
Investment properties HEWME 14 470,948 405,199 188,506
Intangible assets BREE 15 942 772 58
Non-current deposits E ) H e 16 145,491 1,545 1,849
Total non-current assets FRBEEARS 1,445,970 1,178,906 858,876
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development &/ #) % 17 154,986 104,716 91,006
Inventories GE 18 5,446 5,213 3,731
Trade receivables W E 5 IR R 19 25,429 20,373 20,508
Prepayments, deposits and BB HIE 7&Kk
other receivables ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂ&z = 16 14,991 15,593 4,150
Due from related companies [ U B 3 A & 508 20 1,970 3,380 1,225
Other tax recoverables Hip Uy B R 1A 3,463 128 —
Pledged bank deposit BEHETER 21 39,636 38,800
Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RREEEY 21 723,891 290,574 248,237
Total current assets MEEEAR 969,812 478,777 368,857
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables ERE SRR 22 63,724 33,477 14,501
Receipts in advance AU R IE 72,821 65,121 54,462
Other payables and accruals ﬁﬁt%ﬁ AN
BRER 23 143,202 59,850 46,592
Due to a director B —RESZHA 24 862 861 —
Due to a shareholder JIE 1< A% SR RNIB 24 3,778 1,376 —
Due to related companies JEEE N R RE 20 76,899 24,708 41,260
Bank borrowings RITER 25 201,477 132,264 —
Income tax payables e SR 1,528 2,037 4,512
Other tax payables H i & 1 7 I8 1,212 2,233 6,034
Total current liabilities MEBBESR 565,503 321,927 167,361
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETFHE 404,309 156,850 201,496
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,850,279 1,335,756 1,060,372
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o U WS

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
—E—tF AN —T-REF
+=ZA=+—-B +t=ZA=+—H —A—A
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit FET FHET FAET
(Restated) (Restated)
(feE5) (mE5)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 7B &E
Bank borrowings RITER 25 - 5,268 —
Loans from a shareholder JE Ut A% 3R 5078 26 625,280 61,458 —
Preference shares of LN ENEIR =S
a subsidiary 27 16,534 15,376 —
Deferred tax liabilities REHEEGE 28 99,641 98,898 80,503
Total non-current liabilities  3ER &) & (E 425 741,455 181,000 80,503
Net assets EBEFRE 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to BEERAAT
shareholders of % R 9 RE 2
the Company
Share capital W 2K 29 1,780,663 1,219,965 1,115,590
Perpetual convertible bonds 7k A 14 7] # f% (& % 31 82,084 — —
Reserves i 32(a) (753,923) (58,982) (128,391)
1,108,824 1,160,983 987,199
Non-controlling interests R — (6,227) (7,330)
Total equity B ERE 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
PaE 21
Director Director
e e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2017 EZE—F—+F+=-H=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wit FET FET
(Restated)
(m&E7))
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELENRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax T4 B &5 18 (67,633) (67,395)
Adjustments for: HEIER
Finance costs BB AR 7 8,462 1,584
Bank interest income RITHIEIA 6 (2,259) (951)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBERRNER 34 — 1,587
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - HER
property, plant and equipment REEEMEE 8 19 7
Depreciation e 8 25,070 20,968
Amortisation of intangible assets i/ & & i #4 8 174 115
Fair value loss of investment REMEAFEER
properties, net FH 14 20,552 9,155
Equity-settled share option DREEE-ZERN
expense of a consultant BREER 8 1,167 —
Impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 BRFOR(E 8 2,520 1,850
Operating loss before working LELZSEHAH
capital changes meEE (11,928) (33,080)
Decrease in non-current deposits  3F 81 8377 7 — 227
Increase in properties under GEEEIES D
development (49,347) (13,675)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  Z &35 4,/ (3& M) 153 (1,804)
Decrease/(increase) in trade EWRESEZRD/(Em)
receivables (5,897) 1,242
Decrease/(increase) in BNRIE -FTek
prepayments, deposits and Hip e Fm o,/ (Em)
other receivables 8,511 (12,621)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts JE W = N ) 5RIE
due from related companies W/ (Em) 1,688 2338
Increase in other tax recoverables i & U 7 18 3% i (3,194) (117)
Increase in trade payables T8 58 3Em 27,744 20,787
Increase in receipts in advance T8 U 138 12 0 2,607 15,290
Increase in other payables and Hip e RAMEREREM
accruals 7,041 4,012
Increase/(decrease) in amounts JE T #3& A A 5UR
due to related companies #m,/ Ci ) 1,142 (1,911)
Increase in amount due to a director JEff — %% 5 F A N 1 859
Decrease in other taxes payables — H fth & 4 i B 5 4 (1,162) (1,826)
Cash used in operations AREenRe (22,641) (20,279)
USA withholding tax paid EREEBAH (479) (124)
PRC corporate income tax paid BRFRECEMEH (2,151) (3,211)
Net cash flows used in REEEHERN
operating activities RenEFsE (25,271) (23,614)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
eRERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-Z

G = el

2017 2016
—E—-tF ZE-RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wit FET FHET
(Restated)
(rE5)
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHELENRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUH B 2,259 951
Deposit paid for acquisition of ENEBEEEF ES
a commercial building (143,861) —
Consideration paid for the REFEREEFHRHNYE
acquisition of a building
in prior years (402,994) —
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BEK
plant and equipment REHE 13 (2,654) (14,694)
Additions to investment properties HEREME 14 (58,096) (307,188)
Purchase of intangible assets BREEZEBE 15 (281) (866)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMHBRQFE 34 — 71,472
Net cash flows used in REGEHMAD
investing activities BenReFs (605,627) (250,325)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELNTERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Placing of new shares g el 29(a) — 105,579
Share issuance expenses RinETER 29 — (1,204)
Proceeds from exercise of TREREMGRE
share options 29(c) 5,250 —
Increase in pledged bank deposit B & #8717 17 20 12 0 (836) (38,800)
New bank loans MRITEK 35(b) 50,134 137,532
New loans from a shareholder i 5 4 4 E’J%ﬁ%ﬁ‘ 35(b) 695,178 207,701
Repayment of loans from BiE Hx%htﬁﬁ’]iém
a shareholder 35(b) (135,237) (140,549)
Proceeds from issue of preference 17 B 2 a8 % Ik
shares of a subsidiary PS5 1A — 15,376
Short term advances from BUE=FEHBR
independent third parties 72,873 9,448
Short term advances from BERNAEERBR
related companies 153,954 467
Repayment of short term advances fEERE N R R ALK
from related companies (108,410) (15,428)
Capital contributions from H&%JTW%
non-controlling equity holders FEIER R Hx%&éﬁ
of subsidiaries acquired
under common control - 3,860
Capital contribution to a subsidiary £ RZHI T A B R FTE
acquired under common control 349,407 39,038
Acquisition of non-controlling Wi m R
interests (48,027) (2,138)
Interest paid for bank loans BENBRTEHRFE 7 (3,937) (21)
Interest paid for an interest-bearing B A 7 H B R FH A F
advance from
a related company 7 (1,202) —
Payment of dividend TRMBARELRRES
of preference shares
of a subsidiary 7, 35(b) (1,112) (187)
Net cash flows from MEEFHELLN
financing activities BenResFs 1,028,035 320,674
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReReREX

Year ended 31 December 2017 EZE—F—+F+=-H=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E2-tF ZERF
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
Hi it FHET FET
(Restated)
(fe&7)
NET INCREASEINCASHAND HBEe¢REBEESZSEYUH
CASH EQUIVALENTS A 397,137 46,735
Cash and cash equivalents FNRELREEEY
at beginning of year 290,574 248,237
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ EXRE )P L H5
changes, net 36,180 (4,398)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £EXBE& R AL SEY
AT END OF YEAR 21 723,891 290,574
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1603, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder
Street, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities:

— property investment in the United Kingdom
(the “UK")

— property development and investment in the
United States of America (the “USA”)

— provision of property management services in
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC")

— operation and management of a leisure and
lifestyle experience center (the “Recreational
Center”) in Beijing, the PRC

At 31 December 2017, the immediate holding
company of the Company was Wintime Company
Limited (“Wintime”), which was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, and, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Winluck Global
Limited, which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B35 Rk At

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2017 are as

LAFIREERH(E)

EMEEWEATNEHR
KBE-Z—tF+-A=+—8L
FER - ARFTENBATNHE

follows: N
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued ordinary attributable to the
registration share capital/ Company Principal
Company name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect activities
HERAL/ ERA BRAEERE/ AAREEESEAN
1 BeEws ARER B GF: TEREED
East Pacific Properties LLC? Delaware, USA United States dollars — 100%  Property development
RERAE (US$") 23,250,000 and investment
23,250,000% 7T NEERRRE
GR Properties UK Limited* British Virgin Islands/UK  Pound sterling (“£")1 — 100% Property investment
ARRLHEE/EE EY NERE
IRERNEERERAA PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (“RMB”) - 100%  Provision of property
AOCEAN Property Management Bl /i & K% 50,000,000 management services
Company Limited"** Limited liability company A & #50,000,0007 RUMEEERY
EREADT
FIREHEEEEERATA PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 — 100% Operation of
Guorui Hotel Management*# e/ R E AR AR %40,000,0007C a leisure and lifestyle
Limited liability company experience center
BEREADT NS
ERERDL
FREENRERERLA PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 — 100% Property holding
Winzone Technology*# e/ R E AR AR #1,000,0007 nEHE
Limited liability company
BEREADT
FRKGHERERERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 — 100% Provision of spa
Crystal Tree* mE/RE AR AR 1,000,000 treatment service in
Limited liability company a leisure and lifestyle
BREANDT experience center
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries
(continued)

a Acquired during the year under a business
combination under common control

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or
another member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network

For identification purposes only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and a building which
have been measured at fair value and a revalued amount,
respectively, as further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2017.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE R

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company. Other than subsidiaries acquired under a
business combination under common control during
the year which are consolidated from the date when
the combining entities first come under the control
of the controlling shareholder of the Company, the
results of other subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date of acquisition, being the date on which
the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
shareholders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

148 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

2.1

R R (R

REER (&)
EARAEEIMEEEALRERE
TREZBHOFRARIBLERN - £
HREOHBAHWRETNRENE - K
SEEETRMARBEENGER &
&

(a) HWRETHMRRAESESE
e R

(b)y EHUARRHFELHNEN: K

(c) AEEHRRENMEBEERR
& o

f 8 A R B SR Ty iR A A B AE R
BEHERE - RRIELRZES T
EBaHRFRARBOME 2R (K
EEAHERBERENANRAEBK
REEHIT B#EGA AR - EAb K
BRARXEHEBERY  AASEHE
SEGREAMESAAR  REEZ
ZH1E L AR R B AR A AR o

BEahEM2ERENSARBLY S
BERARRRER M IR R
B B IR HIE RS EHR R AR
o AEEAFZRBAZIEXZEH
MFBEEENAE #am - WA -
XEBRERERNGEREF2HA
3 e

WMREENBRBER LR ZEH 8 =18
TETF-HXZHREE  AAKEE
EHFHEERTDAZEGWEKRET -
ff AR N E R RIEHIH A
ERZEHEREEIHERE -



2.1

2.2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements:

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 7
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax
HKAS 12 Assets for Unrealised
Losses
Amendments Disclosure of Interests in
to HKFRS 12 Other Entities: Clarification

included in Annual of the Scope of HKFRS 12
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016

Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has
had a significant financial effect on these financial
statements. Disclosure has been made in note
35(b) to the financial statements upon the adoption
of amendments to HKAS 7, which requires an entity
to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.

2.1

2.2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 R < BT =

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 ERMmERKENHETLE/Y

HONG KONG FINANCIAL HHEEL

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and REBW AR ZEEHRERPEFEAIA
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not T B MM B E AR E R FT ] RAEIEE]
yet effective, in these financial statements: ERBHREAER

Amendments to HKFRS 2

BB BT 5 R 2%k (53T K)
Amendments to HKFRS 4

BAEM B REEMNFAHE(EFTA)

HKFRS 9

BERY R EENFEIR

Amendments to HKFRS 9

BB FEHREEIR(EBFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

BEREVEREEDFE105 (BETR)
LEBEESFERF28H(ZF
——F)

HKFRS 15

BB R EERF155%

Amendments to HKFRS 15

BB B ELRBFE1E5 (BFTA)

HKFRS 16

BEY B mELERFE 165

Amendments to HKAS 40

BB G ERIB4058(BETA)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

EE(EBRGBHREREZED
— BEF22%R

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

EXE(HBRUBHREREZES)
— REE23W

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

—EFEES - NFHZ

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

DEERGEURGBEEZ KK

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

BB BREEREAFT IR E XK | —EIEFEEYFHRE
ERIEIS @ T A

Financial Instruments?

@ T A

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

IERENFIER B #1582

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

REZHAB LA LD R HNEEL &L TES

Revenue from Contracts with Customers!

ERP&# W'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers!

HEEBHBHREEI5RELE AW ]

Leases?

&

Transfers of Investment Property’

EEREYE

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’

SN GRANTCE

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

BT B F2 .2 1t JE %2
Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

FRMHWE ERE1RZER] R EF B U H WS ERIE 2857

F 52
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 RZZE-NF-—A—BzkziE&mH
1 January 2018 16 B FE BRI AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 2 RZZE—hF—-—A—Bskz’&H
1 January 2019 EHFE I AE R
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but 3 WA MR E R G A B B AT T
available for adoption RPN
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below:

(a) The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS
2 in August 2016 that address three main
areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based
payment transaction; the classification of a
share-based payment transaction with net
settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a
modification to the terms and conditions
of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-
settled share-based payments also applies
to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net
share settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its
entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that if the terms and conditions of a cash-
settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes
an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted for
as an equity-settled transaction from the date
of the modification. On adoption, entities are
required to apply the amendments without
restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if they elect to
adopt for all three amendments and other
criteria are met. The Group will adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

23 ERMERKREZHETEM
HREER(E)

B ERRANRENZEFR BN
BEEAWE-FERMT

(a) BAREFAMAER_ZT—ARF
NABMGHNEFBYEREE
Al 257 (& 5T A) Mt = K #8
B BERTHTENRSE
BUBRDSERNTARZNE
2. REEETEHUARND AR
BAFROBREEELMEBERNE T
TEHNABRN SERNRRZ S
(B FRGEERE) WD E
ARH AR SERTRAR S
B R M ARFER S B D 8B i
RetEERREEENER
R ERTRIET A - ZFEFT
R At E AN EE R
D RERMNREEBETOA
RIEMBEBRARNNARSEE N
Befn AR R - ZFIEET 3
A—EBISMER - ERFAET
iR - REBETTEARD
AERNFOHBEEMEN
HT RO AN AERMNK
RP(MBEFREERE) - &
BEEDBER/ABRAKNGEE AN
RERNRRZS W - ZF
ERTAREH A - MURESEE
VAR A7 7% ZBE A SR B B9 R 5K
NG AFTER] S EM R
B E AR BERMNRK
5 ZRXPHAETAHEER
N GEENR S AN - £ 58
KRR ZIERT R EFEL AR
HiF - BRFFEBERA - AR
EEPEAE ZBIERT AR
REMGH - AKEEHE =
E-NF-A-RABERBZF
E7] - ZFEFTERITIEH A
SEMBHRRELTMNEAF
o

FERE 2017 ESwESREAR 151



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(b)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the
final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together
all phases of the financial instruments project
to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions
of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS
9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not
restate comparative information and will
recognise any transition adjustments against
the opening balance of equity at 1 January
2018. During 2017, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment of the impact of the
adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts
relate to the classification and measurement
and the impairment requirements and are
summarised as follows:

(i) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the
adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a
significant impact on the classification
and measurement of its financial
assets. It expects to continue
measuring all its financial assets at
amortised cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 o P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL

23 ERMERKREZHETEM
HREER(E)

REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
(b) (continued)

(ii)

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment
on debt instruments recorded at
amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease
receivables, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through
profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be
recorded based on an expected credit
loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group
will apply the simplified approach and
record lifetime expected losses that
are estimated based on the present
values of all cash shortfalls over
the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group
will apply the general approach and
record twelve-month expected credit
losses that are estimated based on
the possible default events on its other
receivables within the next twelve
months.

(%)

(1)
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The Group expects that, due to the REEEFBHREES
unsecured nature of its trade and T E e U 5K TE B R

other receivables, the provision for
impairment of these receivables will
increase upon adoption of HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(c)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a
new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at
an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability
account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full
retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the
initial application of the standard. In June
2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKFRS 15 to address the implement issues
on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principal versus
agent and licences of intellectual property,
and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent
application when entities adopt HKFRS 15
and decrease the cost and complexity of
applying the standard. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 15 from 1 January 2018 and plans to
adopt the full retrospective approach. During
2017, the Group has performed a detailed
assessment on the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 15 and the expected impacts arising
from the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group
are summarised as follows:
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(c)

(continued)

The Group’s principal activities which
generated revenue during the year and are
within the scope of HKFRS 15 consist of
provision of property management services
and operation of the Recreational Center.
Currently, the Group recognises property
management income over time when services
are provided and recognises income
from operation of the Recreational Center
immediately after customers’ consumption
inside the Recreational Center. After
assessment, the current accounting policy for
recognition of property management service
income will still be an appropriate method
under HKFRS 15. In respect of the operation
of the Recreational Center, given the short
period of time to complete the services, the
Group will continue to recognise revenue
from these services when the services have
been rendered upon adoption of HKFRS 15.
Accordingly, the Group has determined that
there will not be any significant impact on
the Group’s financial position and financial
performance upon adoption of HKFRS 15.
The Group anticipates that the application of
HKFRS 15 may result in more disclosures in
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(d)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces
HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases
of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-
use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class
of property, plant and equipment to which
the revaluation model is applied. The
lease liability is subsequently increased to
reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees
will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required
to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change
in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise
the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. Lessor accounting under
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(d)

(continued)

HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors
will continue to classify all leases using the
same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases
and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees
can choose to apply the standard using
either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption, and is considering
whether it will choose to take advantage
of the practical expedients available and
which transition approach and reliefs will
be adopted. As disclosed in note 36(b) to
the financial statements, at 31 December
2017, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in aggregate of approximately
HK$13,851,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS
16, certain amounts included therein may
need to be recognised as new right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis,
however, will be needed to determine the
amount of new rights of use assets and lease
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not
limited to, any amounts relating to leases of
low-value assets and short term leases, other
practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and
new leases entered into before the date of
adoption.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in
April 2017, clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out
of investment property. The amendments
state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet, the
definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence
of a change in use. The amendments should
be applied prospectively to the changes
in use that occur on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendments. An
entity should reassess the classification of
property held at the date that it first applies
the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify
property to reflect the conditions that exist at
that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of
hindsight. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January
2018. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

()

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017,
provides guidance on how to determine
the date of the transaction when applying
HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity
receives or pays advance consideration in
a foreign currency and recognises a non-
monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange
rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part
of it) is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset (such as
a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such
as deferred income) arising from the payment
or receipt of the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. Entities may apply
the interpretation on a full retrospective basis
or on a prospective basis, either from the
beginning of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation or
the beginning of the prior reporting period
presented as comparative information in
the financial statements of the reporting
period in which the entity first applies
the interpretation. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation prospectively from
1 January 2018. The interpretation is not
expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(9)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017,
addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers
changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation is to be applied retrospectively,
either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement
of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from
1 January 2019. The interpretation is not
expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(h)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle, issued in March 2017, sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28. Except for the amendments to
HKFRS 12 which have been adopted by
the Group for the current year’s financial
statements, the Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2018. None
of the amendments are expected to have a
significant financial impact on the Group.
Details of the amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28 are as follows:

o HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards:
Deletes the short-term exemptions for
first-time adopters because the reliefs
provided in the exemptions are no
longer applicable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(h) (continued)

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures: Clarifies that
an entity that is a venture capital
organisation, or other qualifying
entity, may elect, at initial recognition
on an investment-by-investment
basis, to measure its investments
in associates and joint ventures at
fair value through profit or loss. If an
entity that is not itself an investment
entity has an interest in an associate
or joint venture that is an investment
entity, the entity may elect to retain
the fair value measurement applied
by that investment entity associate or
joint venture to the investment entity
associate’s or joint venture’s interests
in subsidiaries when applying the
equity method. This election is made
separately for each investment entity
associate or joint venture, at the later
of the date on which (i) the investment
entity associate or joint venture is
initially recognised; (ii) the associate
or joint venture becomes an investment
entity; and (iii) the investment entity
associate or joint venture first becomes
a parent. These amendments should
be applied retrospectively.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common
control are accounted for using the principle
of merger accounting in accordance with the
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations (“AG 5”) issued
by the HKICPA. Under the principle of merger
accounting, the consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statement items of the
acquired entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs from the date
when the acquired entities or businesses first come
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the acquired entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing book
values from the controlling party’s perspective.
No adjustments are made to reflect fair values,
or recognise any new assets or liabilities as a
result of the common control combination. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or
excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of the
contribution of the controlling party’s interest. All
differences between the cost of acquisition (fair
value of consideration paid) and the amounts at
which the assets and liabilities are recorded (net
of any reserves of the acquired entities) have
been recognised directly in equity as part of the
merger reserve. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
include the results of each of the acquired entities
or businesses from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the acquired entities or
businesses first come under common control, where
this is a shorter period.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=-A=+—A

24 FESHBEBE

EBatrmaE
REFZHTHEBESH

HAZEH THEBEBEHDIRESR

BRI ARMEMZ EFTIESIE5R
HEZEHE & Ea % ([ 851
SIESHDEBAMHEHRAARK -
REAHETRA  BREBERR
EGEEREGTEZESZBR - K8
RN GEAKRIES SO ELD
RBBEBEEXEXTOYHHRKRIEE -

BUBEEBXEHNEEFERLE
HTMARERREREELSA A

Bk o TR REKFHEREHHEL RN
RBMAFEXERTAREENLA
B ATEHREHEBBRLEBIN
WWB T AIBAIEE - BERIAE
BERAFEMEEDS HEXRZEFE
PHRF YRR (R TR HI T 25 B R
B) - WEAN(ENREZAFE)
Rz EERAGENERD KWE
ERZENRB EBEZIMEER
TEREHREE L —BNERRED
REER - WEMKARELERHE -

FAEEDEATERERERER
R EMERWKBEERNELKE
RELRERE RS HBEERER
EBOEE(UNEEHESE) -

FEHE 2017 ESEERLAT 163



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill

Other business combinations are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties
and a building at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than investment properties, properties under
development, inventories and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of a non-financial asset other than goodwill
is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person; (i) has
control or joint control over the Group; (ii) has
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is
a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a holding company of the
Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)y  the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity); and
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Except for a building, which is stated at a revalued
amount, being its fair value at the date of the
revaluation less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, other property,
plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Valuation in relation to the building is performed
frequently enough to ensure that its fair value
does not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Changes in the value of the building are dealt
with as movements in the property revaluation
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the
excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss.
Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously
charged. An annual transfer from the property
revaluation reserve to accumulated losses is made
for the difference between the depreciation based
on the revalued carrying amount of the building and
the depreciation based on the building’s original
cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the property revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
accumulated losses as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

2.4

Building

BT

Leasehold improvements

HEWMEEE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 20%
B REMPRAERME 10%£E20%
Motor vehicles 20%

e 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties include both completed
investment properties and investment properties
under construction.

Completed investment properties are interests in
shops, storerooms and parking spaces (disposed
of during the prior year — note 34) and an office
building (including the leasehold interest under
an operating lease for a property which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Properties under construction or development for
future use as investment properties are classified
as investment properties under construction. An
investment property under construction is measured
at cost, including transaction costs, until its fair
value becomes reliably measurable, at which time
such property is stated at its fair value at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of a completed investment property are recognised
in profit or loss in the period of the retirement or
disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rates of amortisation of
computer software are 10%-25%:

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases,
net of any incentives received from the lessor, are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and receivables. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included as interest income in
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=-A=+—A

24 FEBHBRIBE(E)

TREE(HE)

b4/

KEIEN& BERRYREARTE
EEANTHEENSREEAEE

ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁuﬂﬁ MREEVHRERE
BEEN—EAXZEFEHEREEX
@Eﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬂ@?ﬁﬁﬁ*mfﬁiumimw
ZEer] M hET - RIfFERE - BE
FRUAEEBAS —HEBAELE
BRUBEE  HERFEI RSN
- A PR BT BE B AR Sk 1T A A B 7
BHE - UREABRYEBERTERR
KREREHRAZERRLD - il
B 45 /R HE Bt B2 A9 AROR SR AR B R R B B

=4

= °

ERANBSBNATENSREE - &
EEEAETERETEREEEERPR
BARMER & FE E (@58 £ R E
BRITEANEREEERBEER
B MEALEEBRTLERHEIEE
AT ENENESMEE  EREAHE
& BERE AZEESTARSR
UEARRSEMNEeMEER 1Y
FE/NPNAETRETE - CETRE
ETER R ERERREEENE
BIEE » Fet ABERBEFEHF -

FERE 2017 BfEESRAR 175



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
operating expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings. All financial
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts
due to a shareholder and related companies,
loan from a shareholder, bank borrowings and

preference shares of a subsidiary.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or

cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying

amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to
be held for sale after completion of the property
development and are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to
properties held for sale.

Properties under development are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes cost of land together with any other
direct costs attributable to the development of the
properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on
prevailing market conditions less (i) anticipated
cost to completion of the development in respect of
properties under development; and (ii) estimated
costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

Perpetual convertible bonds

Perpetual convertible bonds, which are non-interest-
bearing and have no maturity date for which the
Group has no contracted obligation to repay the
principal, are classified as part of equity.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FERHBEBE(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(a) rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

(b)  from the rendering of property management
services and the provision of services in
relation to operation of the Recreational
Center, when the services have been
rendered;

(c) from the sale of goods in relation to operation
of the Recreational Center, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains either managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest rate method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Employee benefits (pension schemes)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by local municipal governments. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions vest fully once made and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are
expensed in the year in which they are incurred.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, the cash flows of certain overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
these entities which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions,
that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements and have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The policy for provision for impairment of trade
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
and on the estimation of the Group’s management.
A considerable amount of estimation is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor. If the
financial conditions of debtors were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their abilities to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
The carrying amount of trade receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2017 was approximately HK$25,429,000
(2016: approximately HK$20,373,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties and a building

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
and a building are assessed by management based
on property valuations performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers. The assumptions
adopted in the property valuations are based on
information of annual rental income, supported by (i)
the terms of any existing leases and other contracts;
and (ii) (when possible) external evidence such as
current market rents and recent prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the
investment properties and a building, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement
and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in notes 13
and 14(c) to the financial statements.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

E X w5t P Eq 044 & (48)

e B 5 X IE R E &5

NEEZEWE S FIERE R HK
FIHREER B 2 AT B M R R OBR
oW ARAEBEEBMEZMG
o RFEZERRRERRESE
B BEHKREME  EFBRES
EHAZE =BT RBEERK
ik MEBAT R REE » EF
HIEREE DRSS » AIATAE S BrEH %
INBERE - R—ZT—t+F+_A=+—
H HRAEMBERIAERAZEKRE S
IERHERE & %4 525,429,000/8 7T
—ZT N4 4920,373,0007T) ©

REMEREBEF QA FENMGE

AEERENERBFT ZRAFETH
BEEERBBEISEREXMGEME
h oz M EGER G - MEGERRA
MEBERDDERFEHSBRANER N
REABRAHEREME LD ER
TR AR (i) (@A [l &) b A
(G E 5 EE A RAR
MG THEUSENTRER) -

BRREDENEFRAFEMATHE
—HFEE  REATENERANE
DRELRBBEST - SRMBRE
B EE13 2 14(c)A °

FERE 2017 HESimEERAT 187



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=A=+—A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong, Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax
regulations and makes tax provision accordingly.
However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there
are many transactions and calculations, of which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, the differences
will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination
is made. The carrying amount of current income tax
payables carried as liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017 was approximately HK$1,528,000 (2016:
approximately HK$2,037,000).

Classification of properties under
construction between investment properties
under construction and properties under
development

The Group develops properties for future sale and/
or for future leasing to third parties to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is
made by management in determining whether a
property under construction is designated as an
investment property or a property held for future
sale. The Group considers its intention of holding
the properties at the early development stage of the
related properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Classification of properties under
construction between investment properties
under construction and properties under
development (continued)

During the course of construction, the related
properties under construction are accounted for as
properties under development included in current
assets if the properties are intended for sale after its
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction
included in non-current assets if the properties are
intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of construction of
the properties, the properties under development
intended for future sale are transferred to properties
held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value, while the properties that
are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation are transferred to completed
investment properties, which are stated at fair value
at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on the nature of their
services and has three reportable operating
segments as follows:

(a) the property development and investment
segment engages in (i) leasing of shops,
storerooms and car parking spaces in Fujian
Province, the PRC (disposed of in June
2016); (ii) property development and property
investment in the USA; and (iii) leasing of
office units in the UK;

(b)  the property management segment engages
in the provision of property management
services for office buildings, residential
properties and car parks in Beijing, the PRC;
and

(c) the operation of the Recreational Center
engages in the operation and management
of a leisure and lifestyle experience center in
Beijing, the PRC

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except
that loss on disposal of subsidiaries as well as head
office and corporate income and expenses are
excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude
unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets and liabilities are managed on a group
basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 o P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

4. EEWRREH(E)

Property development Operation of the
and investment Property management Recreational Center Total
NERERRE 43 KERDLEE ait
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tE ZI-RF IB-tf ZT-5%F ZE-tE CT-5F IE-tE I
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FE7 FE1 AT Az &7 FE1 273 FEr
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(1 E7) (&5 (1 E7)
Segment revenue RERA 10,212 6,902 142,121 131,225 77,489 78,265 229,822 216,392
Segment results U EY (43,174) (13,703) 8,183 5,741 (45,224) (32,718) (80,215) (40,680)
Reconciliation: B
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries X EKBAAMNEE - (1587)
Other unallocated income and gain ~ Eft & 5 EMA kM 15,689 1643
Corporate and other unallocated ~ AAREHALSEER
expenses (3,107) (26,771)
Loss before tax RaER (67,633)  (67,395)
Segment assets RREE 1,346,684 630409 138918 121626 867,650 826680 2,353,252 1578724
Reconciliation: HE:
Corporate and other unallocated  ARREHASEEE
assets
— Property, plantand equipment  —#9% BERRE 507 168
— Prepayments, deposits and —BHRE EHR
other receivables =) e 1,502 1,067
— Due from related companies LN 24 -
— Pledged bank deposit —EERRARR 39,636 38,800
— Cash and cash equivalents —BeREESEN 20,641 38,924
Total assets BEE 2415782 1,657,683
Segment liabilities RRER 872510 207404 122,392 87000 249589 206206  1,244491 500,709
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and other unallocated ~ AAREHASEAE
liabilities
— Other payables and accruals ~ — EfERF R
EiER 62,467 1822
— Income tax payables —ERAEHR - 39
Total liabilties BRE 1,306,958 502927
Other segment information: EpmRER
Impairment of trade receivables B BEMFER(E
— Operating segments —EERE - - 2,520 1850 - - 2,520 1850
Depreciation and amortisation HENEH
— Operating segments — RS 211 272 701 782 24,286 19,945 25,198 20,999
— Amount unallocated —AnkeE 46 84
25,244 21,083
Capital expenditure* BARR
— Operating segments —EERR 58,400 308,335 554 149 1,518 14,192 60,481 322676
— Amount unallocated —AEEE 550 7
61,031 322,748
Fair value loss of investment RENELTEEE
properties, net 58 20,552 9,155 - - - - 20,552 9,155
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to
property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and intangible assets, including assets
from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Geographical information of revenue from
external customers is not presented since
over 90% of the Group’s revenue from
external customers is generated in Mainland
China. Accordingly, in the opinion of the
directors, the presentation of geographical
information of revenue from external
customers would provide no additional useful
information to the users of the financial
statements.

(b) Non-current assets

EERREH(E)

. EAHAXBEDE BMERER
ZHRE REMENRETVEER
RRBEHBRARZEE) -

ith & &

(a) RENBEFHYA
fh 7 48 8.90% 7 4 (8 2K £ 41 &5
BE MR EAREEE -
R bt 3 48 51 9 5 B SR B S
B A i E AR o B -
EERA - IBE MRS
BEHRANBEEHTEA
B 1 3 2% 0 PR & R 4B 1
BH o

(b) ¥ HBEE

2017 2016

—2—+tF ZERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FET

(Restated)

('g&E7)

The UK 4 278,472 275,005
The USA ES 192,814 130,263
The PRC s 828,687 771,924
Hong Kong &5 506 168
1,300,479 1,177,360

The non-current asset information above is
based on the locations of the assets and
excludes financial instruments.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016, the Group had no single external customer
which contributed over 10% of the Group’s total
revenue for each of these years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

Revenue represents (i) the value of property
management services rendered, net of business
tax, value added tax and government surcharges;
(ii) gross rental income received from investment
properties; and (iii) the value of services rendered
and sales of goods in relation to operation of the
Recreational Center, net of business tax, value
added tax and government surcharges.
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B A

WARKOEHERBENEE(FIRE
EW O BERLBAMME) - ()R
BREMENDRESWALRE - &
(i) 4 fH 75 B AR 2 K P D B AR 75 )
HERmOEBEEIREER 18E
R BAEH &) -

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA DFWAT -
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—XF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(k&%)
Rendering of property REDMEEERS
management services 142,121 131,225
Gross rental income He W A®EzE 10,212 6,902
Rendering of services and sales of 12t A BF IR & D4 & 8
goods in relation to operation of R &S HEE &
the Recreational Center 77,489 78,265
229,822 216,392
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 6. HHWARIE ' B8
An analysis of other income and gain, net is as BEmWARKZ  FEIMHOT :
follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Bank interest income H|ATH B WA 2,259 951
Forfeiture of property REMHEEBRELZS
management fee deposits 2,606 —
Penalty income from tenants and K B 5 &4 EE S &
suppliers WA 266 162
Foreign exchange differences, net [E ¥ = & % & 11,818 —
Others H 541 520
17,490 1,633
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEBEEBEH
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSTWOT :
2017 2016
—E—t5F —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
(Restated)
(& &E5)
Interest on bank loans HRITE RH S 3,937 21
Interest on loans from RERENEFKFE
a shareholder (Note 26) (K1 :26) 2,211 1,376
Interest on a loan from a related KB — BB Q8 EHH
company (Note 38(a)(vii)) R B (H7a£38(a)(vii)) 1,202 —
Dividend of preference shares of HDEASFEEH
a subsidiary classified as BB A R E LR E
financial liabilities (Note 27) (Btitz7) 1,112 187
8,462 1,584
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LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. HuEHE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after AEERABRAENR, (BE2)T
charging/(crediting): 5| & 18
2017 2016
—E—tF NS
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ot &t FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Depreciation e 13 25,070 20,968
Amortisation of intangible & JiZ & & # 8%
assets 15 174 115
Loss on disposal of items HE&EWE - BE N
of property, plant and REEBWEE
equipment 19 7
Minimum lease payments KEHENRZEMRE
under operating leases M3k — L REF
in respect of land and
buildings 10,151 6,370
Employee benefit expense & B 18§ & A
(including directors’ (B1EE % & b
remuneration (Note 9)): (K1:3£9)) -
Salaries, allowances e 2R
and benefits in kind B A & 84,941 84,035
Pension scheme RIRE B X
contributions 4,591 4,983
89,532 89,018
Equity-settled share option — ZERM Z AR EE
expense of a consultant BlREER 30 1,167 —
Auditor’s remuneration % & 60 B & 1,850 1,250
Impairment of trade B E 5 B8R 5B A
receivables 19(b) 2,520 1,850
Foreign exchange X Z5 8
differences, net (11,818) 14,497
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9.

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed REBIAGESFLEMAANT LT
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of FA - FBCA B EH) 5 383(1)
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing (@) * (b) * () R(NEARCA R (R
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the BEMNZER)BROIDE2BEEHAR

EFHH

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of FEESEHFMOT :
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Group
rEH
2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Fees ks 686 666
Other emoluments: H At S BA
Salaries, allowances and e EBAMEWH &
benefits in kind 2,226 877
Pension scheme contributions RIKE FHEIH 5K 34 32
2,260 909
Total remuneration e ss 2,946 1,575

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a
named basis, is as follows:

EEHM (AR RERE) SHTMT

Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE-_Z2-+tH5+-HA=+-BLEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Name of director Fees in kind contributions remuneration
H&  EEA Bike
EEng we ENFZ TEER N4 5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors: HITEE :

Mr. Wei Chunxian RABTE 312 2,226 15 2,553
Ms. Liu Shuhua AmELL — - - -
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BhRERAE - — - -
312 2,226 15 2,553

Independent non-executive BV HHITEE :

directors:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric %4 125 - 6 131
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael* eIy 67 — 4 71
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit REELE 125 - 6 131
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung® BEEE k4 57 — 3 60
374 — 19 393
Total @it 686 2,226 34 2,946
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEFHM(ME)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-_Z-—A"E+-HA=+—HLEE
Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Name of director Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e R EiRe

EENA e EMHls HERE i@t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

FAET FAET FHET FHET
Executive directors: HITEFE:
Mr. Wei Chunxian RBEXE 300 877 15 1,192
Ms. Liu Shuhua AmELL _ _ _ _
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BHmR%E — — - —
300 877 15 1,192
Independent non-executive BUKHTEE :
directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ~ EAE L4 120 — 6 126
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael® BAE K& 25 — 1 26
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu* BERBREE 101 — 5 106
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RERLE 120 — 5 125
366 — 17 383

Total Bt 666 877 32 1,575

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2016: Nil).

o Appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 12 July 2017.

Appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 October 2016.

# Resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 12 July 2017.

Resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 October 2016.

FREEERNEARAERETCAHNSH
TH(ZT—KRF &) -

s R-ZZE—tFLtAT+T-_HEEZE
RARABILIFATES -

" RZZB-RF+ATLBEZE
RARRNBEIIERITES -
RAVBILIFATESE -

RS E-AETATARBER
RABIFNTEE -

FERE 2017 HESimEERAT 197



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 s P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A fiEmEHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year ANEE ANESFHFEERBRIE—Z
included 1 (2016: 1) director, details of whose ZE-RF —R)EZF - HFH
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of HEEXHFI - FRBTHE(ZF
the remuneration of the remaining 4 (2016: 4) non- —RNF B EENREHFEE
director, highest paid employees for the year are as ZHMEBOT
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Salaries, allowances and e ZMUNEDMNR
benefits in kind 3,621 2,447
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B R 216 143
3,837 2,590
The number of non-director highest paid employees FHERATHEANNIEEERS H
whose remuneration fell within the following bands BEMAZNT :
is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAB
2017 2016
—E-tF  —TAF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 2 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T &
1,500,0007% 7T 2 —
4 4
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INCOME TAX 11. P8R
An analysis of the Group’s income tax is as follows: AEERFECEEBOREHR TN
T

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—ARF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FET

(Restated)

(&)

Current — Mainland China B H — B K B 1,770 1,898
Current — USA BH—= 254 124
Deferred (Note 28) IR E (B 728) (4,643) (4,054)
Total tax credit for the year RNEEHIBR BB (2,619) (2,032)

No provision for Hong Kong and the UK profits tax
has been made as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong and the UK
during the year (2016: Nil).

The PRC corporate income tax provision in respect
of operations in Mainland China is calculated at the
applicable tax rates on the estimated assessable
profits for the year, based on the prevailing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

The USA corporate income tax provision
represented withholding tax provision calculated at
the applicable tax rate on interest income of intra-
group advances to subsidiaries in the USA for the
year, based on existing legislation, interpretations
and practices in respect thereof.

RAFEER  ARARELTEEST
MREERRBEELENEFRNE
At - W EL BB REENE R R
EH(ZTE-REFE) -

REEERTRAELEXEBNHE
R EFZ A ERR A BT
' URBEABORITAR  RBEM
HEER  RREBHEFE -

RERXBEEMEREMEERION
RERRAZENBRRIFLNEE
P A A TR 2R KA FI)B A B g A A R
REROMRITER RERERER
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FrigiR (¥&)

Y NN NYNCIDYE N SN
B E RNEEEROT AR,
(BR)MEERERFELNHIEAE
B/A(E%)  SBEREEBREFELLY
MBEROEER  ARERREE
AERE)MEREREOEERNOT ¢

11. INCOME TAX (continued) 11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit)
applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory
rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as
follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-_Z—tH&+-HA=+—HLEE

Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
i hE KK EL -3 &t
HK$000 % HK$°000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET FER TEx TEx TE%
Profit/(loss) before tax Banas|,/
) 10,880 (37,016) (3,563) (37,934) (67,633)
Tax expense/(credit) REEHEHEM
at the statutory tax rate REEx/
(E5) 1,797 165  (9,254) B0 (1425) 00 (7587) 00 (16,469) 204
Income not subject totax ~ EAMFEIMA (5,319) (48.9) (546) 15 - - - - (5,865) 8.7
Expenses not deductible T HHIHEH
for tax 25 3,517 32.3 1,350 (3.6) - - 5,354 (14.9) 10,221 (15.1)
Effect of withholding tax BNREGEER
on interest income HFSRAY
derived from the USA E% 254 23 - - - - - - 254 (0.4)
Tax losses not recognised ~ REDRHBEE 5 - 5,365 (14.5) 1,637 (46.0) 2,233 (5.9 9,240 (13.7)
Tax expense/(credit) atthe  RASHERRX
Group’s effective tax rate 5+ EHHE
R/ (EH) 254 23 (3,085) 8.3 212 (6.0) - - (2,619) 3.9
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INCOME TAX (continued) 11. R8N (4E)
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-ZE-R"E+-HA=t—-HLEE
Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
B PR AR e g At
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(=3) (=3) (&55))
Loss before tax RAEE (23,775) (28,191) (5,673) (9.756) (67.395)
Tax credit at the statutory AT HEHEH
fax rate BESH (3.923) 165 (704 50 (2269) 00 (1950) 00 (15191) 25
Income not subject to tax ~ EABFEMA (772) 32 (625) 2.2 (79) 14 (55) 06 (1,531) 23
Expenses not deductible T &K A
for tax 1] 4,691 (19.7) 59 21) - - 5 1) 529 7.9)
Effect of the PRC withholding ® BB % % &
tax on rental income from  HENENHE
investment properties LON:F% - - 54 (0.2) - - - — 54 (0.9)
Effect of withholding tax BNREGEER
on interest income HFSRAY
derived from the USA b4 4 — — — — 124 (22) — — 124 02
Effect of the PRC HEHBRRZ
withholding tax on PEBRNH
disposal of subsidiaries 158 - - 3% (14 - - - - 39 (0.6)
Tax losses not recognised ~ REZHBEE 4 — 4471 (15.9) 2348 (41.4) 2,001 (20.5) 8,824 (13.1)
Tax expense/(credit) at the  HAEEEEKE
Group's effective tax rate s EMHE
B8/ (85) — — (2,156) 77 124 (2.2) — - (2,032) 30
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BERFLFIERHEEREB

TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount
is based on the loss for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, and the weighted
average number of 1,448,547,818 (2016: 1,405,401,905
(restated)) during the year on the assumption that
the 540,000,000 ordinary shares issued as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wholly Express
Limited, which is a business combination under
common control during the year as further detailed
in note 33 to the financial statements, have been in
existence from the earliest date presented in these
financial statements, (i.e., 1 January 2016).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the perpetual convertible bonds
outstanding during the year ended 31 December
2017 had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share amounts presented for these years.

"

EREAEBEBSEDNIREADRRK
HEGFAEBTE  UREAFER
B HNAE S 15 81,448,547 818X (= &
— N4 1,405,401,9050% (& & 51]))
T3 18 58 540,000,000 i% 2 3% 17 & B %
AU BEWholly Express Limited (/& 4F
WERESI T 2 EBE 0 - #E— 25
BRI BIMRM EINREZ — &%
BZEVBEHREREVNEVEBHED
GEBAIZZE—XR"F—A—HB)FfHE -

HEZZ—+tHFRZZT—AFT+=A
=+ HIEFER2INESRELREIS
SRV ERNEEMELAE AR
HE-_ZT—+tHF+-A=+—HIEF
EREEBKANBRBEFZFEHZ
EFEMEICERERNGESESR
R#EETE -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

13. X HWERRM

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Building improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HENE GA - 2EAN
BF 28 BOERR RE fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET FET
(Note)
(i)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-E-tE15
:+_E¢¢E
At 1 January 2017, as restated: RZE-t5-A-B H&j):
Cost or valuation RAEE 782,798 6,844 19,808 2,563 812,013
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (30,768) (917) (7,465) (1,473) (40,623)
Net carrying amount SHTE 752,030 5,927 12,343 1,090 771,390
Net carrying amount: BRFE:
At 1 January 2017, as restated RZF-tE-f-B LE] 752,030 5,927 12,343 1,090 771,390
Additions g1 - 845 1,809 - 2,654
Depreciation provided REHRNE
during the year (19,419) (1,611) (3,714) (326) (25,070)
Disposals e - - (19) - (19)
Surplus on revaluation EfBH 22,498 - - - 22,498
Exchange realignment ERAZ 55,844 405 818 69 57,136
At 31 December 2017 RZ%- fﬁ
T-8= 810,953 5,566 11,237 833 828,589
At 31 December 2017: RZF-tE
TZR=t+-8:
Cost or valuation RS EE 864,255 8,208 22,969 2,756 898,188
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (53,302) (2,642) (11,732) (1,923) (69,599)
Net carrying amount SEFE 810,953 5,566 11,237 833 828,589
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

13. Y% -BWE R ()

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Building  improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEME HA - KEN
BF kB BAERE B GHI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TET TET TET TET TET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(EE3) (EE3) (B3 (B3 (EE3)
(Note)
()
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-E-R"ETCH
St-BLEE
At 1 January 2016: RZE-7E-f-H:
Cost or valuation AAGEE 674,707 600 14,323 4,462 694,092
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (17,096) (553) (5,390) (2,590) (25,629)
Net carrying amount SEEE 657,611 47 8,933 1872 668,463
Net carrying amount; BHEE -
At 1 January 2016 RZE-7E-A-H 657,611 47 8,933 1,872 668,463
Additions Em — 6,930 7,764 — 14,694
Depreciation provided REHRNE
during the year (16,808) (775) (2,974) (411) (20,968)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34)  HEMBAR(H734) (2,465) - (619) (282) (3,366)
Disposals e - - (14) - (14)
Surplus on revaluation EffRH 155,352 — - - 155,352
Exchange realignment ERHE (41,660) (275) (747) (89) (42,771)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-~E+ZAz+-A 752,030 5927 12,343 1,090 771,390
At 31 December 2016: R-BE-RE+ZA=t-8:
Cost or valuation RAGAE 782,798 6,844 19,808 2,563 812,013
Accumulated depreciation Z2iHiE (30,768) (917) (7,465) (1473) (40,623)
Net carrying amount EMFE 752,030 5927 12,343 1,090 771,390
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. VIR WER®M(E)

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note: The Group’s building was revalued on 31 it RZE—+tF+=_A=+—8"
December 2017 based on a valuation performed AEBEFHELEXEAKM
by Knight Frank Petty Limited, independent BRI ET AT AR A BT
professional qualified valuers, at an aggregate EHEE FARTMESEEEHR
open market value of RMB675,400,000 (equivalent A 675,400,000 7 (48 & 7 4
to approximately HK$810,953,000) (2016: 810,953,000 L) (=& — /N F :
RMB673,500,000 (equivalent to approximately A B 673,500,000 7T (4 & R 4
HK$752,030,000)), resulting in a revaluation 752,030,000 7% JT)) & B E
surplus of approximately HK$22,498,000 (2016: HEZB % #H22,498,0008 L (=
approximately HK$155,352,000) which has been — X ¢ #7155,352,000% 7T ) R
recognised as other comprehensive income in the FAMEEGHFEHERPERBEA
property revaluation reserve during the year. 2HEKE -

Fair value hierarchy disclosure DT EEREE
At 31 December 2017, the fair value of the building RZE—tF+=-A=+—8"
was measured using significant unobservable RNEZRAFETEREBNBR
inputs (Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13. During the HEAFEIBRATZ2EATAE
year, there was no transfer into or out of Level 3. R ABB(BEZBL):tE -
REERN HEEASIBHE=
EBHRHER -
Below is a summary of the valuation technique LWTAREBMEMRBOMEER
used and the key input to the valuation of the ik EE8@ ABIEHE -
building:
Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input Weighted average
ICREE R0 EARABER AHE N 15
2016 2017
—T—RF —E-tF
Building Direct comparison Price per square meter RMB24,005 RMB24,073
K& BEELER B FAKEHE AR MBE24,00570 AR ¥24,073T
The valuation of the building was based on the REMBHEDZ2BALETSER
direct comparison approach by reference to SHRABERLIREEE - BFF
comparable market transactions. A significant B ET B KEE N ORK D)
increase (decrease) in the estimated price per BYPREATEAELMOTD) °

square meter in isolation would result in significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
building.
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BREME
Under
Completed construction Total
2% K EES &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Carrying amount RZZE—XRE—H—H

as at 1 January 2016 ZERMEE 75,358 113,148 188,506
Additions N 290,186 17,002 307,188
Net loss from a fair value NEFERAEEALADN

adjustment FE R (9,155) — (9,155)
Disposal of subsidiaries e B AR (4 #34)

(Note 34) (73,678) — (73,678)
Exchange realignment & H 3 (7,706) 44 (7,662)
Carrying amount NZE—RE

as at 31 December 2016 +=-—HA=+—8x~k

and 1 January 2017 —FE—+tF—H—H

/) BR T (B 275,005 130,194 405,199
Additions NE — 58,096 58,096
Net gain/(loss) from fair NEEABEED

value adjustments Fi S (EE) (23,590) 3,038 (20,552)
Exchange realignment PE 5 3 & 27,058 1,147 28,205
Carrying amount —E—+tF+=H

as at 31 December 2017 = +—H®EREEAE 278,473 192,475 470,948
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14.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group’s completed investment properties as at
31 December 2017 represented an office building
in London, the UK, which is leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details of
which are summarised in note 36(a) to the financial
statements.

The Group’s investment property under
construction as at 31 December 2017 represented
a portion of a commercial and residential complex
(the “US Complex”) currently being developed by
the Group on a parcel of land located in Santa
Monica, the County of Los Angeles, State of
California, the USA, that would be leased out for
rental income upon completion of the construction
of the US Complex.

The Group’'s completed investment property
was revalued on 31 December 2017 based
on a valuation performed by Gerald Eve LLP,
independent professionally qualified valuers,
at £26,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$278,473,000) (2016: £28,750,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$275,005,000)).

The Group’s investment property under
construction was revalued on 31 December 2017
based on a valuation performed by JLL Valuation &
Advisory Services, LLC, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at US$24,640,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$192,475,000). The investment
property under construction was measured at cost
as at 31 December 2016 because, in the opinion of
the directors, the construction of which was at early
stage and its then fair value cannot be determined
reliably accordingly.

Each year, the Group’s senior management
decides which external valuers to be appointed for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge,
independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group’s senior management
has ongoing discussions with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuations are performed.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 December 2017, fair value measurement
of the Group’s investment properties were using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as
defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there was no
transfer into or out of Level 3.
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Mt

(a)

R=F—t&+-A=+—8
AREDERHRANEEEE
RBMMAET - ZWEUEE
BROBABRE=7 - ANX

B2 5 1 M A R B S R R M R
36(a) °
R-F—tF+-A=+—8

AEBERZTNREMERASE
B IE A — 8 A X X B 0 R 4E Fe EE
MBEBERRERM 2 L #R

HomEmamE(EBREGE

ME]) NEBGEAYERET
B E - Eg N ERE
LUWA o

WRZZT—ttF+=_A=+—
A AEBEEXANEEDE
BB Y E¥A K EGerald Eve
LLPEITTH B EE T EFHGE
& /5 26,400,000 # & (H & 7 4
278,473,000 & m)(=Z T — X~

H?

4 128,750,000 H £ (0 £ R 4
275,005,000 7T )) °

AEBMEREREMER-Z
—t&F+-_A=+—HHEBIAE
BB EMGERMILL Valuation &
Advisory Services * LLCE f{& -
18 424,640,000 7T (HEE R4
192,475,000 7T) - FEF K E
MER_T—R"F+A=*+—
BERAGEAR EERAE
BRREVERNERVIHARKEAR
/\EEETZ :FTETPMT%J‘@EEE °

BF AEESREEEBARATZ
FWH—KIIBEEMEREAREE
MENINEREE - BUEER B
MEHME BUMREEERSE
FEOKAE o REE SR EIEE MG
TEEWELHH{EEH—*M%E ECRERE]
R&ERGEES

4 ==

NEE g
R-_Z—+F+-_A=+—8"
AEEREMENLAFETEY
FRERTAERGAB(ZE=-E
B EEREBEAVBERESERSE

135%) - RAFER  HEB AR
BHE=ZBRANATEHNE -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BREME(E)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)
(c) (continued) (c) (%)

Z R EE(E)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

NN BRAREREMEBEMR
RAMNGERTRIZ2GAED

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuations of the

Group’s investment properties: BE
Significant
Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range of input
R ERM EXFUBEBAE BAEZE
2017 2016
“E-tf “B-RE
Completed Income capitalisation (i) Equivalent yield 5% 4.28%-5.61%
investment (i) Unit market £22.5-£35 per £35-£42.5 per
properties (an rent per month square meter of  square meter of
office building) gross floor area  gross floor area
BEEKRENE WAERILE () SBRE=X 5%  4.28%%5.61%
(—ERRETF) (i) BREMNTS B¥HK BY¥AXK
e BEEER BmERERE
25HES BREZE
35% 42555
Investment Income capitalisation (i) Capitalisation rate 3.8% —
property under (ii) - Unit market US$67-US$78 —
construction (a rent per month per square
portion of the US meter of gross
complex) floor area and
US$3,500-
US$5,500 per unit
of bedroom or
townhouse
ERREME WABRE (i) BERfx 3.8% —
(5 EBEE (iy GAELTS BY AKX —
nEx) ks HREER
67X ZE
8%
REBENBED
BH#AE3,500% T
Z5500% T

The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived
from existing tenancies with due allowance for the
reversionary potential of the properties.

ERBAEROER DERAF
BERAEENFETWA L&
REARBEBYMENESREDN -
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14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the
estimated rental value in isolation would result
in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant
increase (decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties. Generally, a change in
the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change
in the rental value and an opposite change in the
equivalent yield and the capitalisation rate.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s investment
properties were all pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group (notes 25(a) and
25(b)).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. #EBEWMRRA)

Mrat (&
(c)  (#&)
APEERKEE)

15.

HEtEeEBEBEBKRELACT
B)GUBIREAMERAFEARE L
TR HEREEREARL
REHAEEA(TR) EEHE
EMERTERNETE(LA) -
—gmE  EFESEEMRE
BRNEHSHEHESEEBRER
HANEHAREERDERE
A RBRITEAOEE -

R_E—+t&E+-_A=+—8"
AEEEB2BREDEEARR
FTAREBERRITEE 2 BR (M
25(a) & 25(b)) °

Computer software

B
2017 2016
—E—+F —ZE—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
At beginning of year REH -
Cost X A 913 91
Accumulated amortisation s (141) (33)
Net carrying amount FREFE 772 58
Net carrying amount: FREFE
At beginning of year R E ] 772 58
Additions NE 281 866
Amortisation provided AR
during the year (174) (115)
Exchange realignment bE 5 3 B 63 (37)
At end of year RER 942 772
At end of year: RER :
Cost X 2 1,275 913
Accumulated amortisation g (333) (141)
Net carrying amount REFE 942 772
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17.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

16.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

RARR - EeRHEMWER
®IA

2017 2016

—E—tF NS

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

(Restated)

(& =5)

Prepayments AT B 5,961 5,901
Deposits and other receivables e R H A EKHRIE 154,521 11,237
160,482 17,138
Portion classified as current assets D %8 &R 8 & & 55 (14,991) (15,593)
Non-current portion JERENEL 145,491 1,545

The Group’s deposits and other receivables as at 31
December 2017 included, inter alia, the following:

(i) a non-current deposit of approximately
HK$143,861,000 (2016: Nil) paid for the
acquisition of the entire interest in a
commercial building in London, the UK, as
further detailed in note 42(i) to the financial
statements; and

(i) refundable heating supply deposits of
approximately HK$5,574,000 (2016:
approximately HK$3,552,000) in total in
respect of properties managed by the Group.

PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development of the Group as at
31 December 2017 represented a portion of the US
Complex (as defined in note 14(a)) which would be
held for sale upon completion of the construction
of the US Complex. At 31 December 2017, such
properties were pledged to secure a bank facility
granted to the Group (note 25(b)).

17.

KREBR2017F12A31B 2R & M
EmERRESRBR(HEFBEE) AT

() IE i B % & %9 143,861,00078
L (20164 « ) AR T Uk
BURERGRIN—REEE
FoE—SHBIRNTBRE
BfsE42(i) &

(i BHEASEEEEWENITERE
B iR 2 & 42 FE 495,574,000
# (2016 F 49 3,552,000
BIT) °

RRPBYE

R-ZT—+H+=-A=+—8 £&
BHERFNESXESZAMECE
ERME14@) W —#HD - REBER
EMERETRETRE  EEERKE
FHE R-FT—tF+_-_A=+—
B ZEMECBREASEESR
TR E MR (Ff 5E25(b)) -
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18. INVENTORIES 18. &8
2017 2016
—E Lt F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
(Restated)
(&E7)
Food and beverages B kR @ 409 376
Other operating items for BECEMNHEMKEIAR
restaurant operations 3,909 3,392
Goods for resale BEmEE 758 1,209
Repair and maintenance parts s RIRE M 370 236
5,446 5,213
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. BB HIER
2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Trade receivables EUE 5B R 34,450 26,323
Less: Impairment (Note (b)) B RE (BT (b)) (9,021) (5,950)
25,429 20,373
Notes: Mrat
(a) Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and (a) FEWE ZERIY T B RRER

arise from the provision of property management
services, leasing of investment properties and
the operation of the Recreational Center. Tenants
of the Group’s managed properties are required
to pay a calendar year’'s property management
service fees annually in advance.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are
not individually nor collectively considered to be

impaired is as follows:

MEEERY HEREVER
KeEREPLRELE -BHFPHEA

KEEREBERZME

CRABEHEN

—EAEFZMEERREER -

I 4 47 (8 Bl b 58 B8 7R E 3% AR (E
ZRWE SRR ZRROMMT

2017 2016
—E—tF A
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(#E5)

Past due: [mEE- R
Less than 1 year A ES 20,849 15,221
1 year to 2 years 1526F 3,564 4,288
2 years to 3 years 2E3F 1,016 864
25,429 20,373

210 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The Group’s credit terms of its trade receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties
managed by the Group, tenants of investment
properties and customers of the Recreational
Center. Since there are a large number of tenants,
impairment assessment of trade receivables is
based on a collective assessment of individual
tenants with similar characteristics and credit
history, which indicate that trade receivables
which are less than one year past due are not
considered impaired. At 31 December 2017, trade
receivables of approximately HK$4,580,000 (2016:
approximately HK$5,152,000), net of provision for
impairment, were past due over one year but not
impaired according to collective assessment policy
adopted by the management. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

The movements in the Group’s provision for

31 December 2017 =%

B 355 5 < P =

S ==,

19. B R HE:(#E)

Hia -

(a)

(%)
(%)

FAEEE 5 REKFANEEGR
EBRRASEEENYEMRS
REMWEEP RABHOLEFPE
—REBGERERI - ARHAE
FARAEBRZ HIt ZFERKRE
%%ﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf%@&ﬁ
SRSBRCNERERF W EE
EmET  RERaPIMFER
EWE SRR ERAE - R
Z—tF+-A=+—H RBE
EEERMANERTERE O
4,580,000 L (ZF — RNF : &
5,152,00078 7T ) #) JE Y & 5 Bk 3K
(HRREER) ERHBR1FE
W E - REBILRE HEL
HREFAEMERRKEMLER
BAR -

RAEFERN AEEREEZ K

impairment of trade receivables during the year are FREEEHSEBHT :
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+F AN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(g&E7)
At beginning of year REH] 5,950 4,470
Impairment during the year RAFEEEZRF
recognised in profit or loss, net WRERE - FE
(Note 8) (K7 7#8) 2,520 1,850
Exchange realignment [ 5 38 & 551 (370)
At end of year RERXR 9,021 5,950
The above provision for impairment of trade L EWE 5 R IBREEE R D
receivables represented provision for impaired BRBEZERE S HEEE

trade receivables assessed collectively with an
aggregate gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$13,601,000 (2016: approximately
HK$11,076,000) as at 31 December 2017.

R—E—+tHF+=-_A=+—8"
ﬁ%mmﬁﬁ%@@ﬁm,\%@%
13,601,000 T(ZF —NF : 4
11,076,000 7T ) °
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(b) (continued)

The collectively impaired trade receivables relate
to customers that were in default in settlement of
trade receivables for a long period of time and
only a portion of the receivables is expected to be
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances.

(c) Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at
December 2017 are amounts of approximately
HK$3,447,000 (2016: approximately HK$735,000)
in total due from companies controlled by two
directors of the Company, which are repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to other
tenants in the ordinary course of business. Messrs.
Wei Chunxian (“Mr. Wei”) and Sun Zhongmin (“Mr.
Sun”), both being directors of the Company, have
beneficial interests in these related companies.

(d) At 31 December 2017, trade receivables of
approximately HK$61,000 (2016: approximately
HK$315,000) in total were pledged to secure a
bank loan facility granted to the Group (note 25(a)).
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19. BB SHER(E)
Biat - (&)

(b)

(%)

SROIBREZEKE HRRE
EHERERESHEZEFPA
B T2 WK IR TR R S A
Ym - REBIORE B iE LR
FEEMER R ERER -

AEBPR-_ZT—+tHF+-AWNE
WESERBERERARDGM
BEEEHMARZHEE KL
3,447,000/ T (ZE— R F : 4
735,000/ L) + W HEEBEUR
FHEEBBRYFAEMBERT
REMNEHAKKRESRE - BgES
FIREEDRFHRAREE(T#H
EE]DBHEBARRER)RZSE
BEARMBERES -

RZE—+tF+=_A=+—8"
2 5 JE W AR KA 7T 4961,000% 7T
—ZT—XF : 49315,00087T) 2
BIREARNSBEERBITERR
& 7R (M 5E25(a)) ©



20.

(a)

BALANCES WITH RELATED 20. HRELFIANEER
COMPANIES
The balances with related companies are BB N B A A aR A EIIE - £ B
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of REBTENE - ARFIMBESHR
repayment. Two directors of the Company, namely SEREEEEZEHERRITES
Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in BN -
these related companies.
Due from related companies (a) EWRBEERARE
Amounts due from related companies, 1B 15 F R TER ) E383(1)
disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the (AERCARI(BEEEEF =
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 B AR B ) 350 75 A FE UK
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information E2BER/NICTE /@8 (1 N
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are
as follows:
Maximum Maximum
amount At 31 amount
outstanding ~ December outstanding
At 31 during 2016 and during At
December the current 1 January the prior 1 January
Company name 2017 year 2017 year 2016
RZB-RF
t=A
ZE-t%§ =+-8kK oked
TR XEERE ZB-tF FERR R-B-R%
NEEL =t-8 kfEELH -B-B XfEELH -R—-H
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TET FET FET TAET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E=31) (E=3))
Beijing Guorui Jinling T REHLREER
Sales Office* — 1,829 1,829 2,148 333
Beijing Guorui Property St RE S EME
Development Company ~ BEER A7
Limited Jinan Branch® e N — 1,353 1,353 3,206 691
Beiling Guolong Property It REEE ¥
Company Limited* BRAA
(“Beijing Guolong”) ([tRERE]) 1,830 4,329 154 1,672 201
Beijing Guorui Jinding TrESeENTE
Kindergarten® 140 164 44 44 —
1,970 3,380 1,225

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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* For identification purposes only

Note:

Balance in the current year mainly

represented utilities expenses and
miscellaneous expenses paid on behalf of
Beijing Guorui Jinding Kindergarten and

Beijing Guolong.

" EHES
Hret - AFEEBHEIZHERAKRIL
REHEENRE LR
BEXNAHEERIR
MIEMX -
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20. BALANCES WITH RELATED 20. HRARELFIMEER(MHE)
COMPANIES (continued)
(b) Due to related companies (b) EFNBEERARE
Balance in the current year mainly represented AEEHEBETED R EILER
short term advances from Beijing Guorui HEMWERZBR AR
Property Development Company Limited* (Mt EHMmE]) Rt ®
(“Beijing Guorui Development”) of approximately SHIZERAER A A (1L = H
HK$25,484,000 (2016: approximately ERIDBEEBER S A A
HK$23,354,000) and Beijing Guorui Holding 25,484,000 % ;T(Z= & —
Company Limited* (“Beijing Guorui Holding”) & : #4923,354,0007%8 7T) & 4
of approximately HK$48,493,000 (2016: Nil), 48,493,000 & (= & — X
respectively. F:E)
* For identification purposes only * ERBRE
21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND 21, EENBITERRASRR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TiReR
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(re&E5)
Cash and bank balances brEEBEFERINNIERE R
other than a time deposit AT 8 A 723,891 290,574
Time deposit T B TF 3K 39,636 38,800
Total cash and bank balances BE& MIBITHEGLATE 763,527 329,374
Less: Pledged bank deposit B BB ITER
(Note (c)) (Btit(c)) (39,636) (38,800)
Cash and cash equivalents HehkIReEED 723,891 290,574
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21.

22,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)
Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2017, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$127,644,000 (2016:
approximately HK$133,633,000, as restated). RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. A short term time
deposit was made for a period of twelve months,
and earns interest at the short term time deposit
rate. The bank balances and the pledged bank
deposit are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

(c) At 31 December 2017, a bank deposit of
US$5,066,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$39,636,000) (2016: US$5,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$38,800,000)) was pledged to a bank for
the issuance of a standby letter of credit in
respect of future settlement to a contractor for the
construction of the US Complex.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and
the average credit period is 60 days. An ageing
analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end

21.

22,

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

EERBRTEFRRESRRE
TTHEER (48)

Mt

(a)

W_Z—+E+-_A=+—8"
AEBBARBINENER S LR
TR #)3E127,644,000 BT (=
T — N4 : #9133,633,00078 7T
KEY) BEARBRgEE
HmEBEHRELR  BEREFEH
KEEH AR EME HNE & 12
B R EE  EERNESER
FoORNEE A BB B EETTI
BEBKNBETBAREBELBERE
ftb & # o

RITEFFRRES HRITHFRA
RHHEZFHINKRGFL - BHPE
MRz EREAsT @A &
ERZEMEREFRMNEAR -
RITEBR RO ERRITERDF
MY EMEENREMEEFEED
SRAT ©

RZZB—ttF+=ZRA=+—
+ §R 77 17 35,066,000 = JT (48
7 #) 39,636,000 8 T) (= &
7N # 15,000,000 T (&R
38,800,000/ ) B 8 F iR 1T -
NEHEBAABRHBRETER
GAMEREIRBRLEEER
K o

| Bk ID

FE 4 8 % IR &

RSB SERTHE - MEHEEN
RAG0K - RIFHEEH - R
K AREBREN RS ERORE DT

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, wmr
is as follows:

2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Within 3 months 3@ A A 50,010 25,539
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 5,485 2,742
6 to 12 months 62121 A 1,293 3,415
Over 1 year 1F DA+ 6,936 1,781
63,724 33,477
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

23. AfttEEFRZMAERRA

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT TFET

(Restated)

(&E7))

Other payables E fth B A 3 133,508 48,010
Accruals BIRE A 9,694 11,840
143,202 59,850

The Group’s other payables as at 31 December
2017 included, inter alia, the following:

(i) amounts of approximately HK$2,916,000
(2016: approximately HK$7,611,000) in total
payable to water, heating and electricity
suppliers in respect of public utility fees
collected from tenants on behalf of public
utility suppliers;

(ii) refundable decoration deposits and
property management service fee deposits
of approximately HK$16,189,000 (2016:
approximately HK$13,203,000) in total
received from tenants of a commercial
building and residential properties managed
by the Group; and

(iiiy advances from independent third parties
of approximately HK$96,271,000 (2016:
approximately HK$22,790,000) in total for
the purpose of maintaining daily working
capital and financing new investments. These
advances are interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand or within 1 year.

24. DUE TO A DIRECTOR AND A
SHAREHOLDER

The balances with a director and a shareholder as
at 31 December 2017 were unsecured, interest-free
and had no fixed terms of repayment.
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24.

s

—tF+-A=+—H8 X&§

A E 1t FE N O (R B ) I
TEHE

(i)

(if)

(iif)

EABERK - BEEE DR
BA *#42916,0008 T (=&

— N4 #97,611,0008 ) -
BREAAERMERIIARAR
Bt 8 7 1) AR YR AR

BRERMEEE
Hﬁi‘xf‘é‘%%é,\,@m,wg,ooo
B or(Z & — K : #
13,203,000/ 7T) * B &
T —EARAEEERE I EE
ANERFEWEZAFRKE :
P54

BB REEES AT
BREMEZBIEZFBR ﬁ
96,271,000/ 7T (2016 6 : #J
22,790,000 Jr) ° :Z:ﬁ*
BES - EERBBERERS
R—FRNEE -

BREFREKRERER

EEMRER-_ZT—+EF+-A
ST HZEBRREER 2B RE
BEEER -



25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= =
M =M
31 December 2017 —F—+#+—-H=+—H
BANK BORROWINGS 25. SRITHER
Effective
interest
rate Maturity 2017 2016
L VES ) “E-tE ZE-RF
Notes (%) HK$1000 HK$ 000
it (%) FET TA7
Bank loan - secured BIER —BER (a) 2.53-2.83 Revolving or 2018 146,356 132,264
BRI_Z-N\F
Bank loan - secured BIER—FEA (b) 4.75 2018 55,121 5,268
“E-N\F
201,477 137,532
Analysed into ERFEMIE:
amount repayable:
Within one year or A ERED 201,477 132,264
on demand
In the second year F-F - 5,268
201,477 137,532
Portion classified GRARHEENTS (201,477) (132,264)
as current liabilities
Non-current portion FRBH - 5,268
Notes: HiaE -
(a) At 31 December 2017, the Group had a bank loan (a) RZZE—+F+=ZA=+—8"

facility of US$20 million or its equivalent in other
currencies (2016: US$20 million or its equivalent
in other currencies), of which £13,875,000 (2016:
£13,875,000) had been utilised as at that date,
for financing the purchase of an office building
in London, the UK. The bank loan facility is
secured by the Group’s completed investment
properties (note 14(d)) and trade receivables of
approximately HK$61,000 (2016: approximately
HK$315,000) (note 19(d)). The bank loan facility
contains a repayable on demand clause.

Zﬁs%lizﬁﬁzooooooo%rc&
QOOOOOOO%EiETEE‘JHﬁt
EB)HBITERME HEF
13,875,000 & & (= T — X F -

13,875,000 &) E RN A E A E
BEO—RPBARKEEBHH -
BOTEFBRERBAEEE R TR
B (M sE14(d) BB 5 R
B 461,000 T (= Z — X F -
#9315,0007%8 7r) (P £ 19(d)) fE K
HoRITERRERERERE

B -
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25. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

At 31 December 2017, the Group had another
bank loan facility of approximately US$18 million
(2016: approximately US$18 million), of which
approximately US$7,056,000 (2016: approximately
US$679,000) had been utilised as at that date,
for financing the construction cost of the US
Complex. The bank loan facility is guaranteed by
the Company and secured by the pledge of the
Group’s investment property under construction
and properties under development at carrying
amounts of approximately HK$192,475,000 (2016:
approximately HK$130,194,000) and approximately
HK$154,986,000 (2016: approximately
HK$104,716,000) as at 31 December 2017,
respectively (notes 14(d) and 17).

The bank borrowings were denominated in the
following currencies:

25. SMITHEZ(E)
Biat - (&)

(b)

RZE—+t&F+-_A=+—8 "
N E B AE S — # 18,000,000
ELERBE(ZT —RNF
49 18,000,000 % Jt) H &
7,056,000 E T (= F —RE 4
679000 L) ER AEBHKA
AERENARELZBESHA -
AEERITERBAARRDAER
FAAEBR-_ZT—tF+ =
A=+—BEEZHREEMEN
MBERTPYEZEREMED B L
A 192,475,000 7 T(= T — 7~
£ #9130,194,000 7 T) M 4
154,986,000/ JL (=& — /N fF -
#7104,716,0007% 7T ) 1 H K 38 (B
FE14(d) K 17)

RITERA TN EHEHE

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET F#T

£ HeE 146,356 132,264
uss EP 55,121 5,268
201,477 137,532
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26.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER

During the year ended 31 December 2016, pursuant
to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated 28 July
2016 and a supplemental agreement dated 24
August 2016 entered into between the Company
and Wintime, the immediate holding company,
Wintime granted a shareholder’s loan facility of
HK$250,000,000 (or its equivalent in £) to the
Company, of which approximately £5,875,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$61,970,000)
(2016: £6,425,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$61,458,000)) had been utilised as at 31
December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
pursuant to another shareholder’'s loan agreement
dated 24 November 2017 entered into between
the Company and Wintime, Wintime granted
an additional shareholder’s loan facility of
HK$1,500,000,000 (or its equivalent in £) to the
Company, of which approximately £42,027,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$443,310,000)
and HK$120,000,000 had been utilised as at 31
December 2017.

All of the shareholder’s loans are unsecured, bear
interest at the rate of 2% per annum, and are
repayable in 3 years from the date of drawdown of
the shareholder’s loans or such other date agreed
between Wintime and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, interest
paid and payable to Wintime in respect of the
shareholder’s loans amounted to approximately
HK$2,211,000 (2016: approximately HK$1,376,000),
which was recognised as finance costs for the year.

These related party transactions constitute
exempted connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

26.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

BERIFEHER
REzEz-ZEZ—X~"EF+=-ZA=+—H1
FFEE BEARFTERAQNFEE
R A AWintimes ] . HH A - F
—RNFEtA-t+N\BZBRREZR
HELRBHAE-_ZT—XRNENAZ-TMD
B2 @3 W - Wintimed & A 7%
¥ 250,000,000 77T (k5B &) T 8)
ZBREREFRME - EA 45,875,000
EEE(HEE R 461,970,000 #7T) (=
T — N4 6,425,000 E(HEE R
61,458,000 L)) ER =T —+t F
+—A=+—8¥#HA-

REE-_Z—+tF+=ZA=+—H
IEFE - BIBEARD B EWintimes] iz
BEHA-_ZT—+tF+—HA=-+mWTH
2B —mREERBZ - Wintimeld
R RQ B F1,500,000,000% 7T (8k &
ENEE)ZEIIBREERRE -
H 442,027,000 HEGEER D
443,310,000% 7t ) & 120,000,000 %
TERZZE—+F+-A=+—8%
A -

MENKRRERG/EER - R2%
WFEMERFEERARBRRERRRA
H 8 5t = F M s Wintime B /K 1A &) &
BCH)H M B EBRE IR -

BHE-_ZT—tF+-_A=+—H81t
FE o BENFE &ENWIntimeZ i
HE R AE2,211,0008 T ( ZF — X
& 1 491,376,000/ 7C) It TI R A F
[EEREMIEKA -

ZEBBARIBRBRBEERS
(I F MBI FBUAEFTESE) ©
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27.

PREFERENCE SHARES OF A

SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
preference shares without a par value of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,364,000) were issued by a subsidiary of the
Group to the non-controlling equity holder of the
subsidiary, which is a company established in the
PRC and indirectly wholly owned by an associate
of Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun. Out of the RMB20,000,000
preference shares issued, RMB13,370,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$15,376,000) of
which were paid up as at 31 December 2016. The
preference shares shall have no voting rights but
are entitled to annual dividends at the rate of 7%
of the issued and paid up preference share capital
of the subsidiary. The preference shares shall
be redeemed in 3 years from the date of capital
injection. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
no additional preference shares were paid up.

The preference shares of the subsidiary had been
accounted for as financial liabilities of the Group
as the Group has a contractual obligation to deliver
cash to the preference shareholder in 3 years from
the date of capital injection.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, dividend
paid and payable to the related party in respect of
the preference shares of the subsidiary amounted to
approximately HK$1,112,000 (2016: approximately
HK$187,000), which was recognised as finance
costs for the year.
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27.

—FME 2B 8@ LR

HE-_ZET—-—R"F+-_A=+—H1
FE AEERNBRAREEHITARE
20,000,000 7T (48 & 7 49 23,364,000
BI) 2 BER T M B AR 2 IEE
BEZFAA  ZMBRRA BN
FEFMKLZ AR  WHEEER
BREEN—HMBEARN2EHRE -
VEERE R_ET—A~F+-A
=+—H - B%#17 AR®¥20,000,000
TZ2BERFP BEXTARE
13,370,000 7T (8 & % %7 15,376,000
BIL) c REEEREL BITERE
BERENBAAEBTIREZXGHN
BEBRBRENT7TRHOMEGTE -8 F
HESFERE - ZSEERENRE
AFABBE=ZFRNER -HE2_-F
—tF+_A=+—HLFE UE
S EINMBER -

HftBAREERCIHINAEETH
BE BARAEEBEANEENIEE
FHE=FAREERERIMNE

2N
& °
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(a) At 31 December 2017, deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$130,919,000 (2016:
approximately HK$94,171,000) as they have arisen
in the Company and certain subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is
not probable that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.
Out of this amount, tax losses of approximately
HK$92,414,000 (2016: approximately
HK$70,953,000) will expire in one to five years.

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. ERIERTARB
The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the LNTRASERLEHIBAEBENEDS
Group are as follows: o
Arising from revaluation of
investment properties and a
building
ELEBEREYNE
REFEM
2017 2016
—ZT—tHF —ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wit FET FHET
(Restated)
(FeE51)
At beginning of year REF] 98,898 80,503
Net deferred tax credited to ~ ELEH B BB AFE
profit or loss during the year 18z 11 (4,643) (4,054)
Net deferred tax charged to  FRFAEMEERAL
other comprehensive income  iE i %1 18 /% 58
during the year 5,625 38,803
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIERAE 34 - (11,854)
Exchange realignment BEE 54 58 B (239) (4,500)
At end of year RER 99,641 98,898
Notes: i -

RZE—+tF+=-A=+—8"
HRBEEBEBENARARE TH
BARDEE—BRER  mAMK
TEAAAREEERN KA
HREBEBRMERFE Bk
Bt AR A R 7% &5 18 49 130,919,000
BIL(ZZF—/RNF : #994,171,000
BIL)ERELCHBEE - L&
B FIE B 1B 492,414,000 8
JE(ZZ— N : 470,953,000/
TR ER—EREFREE -
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Pursuant to the PRC corporate income tax law,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

Pursuant to the USA corporate income tax law,
a 30% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the USA.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the USA.

Pursuant to the UK profits tax law, a 20%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in the UK. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
UK.

At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China,
the UK and the USA (2016: Nil). In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China, the UK and the
USA for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was not significant as at 31 December
2017 and 2016.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 o P ot

A summary of movements in the Company’s share

capital is as follows:

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=-A=+—A
SHARE CAPITAL 29. &
Shares B An
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
1,546,934,454 1,5646,934,454 1%
(2016: 897,420,738) ordinary (ZE—RF:
shares 897,420,738) fi%
LB 1,780,663 1,219,965

ARRRRANEBHIZWT

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
=5 %51
BHENEE % 2
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2016 R-E—-—XRF—H—H 791,841,828 1,115,590
Placing of new shares (Note (a)) ¥ IE & (K15t (a)) 105,578,910 105,579
Share issue expenses BHETHX — (1,204)
At 31 December 2016, as restated N =T —NE+ = A
=+—8 &E7 897,420,738 1,219,965
At 1 January 2017: RZE—+F—H—A8:
As previously reported w2z Al £ 7R 897,420,738 519,965
Adjustment as a result of an S N R VS
ineffective capital reduction (K1 # b))
(Note (b)) — 700,000
As restated =7l 897,420,738 1,219,965
Issue of shares upon exercise of 171 B& f& # 1% 2 17 i »
share options (Note (c)) (Bt 7t(c)) 5,000,000 6,417
Issue of shares for acquisition of 217 A1) LA U BE — RS
a subsidiary (Note (d)) M8 AR (A at(d)) 540,000,000 464,400
Issue of shares upon conversion  ##5k A A # & & 5 14
of perpetual convertible bonds BTN (A7 7#31)
(Note 31) 104,513,716 89,881
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=-—A=+— 1,546,934,454 1,780,663
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE R

31 December 2017 =&

— ta = =l

29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to a placing agreement entered into with
a placing agent on 21 April 2016, the Company
issued a total of 105,578,910 ordinary shares
at the placing price of HK$1.00 per share to
independent third parties on 10 May 2016 for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$105,579,000. Further details of
the share placement are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 April 2016 and 10 May
2016.

A special resolution of the Company’s shareholders
was passed on 7 November 2016 for the approval
of a proposed reduction of the credit standing to
the share capital account of the Company by the
amount of HK$700,000,000, which was intended
to be utilised to offset the accumulated losses of
the Company of approximately HK$675,782,000
as at 30 June 2016 with the remaining balance of
approximately HK$24,218,000 to be retained in the
capital reduction reserve account of the Company
(the “Capital Reduction”).

In accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the Capital Reduction was subject
to certain conditions including the passing
of a special resolution by the shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting of the
Company approving the Capital Reduction and
the registration of the relevant documents with
the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong (the
“Registration”) within the prescribed timeframe
in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

In the preparation of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016, each of the share capital and
the accumulated losses of the Company as at
31 December 2016 was reduced by an amount
of approximately HK$675,782,000 and a capital
reduction reserve of approximately HK$24,218,000
was created for the unutilised amount of the Capital
Reduction amount in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016, which were authorised for issue
on 31 March 2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

However, it has come to the attention of the
Company during the current year that the
Registration was not completed within prescribed
timeframe due to inadvertent omission, and as a
result, the Capital Reduction has not been effected.

As a result of the ineffectiveness of the Capital
Reduction, the accounting entries related to the
Capital Reduction should not have been made
and hence, at the board meeting of the Company
held on 18 August 2017, the Company’s directors
resolved to reverse the accounting entries and
restate the amounts of share capital, accumulated
losses and the capital reduction reserve in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
Company’s statement of financial position as at 31
December 2016.

Accordingly, a prior year adjustment was made
to rectify the error and the effects of which on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2016 are summarised as
follows:

° the share capital as at 31 December 2016
has been increased by HK$700,000,000;

o the accumulated losses as at 31
December 2016 have been increased by
approximately HK$675,782,000; and

° the capital reduction reserve as at 31
December 2016 has been decreased by
approximately HK$24,218,000.

Further details of the ineffective capital reduction
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
18 August 2017.

The subscription rights attaching to 5,000,000
share options issued under the Share Option
Scheme (as defined in note 30) were exercised
at the subscription price of HK$1.05 per share,
resulting in the issue of 5,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company for a total cash consideration
of HK$5,250,000. An amount of approximately
HK$1,167,000 was transferred from the share
option reserve to the share capital account upon
the exercise of the share options.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

29. BrFE ()
Biat - (&)

(b)

(%)

KW RAFE - A2FDIEER
A A& B w2 T 8 B R
ERERBATHK - Bt EKRH
AR

HREABBHERDE  BHE
FERAAEN S SR TEZFT
T -BURERZZF—+tFNATN
BRTNARFNEETSEH L -
ARAREERFHMER T X
F+Z A=t -—BZHEaBBMNK
MERARAFBRNR 2 G5
DENBEIRALE - R EE
R EARHIR G -

HEM  AIFCFERARBRNMLT
HEREBAKEEBEE—FT—RF
TZA=Zt+-HLEFEZHEAY
BHRRzZEEHRENT

o RZZE—-—XR"EF+=ZA
=+—H ZRHEBEDE
N47675,782,000%8 7T ¢ &

L IS T —RNF+ =8

St—AB - EARREE
2 4924,218,000/ 7T °

Ub5h - B BB A B R RO Y
B #RARFARARR T —+
FNATNBZRM -

BRESA(TE RMWE30) T
5,000,000 17 B % 17 B8 A% ## [T 75
REERTRI105BTRBEET
fi - EEA R A % 975,000,000 %
L@k Be R (ELES250,000
BT EERERL BY
1,167,000/8 7T 5k I8 4 5 AR 1 &
HETRARE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

29.

30.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d) Pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement
entered into with Winluck Global Limited and
Silky Apex Limited (collectively referred to as the
“Vendors”, related parties of the Group in which
two directors of the Company have beneficial
interests) on 7 July 2017, the Company issued a
total of 540,000,000 ordinary shares to the Vendors
on 31 August 2017 for the acquisition of 100%
equity interest in Wholly Express Limited. Further
details of the acquisition are set out in note 33
to the financial statements and the Company’s
announcements dated 7 July 2017 and 31 August
2017, and a circular dated 8 August 2017,
respectively.

Share options

Details of the Company's Share Option Scheme
and the share options issued under the scheme are
included in note 30 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 7 November 2016 (the
“Adoption Date”) for the primary purpose of (i)
incentivising and rewarding those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (ii) attracting and retaining skilled
and experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”)
and motivating them to strive for the future
development of the Group by providing them with
an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company thereby linking their interest with that
of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on
the Adoption Date and shall expire on 6 November
2026, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Share Option Scheme. The board
of directors of the Company may grant options to
Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.
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29.

30.
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RARZZE—FNA=+—H
M & 5 %17 4258 A540,000,000 8%
B AL - LA EEWholly Express
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30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted at any time under the Share
Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the Adoption
Date, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Further, the total maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time. Options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period up to and including the date of
grant, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 by the grantee. Options may be
exercised at any time for a period determined by
its directors which shall not be later than the day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price of the share
options shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified
to an Eligible Participant and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant of the
options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of
the Company on the date of grant.

30.

B 35 < B o
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31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. MEBEMEE B (4E)
(continued)
5,000,000 share options were granted to a consultant 5,000,000 IR ER T — L F WM
without a vesting period on 20 April 2017 under the AZT+HIREBREFIR T R
Share Option Scheme, which were fully exercised on 19 B WEREBH ER_ZT—+tF
May 2017. The fair value of the share options granted FATHBERHTE RFAR
during the year was HK$1,167,000 (HK$0.2333 each) R BB R EN A FEA1,167,0008
(2016: Nil), which was fully recognised as a share T (B700.2333B L) (ZF —/KF
option expense in profit or loss during the year ended ) HE2HRNEHE_ZE—+tHF+=
31 December 2017. A=+—BLFENERTRA/E
RERZ -
The fair value of the equity-settled share options RERREHOUAEREENERED
granted during the year was estimated as at the date NEERFEAMNR — FRITERX
of grant using the Black-Scholes model, taking into Bz B Kt RELEREZ
account the terms and conditions upon which the G R AEE - NREYIPTAER &
options were granted. The following table lists the A
inputs to the model used:
2017

—ZE—+tfF
Dividend yield (%) P B w3 (%) 0.0000%
Expected volatility (%) TEET R B & (%) 61.820%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 3 B A 2K (%) 1.1100%
Expected life of options (year) FERRHE 2 TERT FHI(F) 1
Forfeiture rate R UL 0.0000%

The expected life of the options is the time to maturity
of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The 5,000,000 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 5,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company and new share capital of approximately
HK$6,417,000, as further detailed in note 29(c) to the
financial statements. There was no outstanding option
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 31. KATHKES
Pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement entered BEEEIFRNR_ZE—LtF LA+
into with the Vendors on 7 July 2017, the Company HEIYUZEEWHE  ARAB T
issued perpetual convertible bonds in a total AN & 48 %8 #9181,964,000 7% 7T (Bf A
principal amount of approximately HK$181,964,000 199,960,440 % 2 # ) 2 ok A &
(199,960,440 conversion rights embedded) as a AR & 5 1E B U EEWholly Express
portion of the total consideration for the acquisition Limited2 B =8 A H R BEEE -
of 100% interest in Wholly Express Limited, as further 0B 75 3R R 5333 — 2 sEat -
detailed in note 33 to the financial statements.
The perpetual convertible bonds issued by the RAB B BT Z KA AR ES T
Company are non-interest-bearing, non-redeemable E TR EEREERIISA -
and no maturity date of repayment. Accordingly, I HEEAEETAAR - 42
they are accounted for as equity instruments. The BZABFERESR ETMRBATH 2
perpetual convertible bonds could only be converted HEARBREZ25% - EHFFBEA
into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion BB XA REESIESR’R
price of HK$0.91 per share at the discretion of the f& 57 0.91 8 TR BE R R AR QA
bondholders, subject to the condition that the public 2 TR -
float of the Company is higher than the minimum
public float requirement of 25% as set out in the
Listing Rules.
For accounting purpose, the fair value of HeHREmMs RRBEESKAE
the perpetual convertible bonds issued as HERKBREZFTHRKAMLTR
consideration for the acquisition as at the date f% (& 5 BN B4 A171,965,00078
of completion of the acquisition amounted to TLeBE_ZE—+tHF+_-_A=+—H
approximately HK$171,965,000. Movements of the IEEE - kAR AR (& 5 1 & Eh i
perpetual convertible bonds during the year ended R
31 December 2017 are summarised as follows:
Number of
Principal conversion
amount rights 2017 2016
Ao EBREHE —B-t§& ZT—RfF
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
At beginning of year L) — — - —
Issue of perpetual BATRAM TR E S
convertible bonds as part ERME—RHHBLAAE
of consideration for REZ—# (#1:233)
the acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 33) 181,964 199,960,440 171,965 —
Conversion into ordinary shares E# AR N &) 7 L8k
of the Company (95,107) (104,513,716) (89,881) —
At end of year FRX 86,857 95,446,724 82,084 —
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31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

32. RESERVES

(a)

(c)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current year
and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Capital reserve mainly arose from deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders
of the Company as a result of certain liabilities
of the Group of approximately HK$161,035,000
in total being waived by two shareholders of the
Company in February 2014.

Merger reserve represented the difference
between (i) the amounts at which the assets
and liabilities are recorded under a business
combination under common control, net
of any reserves of the acquired entities;
and (ii) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

Property revaluation reserve represents
cumulative revaluation surplus, net of deferred
tax effect, of the Group's building, which is
located in Beijing, the PRC.

The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set
aside in accordance with the PRC Companies
Law as applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. None of
the Group’s PRC statutory reserve as at 31
December 2017 were distributable in the form
of cash dividends.
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33.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

On 7 July 2017, the Group entered into a purchase
and sale agreement with the Vendors, which are
related parties of the Group in which two directors
of the Company have beneficial interests, to acquire
the entire interest in Wholly Express Limited at
an aggregate consideration of HK$673,364,000,
satisfied as to (i) HK$491,400,000 by the allotment
and issue of 540,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company to the Vendors; and (ii) as to the balance
of HK$181,964,000 by the issue of the perpetual
convertible bonds in an even principal amount to the
Vendors. The acquisition was completed on 31 August
2017. For accounting purpose, the fair values of the
ordinary shares and the perpetual convertible bonds
issued as consideration for the acquisition as at the
date of completion of the acquisition amounted to
approximately HK$464,400,000 and HK$171,965,000,
respectively, resulting in a total consideration of
approximately HK$636,365,000 transferred to the
Vendors for the acquisition of Wholly Express Limited.
The acquisition constitutes a connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

Wholly Express Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Wholly Express Group”) are
principally engaged in the operation of the
Recreational Center in Beijing, the PRC. Given the
Wholly Express Group is controlled by Mr. Wei before
and after the acquisition, the acquisition of Wholly
Express Limited was accounted for as a business
combination under common control using the
principle of merger accounting in accordance with
AG 5 issued by the HKICPA in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Accordingly,
the comparative amounts of these consolidated
financial statements in respect of the year ended 31
December 2016 have been restated to give effect of
this business combination under common control,
whereby the acquired assets and liabilities are stated
at predecessor values, and results of operations of the
acquired entities were included in the consolidated
financial statements from the earliest date presented
(i.e., 1 January 2016) or since the date when the
acquired entities first came under common control of
Mr. Wei, where this is a shorter period.

33.
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ERAZEFHTZRESH#

RZZE—+tFELA+tH AEEHHA
ERH(EAARAIMBEENESR
EEEmEaNASEBER )R]
T EE W= 0 LIEWholly Express
Limited®) = S #E - 65t RE &
673,364,000 7T * (VAR QA M E
77 B2 2% % %% 77540,000,000 B% #7 & i#
A% A% 19 491,400,000 78 T &+ &
(IABBREFET(EEZZRES)
’9 oK A A] #2 B 1& % 45 #2 181,964,000
BILEMN ZWBEEER_ZT—+
FNA=Z+—"BmX - -RETEE
msE  RERKEBEBREAKER
BRETZEBEREKATMBRKES
2 NFE1E D B4 A 464,400,000 7T
} 171,965,000 7T * EHMERED
636,365,000/ L E T & 5 LLIEE
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MA > WEEEERKBEERS -
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BEAI A MM 2 @555l E55 K
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WMEKEH Bt  BHE-T—XF
+Z A=+ BLEEZZERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2017 =—F—+F+=-FA=+—H

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER 33.

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

The effects of the acquisition of the Wholly Express
Group on the Group’s results of operations and cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2016, and the
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 are

HEARHTZRH S (])

HE-_ZT—AF+A=+—RHLF
& - Wholly Express£e B Uy B8 % 7~ &
ErekEkAeRnENTEARK
SER_ZE—AFETA=+—HH

summarised as follows: B O Bt T
The Group
(As previously The Wholly  Consolidation The Group
reported) Express Group adjustment  (As restated)
Wholly
PN Express N |
(WZA28]) £8 BERE (BEH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Results of operations HZ=-Z—-AfF
for the year ended +-A=+-HBLF
31 December 2016 ExRExE
Revenue LON 140,178 78,265 (2,051) 216,392
Loss for the year FREE (36,819) (28,544) — (65,363)
Financial position R-ZE-~"E+=H
as at 31 December =t+-HZzHHERR
2016
Non-current assets ERBEE 407,898 771,008 — 1,178,906
Current assets MEBEE 423,097 55,680 — 478,777
Total assets BERAE 830,995 826,688 — 1,657,683
Current liabilities MEE R 230,179 91,748 — 321,927
Non-current liabilities ~ JFiRE & & 66,726 114,274 — 181,000
Total liabilities BELGE 296,905 206,022 — 502,927
Net assets BEFE 534,090 620,666 — 1,154,756
Cash flows for the year EZ —F— K&
ended 31 December +ZA=+—-HL&
2016 ExBéRE
Net cash flows from/ &L £KME/(FifE)
(used in) operating ZREREFE
activities (25,511) 1,897 - (23,614)
Net cash flows from/ ~ #®E¥£HHE,/(FE)
(used in) investing ZREREFE
activities (274,836) 24,511 - (250,325)
Net cash flows from BETYMBzEERE
financing activities FE 309,039 11,635 — 320,674
Increase incashand HELBELEEBEY
cash equivalents £ 8,692 38,043 — 46,735

232 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 o P ot

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEME LT
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ot &t FET FET
(Note)
(B az)
Net assets disposed of: HERFEE :
Property, plant and mE  BERZE
equipment 13 — 3,366
Investment properties WEME 14 — 73,678
Prepayments, deposits and FEfTFKIE « 512 &
other receivables H th jE WK — 1,417
Cash and cash equivalents ¥4 RIELEEY — 924
Other payables and H e B &
accruals EstER — (6,005)
Receipts in advance SR — (621)
Income tax payables FEAS P15 HX — (1,188)
Other tax payables H th & 5 B 18 — (1,776)
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIEAE 28 — (11,854)
— 58,041
Exchange fluctuation BIMME N EBHE
reserve realised — 15,942
Loss on disposal of HEMBRANEIE
subsidiaries — (1,587)
— 72,396
Satisfied by cash VIR & S 1+ — 72,396

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and

HRHEENBARNEERRESEE

cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of YR FE R A DT ¢
subsidiaries is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+t5F —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cash consideration ReRE — 72,396
Cash and cash equivalents HEMR e RIBITER
disposed of — (924)
Net inflow of cash and cash FHRLEENBRAR®
equivalents in respect of ReERBSZEDH
the disposal of subsidiaries F A — 71,472

Note: On 15 June 2016, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of the Company’'s 100% equity
interests in each of BEEXNEXER AR A A
and Faith Stand (China) Limited for a total cash
consideration of HK$72,396,000. The transaction
was completed on 30 June 2016.

Wi R—ZTE—XNEXA+HRB AR
RE—-—EZBYEZHIVEE
WiE WHERRARBEE
REEZERAEBR QA RELZ(F
B) B BR A BB 100%A% 7 B 25 -
EERSHNBEeRBEAAEH
72,396,000/ 7L c 2R HE R =
T-XNENA=ZTHZEK -
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

35. REBERERME

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFBEEXRZF
Save as disclosed in notes 28(d), 31 and 33 B B 7% 7R % MY 7E28(d) ~ 31 &%
to the financial statements regarding issue of 3T EE 2 BN AR AU
new ordinary shares and perpetual convertible Wholly Express Limited} 8
bonds of the Company for the acquisition of BOKA A RRESFMBEIT
Wholly Express Limited and the conversion of TR MK AT B EHF I -
the perpetual convertible bonds, the Group REBREZE-_Z—+HF N
has no other major non-cash transactions of E-XNF+-_A=+—"HLF
investing and financing activities during the BZRERBETH W EEM
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. ERFBREERH °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) ELXBRMETBHNEESE
financing activities )
Other Due to Preference
payables and Duetoa related Bank Loans froma shares of a
accruals shareholder companies hborrowings shareholder  subsidiary
EpEARE EH-% Eft XE-% WERAZ
REFER REXE BEAR  BOER RRHUEXR BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TET FET TET TET T FET
At 1 January 2017 R-E—+&
—-A-H 59,850 1,376 24,708 137,532 61,458 15,376
Changes from financing  BEREHE2
cash flows 68,936 - 44,342 50,134 559,941 (1,112)
Changes from operating 4Z8H4HES
cash flows 7,041 - 1,142 — — —
Foreign exchange MES
movement 3,408 191 5,505 13,811 3,881 1,158
Interest expense e 3,937 2,211 1,202 - - 1112
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—+%
+-A=1+-H 143,202 3,778 76,899 201,477 625,280 16,534

234 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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36. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties
(note 14) and certain portion of a building
(note 13) to third parties and a related party
in which two directors of the Company have
beneficial interests under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging between 1 and 3 years (2016:
between 1 and 6 years). The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments according to the contract
terms.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

36. EEHAERH

(a) FEHHAA
AEERBLKEHERHERSE
EARARBMBEEHFE
HEROBEERTLEEREY
E(MHE14) REFZE T
o (MEE13) @ & - HEH
BR—FEZF(ZT—REF:
—FERF)LE - ZFHE
B R — AR B SR P XA R R
& WA AR IR A #16R3UE B
HAEBEHS -

RZB—tEF+-_A=1—
B ASEREEEMFFHG]
AR BEHEEMRE - AR
TFE R H B B R R &K

HEBRBHOT -

2017 2016

—ZE—+tF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Within one year —F R 9,726 10,507
In the second to fifth years, F_FEERF

inclusive BEEREMSF 19,574 22,536

After five years AFMNE — 2,310

29,300 35,353

As lessee

The Group leases office premises, staff
quarters and a director quarter from third
parties and a fitness center from a related
party, in which a director of the Company has
a beneficial interest, under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging between 2 and 5
years (2016: between 1 and 6 years).

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

(b) MEHEAA
AEERBLEHELHERE
ZHTHERLEYE BIE
Eh—REEES  AYBEAR
RAEEREEakamEY
HE—EREHL - K
MEMREMA _ERF(=F
—RECERE) e

RZE—ttF+-_A=+—
B AEERBETAHELS
HE  RATFEIHAEEMN
MARKEESEBENOT :
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36. OPERATING LEASE 36.

ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
(b) As lessee (continued)

EEHRRBE(E)

(b) fEREMEAE)

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&g&E75)
Within one year —F R 7,316 7,392
In the second to fifth years, F_FEERTF
inclusive PREREREMF 6,535 19,494
After five years AFMUE — 111
13,851 26,997
37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. EXKE

In addition to the operating lease commitments
detailed in note 36(b) above, the Group had the

B £ XM RE36(h)FF all 1 48 & HH & A&
N RBEMR - AEBELIAT

following capital commitments at the end of the B ARG -
reporting period:
2017 2016
S Sy —E—xE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Contracted, but not provided for: 2 2 #){B R % -
Purchase of items of plant and BEHERZEEER
equipment 3,038 2,825
Purchase of an investment BEREME
property 1,358,420 —
Construction of properties under EEHEDYWE R
development and investment "EYE
properties 103,548 186,243
Total At 1,465,006 189,068
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 38. MAEFHE
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed (a) MAFEAN BRESMBERE
elsewhere in these financial statements, the HEFRZ XS » REEH
Group had the following material transactions METEEUNTEARARS -

with related parties during the year:

2017 2016
—E—tE —E-RF
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
ok FET TET
(Restated)
(gE51)
Directors controlled
operations:
ExgflES
Beijing Guorui Development Property management
HEHE fee income
MEEBERA (i) 14,178 11,878
Heat supply and
maintenance fee
income
HEREBEERA (i) 722 1,606
Car park management
fee income
FESEBEERA (i) 1,866 1,942
Steam supply fee
income
AEREBUA (ii) 1,478 2,726
Rendering of services in
relation to operation
of the Recreational
Center
REREHROMEED (iif)
R %5 — 2,221
Rental income
el A (iv) 927 —
Rental expense for a
fitness center
EHhLEERAX (v) 4,330 2,193
Beijing Haoshi Zhonghong ~ Property management
Technology Development fee income
Company Limited* MEEBERA (ii) 235 603
bR B R B R Car park management
BRA A fee income
FESEBERA (i) 235 241
Property decoration fee
income
MEREERA (ii) 1,578 2,886
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 38. MEHME (&)
(continued)
(a)  (continued) (a) (&)
2017 2016
—E—tF A S
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Brat FET FET
(Restated)
(fe&E7))
Beijing Guolong Property management
A0 B fE fee income
MEERERA (i) 2,477 2,678
Heat supply and
maintenance fee
income
HEEREEERA (i) 1,993 5,131
Beijing Xinrui Microfinance  Rendering of services in
Company Limited* relation to operation
EREBHNDEEKBERAF  of the Recreational
Center
mERBEHROMREHRD (iif)
i % 1,431 6,051
Interest paid and
payable
BT R B S (vii) 1,202 —
Beijing Guolong Property Rendering of services in
Company Limited Labor relation to operation
Committee” of the Recreational
EREEEXEERAA Center
Ie%E8%g RERBEHOMRED (iii)
R % - 36
Beijing Guorui Holding Office rental expense
3t 7 B 8 4 ik BRERERAY (vi) 567 735
Wintime Interest paid and
payable
B R AR S 26 2,211 1,376
Xinrong (Beijing) Investment Dividend of preference
Fund Management shares of a subsidiary
Company Limited* paid and payable
ER(UIMREESERE BNKEN—MEWBRA 27
BRAA &k 2 i 8 1,112 187
* For identification only * (EHEE
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(continued)

The Group provides property management
services to landlords of certain properties
managed by the Group, in which two
directors of the Company have beneficial
interests. In return, the Group receives
property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and
car park management service fees which
were charged at rates mutually agreed
between the Group and the landlords.
During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the total fees received by the Group from
landlords in respect of these services
amounted to approximately HK$21,236,000
(2016: approximately HK$23,235,000).
These related party transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Group received property management
fee income, car park management fee
income, steam supply fees and property
decoration fees of approximately
HK$3,526,000 (2016: approximately
HK$6,456,000) in aggregate, which were
charged at rates mutually agreed between
the Group and the landlords, in which two
directors of the Company have beneficial
interests. These related party transactions
constitute exempted connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group received service fees in
relation to the operation of the Recreational
Center of approximately HK$1,431,000
(2016: approximately HK$8,308,000) in
aggregate, which were charged at rates
mutually agreed between the Group and
the related parties, in which two directors
of the Company have beneficial interests.
These related party transactions constitute
exempted connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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38. MAEFMHE(HE)

(if)

(iii)
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ARBMEEEREE -
HEREEREE RE
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BEER - RBE-FT—+
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

(continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rental expense was charged to this related
company for the lease of an office premise
at approximately RMB803,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$927,000) (2016: Nil)
during the year ended 31 December 2017,
on a mutually agreed basis, which, in the
opinion of the directors, approximated to
market rates. This related party transaction
constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Rental expense was incurred by the Wholly
Express Group and charged by this related
company for the lease of a fitness center at
approximately RMBS3,755,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$4,330,000) (2016:
approximately RMB1,877,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,193,000)), on a
mutually agreed basis, which, in the opinion
of the directors, approximated to market
rates. The rental expense relating to periods
subsequent to the acquisition of Wholly
Express Limited during the year amounted
to approximately RMB1,252,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,443,000) constitute
a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Office rental expense was charged by this
related company for the lease of office
premise at approximately RMB492,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$567,000)
(2016: approximately RMB629,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$735,000))
on a mutually-agreed basis, which, in the
opinion of the directors, approximated to
market rates. This related party transaction
constitutes exempted continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to a related party’'s loan
agreement dated 12 March 2017, a related
party’s loan facility of RMB94,000,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$109,810,000) was granted to a
subsidiary of the Group. The related party’s
loan bears interest at the rate of 4.35% per
annum, and is repayable in 12 months from
the date of drawdown of the related party’s
loan or such other date agreed between
the subsidiary and the related party of the
Group in which a director of the Company
has a beneficial interest.
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38. MEFMBE

(vii)

(#)

REEZE-_ZE—t4+=A
T—BHLFE  Z@E
RIREERBEMISF
RPEWER T EEH
MERAEWESLHAS
%i@AE%mwmm
(¥ & 7 #9927,0007% 7T)
(ZZE—RF:ZT) - %H
EHRHBELEMHAE
UAZEZ RERENK —EIE
%%%Aﬁ X5 e

RIS
bl
AR

ZEERRIREEFRAH
MEMEEENHERB B
7E H % BiWholly Express
GroupyE AW E — [
R LWERESHAX
4 A R ¥ 3,755,000 5T (#
B R 4 4,330,000 7% T)

TE-RFHARE
1,877,000 7t (M8 & ® 4
2,193,000 /& Jt)) o K F

€ U BEWholly Express
Limitedf& 8§ i@ & 1 £
T4 B AR 1252000
70 (#8 & 7 491,443,000 7%
JL)  RIE E W R RIS 14A

ZREBK—EFES
ERS e

ZEEARREE — MW
A E B AT UK B A B
HMeEMETAFANHA
R #492 0007T (FHE R A
567,000 L) (= & — X
F o AR ¥ 629,000
7T (48 % 7 # 735,000 7
L)) HhRE A BEM
BT EETRAHEAMS
BEREE ZBEAIRS
B ET AR B E + mA
ETENRRFERER
5) °

HH}

BEBHA-_T—LtF=
At+—HM BEFTEXR
BE o AEE BB AR
RIER—BHEEFER
Rl & A R 94,000,000 7T
(¥ & M 4 109,810,000 7
TL) - BEFERFENEK A
4.35% - BZARREREE
FER B H sk E A ) e
AR EEHREER#ER
WASREBEIRENE
tEHE%+ @A NEE -



38.

39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a) (continued)

(vii) (continued)

On 16 March 2017, the subsidiary drew down
a total amount of RMB94,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$109,810,000). On 2
June 2017, the Group’s fully repaid the
related party’s loan.

(b) Other transactions with related parties:

(i) During the year ended 31 December
2017, certain subsidiaries registered
their office address provided by a
related party, which two directors of
the Company have beneficial interests,
free of charge for a period of four
months subsequent to the acquisition
of Wholly Express Limited.

(i) During the year ended 31 December
2017, a subsidiary operated a spa
center in a premise of a related party,
which two directors of the Company
have beneficial interests, free of
charge for a period of four months
subsequent to the acquisition of Wholly
Express Limited.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

Save as disclosed in notes 19(c), 20, 24,
26, 27 and 31 to the financial statements,
the Group had no other material outstanding
balances with related parties as at 31
December 2017 and 2016.

(d) Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were loans
and receivables and financial liabilities stated at
amortised cost, respectively.
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38. MEFEE ()

39.

(a) (%)

(viiy  (#&)

R-DZT—tF=ZA+ K
A MEBEARIREEREA
R #94,000,0007T (#HE R
#7109,810,0007%& L) ° A
—E—tHFXAZH XK
SEPEEEHESIER

(b) HEEITWHEMRS :

(i) HEZZ—tF+=A
“t+—HLEFE BT
BB AR ERF SR
NEMUTIHBERS
RE(KRARMAES
REPEEERER)
R U EEWholly Express
Limited?& /9 &l A HA 9 1~
BN & A -

(i HEZ_ZFT-—tF+=
B=+—BLEEE »
BMETHMERLEE
mﬁ¢®m—ﬁwg

:W$“ﬂmﬁ§$
\A¢%ﬁim% )
U BEWholly Express
Limited?& P4 & A HAN T~
WER & o

(c) HBEHZmARXMNEH
T —

n= +ER T —KF
+=—A=+—H  BARBK®
= Mt 7 19(c) ~ 20~ 24 -+ 26 -
27 M B1FTH 52 & I 0 KEE
EAREE WAL HME KM
KIAFHE o

(d FTEBFZEEABEREAR
5% f}ivz%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁi\ﬁiﬂﬂ%
HERMEI -

EMIASME

RZE—+FRZZE—REF+=A
=t+—H ALEEMEeMEENKE
B 5 Bl A E TR FE Uk FRIE A B A B
BENAFTENEREE -
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40.

41.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
which are due to be received or settled within
one year approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments, therefore, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

For other non-current financial assets and liabilities,
in the opinion of the directors, since their carrying
amounts are not significantly different from their
respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise cash and cash equivalents, a pledged
bank deposit, loans from a shareholder, bank
borrowings and preference shares of a subsidiary.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is
mainly for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables and receipts in
advance.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial
instruments is foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Since HK$ is
pegged to US$, the Group does not have significant
foreign exchange risk in respect of its operations
in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and
the UK, the Group’s financial position and operating
performance can be affected significantly by
movements in RMB/HK$ and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB and £ exchange rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (due to changes in fair value of
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MERBREEERERBE
(#)

TRIATRHEHRE M E R
A MARBMAFERLRA
BARERBBERT  AEREAE
BHEBEERABEATFELRE
B)HRBHHRM -

monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax
SN = BATE B
LA (THE) 2,/ Ofd)
% HK$'000
TFET
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-ZT—+t &
tZA=+—-BLFE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WMEBTEARERE
against RMB 5 4,940
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  fi#& BT A R FAE
against RMB (5) (4,940)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W& BT RERE
against £ 5 9,134
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens % /& T X & & &
against £ (5) (9,134)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax
P TE & HAIBE
EH (T ) ®wm CR2)
% HK$'000
FET
(Restated)
(=7)
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE—-ZT—X&
+tZHA=+—-BLEE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WMEBTLARKRE
against RMB 5 1,849
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens & # T H A RB A
against RMB (5) (1,849)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WMEBTRAREREAE
against £ 5 7,899
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 4% 8 7T 4 &8 FHE
against £ (5) (7,899)
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the
Group’s counterparties to meet their obligations
under property management services agreements
and rental agreements. Credit risk exposure is
minimised by undertaking transactions with a large
number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the
Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of trade receivables to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from other
financial assets of the Group, which mainly
comprise cash and bank balances and other
receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from the receivables
are disclosed in notes 16, 19, 20 and 21 to the
financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In light of the future business expansion of the
Group, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its
liquidity requirements and the estimated future
construction cost of the US Complex and the
acquisition of an investment property in the UK.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through cash receipts from the issue of shares, as
well as the strict control over its daily operating
expenses. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, proceeds from a share placement
obtained and capital contributed by shareholders
by means of cash during the prior year and the
current year, respectively to finance certain of the
abovementioned capital commitments are expected
to be fulfilled by the Group after 2017. Accordingly,
the Group expects to have adequate sources of
funding to finance the Group’s operations and
manage its liquidity position.
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41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#+=-HA=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. MEREEEEEREER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) B R B ()
The maturity profile of the Group’'s financial R EEAR - BIBAKCIHIREHA RN
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, e AEERBELEEBENSRE
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, EOREEHEMRTET
is as follows:
Within
On demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REX —EN0R —Z5E &3t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
31 December 2017 —E-tH
T=A=t-H
Trade payables B 5 EMNFIE 37,185 26,539 - 63,724
Other payables H & 508 73,208 60,300 — 133,508
Due to a director R —REEFE 862 — — 862
Due to a shareholder e — R R A 3,778 — — 3,778
Due to related companies JE+ BR3E 1\ A 508 76,899 — — 76,899
Bank borrowings (Note) RITER (W) 149,957 57,900 — 207,857
Loans from a shareholder ~ K& —ZBRRHEH — 12,506 636,652 649,158
Preference shares of a 1NN
subsidiary 8 &% — 1,157 18,655 19,812
341,889 158,402 655,307 1,155,598
Within
On demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REX —EN0R —ZRE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&Y (KEY) (KEF])  (BE5)
31 December 2016 ZB-RE
+=ZA=+-H
Trade payables B 5 ENFE 10,253 23,224 — 33,477
Other payables H BN RIE 48,010 — — 48,010
Due to a director BN —RESHE 861 — — 861
Due to a shareholder BN —BRRFE 1,376 — — 1,376
Due to related companies & B8 1 &) ZUE 24,708 — — 24,708
Bank borrowings (Note) RITERWZ) 135,518 237 5,505 141,260
Loan from a shareholder RE—EREHEK — 1,229 63,487 64,716
Preference shares of a —HWB AR
subsidiary &k — 1,076 18,425 19,501
220,726 25,766 87,417 333,909
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41.

42,

— ta = =l

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Note: One of the loan agreements contains a

repayment on demand clause giving the bank
the unconditional right to call in the loan at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above
maturity profile, the total amount was classified
as “on demand” as at 31 December 2017. In
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement,
the contractual undiscounted payments of the
bank borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$149,957,000 (2016: approximately
HK$135,518,000) which were repayable within 1
year as at 31 December 2017.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(i) On 15 November 2017, the Group entered
into a purchase and sale agreement with an
independent third party to acquire the entire
interest in a commercial building in London,
the UK at a total consideration of £134,500,000.
The transaction was completed on 8 January
2018.

(i) On 18 January 2018, the Company’s
perpetual convertible bonds outstanding as
at 31 December 2017 were fully converted
into 95,446,724 new ordinary shares of the
Company, resulting in an increase in share
capital of the Company by HK$82,084,000.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD(continued)

(iif)

On 26 January 2018, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement with independent
third parties to issue a total of 179,484,147
new ordinary shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$1 per share under the
general mandate for a total cash consideration
of approximately HK$179,484,000. The purpose
of issuing new shares by the Company is to
finance the repayment of loans from banks
and provide general working capital to the
Group. The subscription was completed on 22
February 2018.

43. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

(a)

As further detailed in note 33 to the financial
statements, the acquisition of the 100%
equity interest in Wholly Express Limited was
accounted as a business combination under
common control using the principle of merger
accounting in accordance with AG 5 issued
by the HKICPA. Accordingly, the comparative
amounts of these consolidated financial
statements in respect of the year ended 31
December 2016 have been restated and
a third consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2016 has been
presented.

In addition, having considered the
differences in the nature of the business
of the Wholly Express Group from those of
the Group’s existing businesses, instead of
using the function of expense method which
was previously adopted in the preparation
of the prior years’ consolidated financial
statements, the Group used the nature of
expense method to present the analysis of
expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2017 as the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that such presentation
would provide more reliable and relevant
information. Accordingly, comparative
amounts of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in respect of the year ended 31
December 2016 have been re-presented to
conform to the current year’s presentation.

As further detailed in note 29(b) to the
financial statements, a prior year adjustment
was made as a result of the ineffectiveness of
the Capital Reduction of the Company.

B 355 5 < P =

31 December 2017 =—F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

42, REMEER(E)

(iif)

RZE—-—NF—-—A=Z+ X
B ARQARE— AR EH
BN EZHEIMNREWHE
UREBEEGRBEMDIBITAH
BT AR B179,484,147 B
TERBeRELBN A
179,484,000/ JT » A 2 &) %
TFREEMEERBITER
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& REFHENZ-_Z—NF
A+ ZBEK -

43. kBB F

(a)

QAET T ¥R & 33 AT FF A - X
BEWholly Express Limitedz
100% A% # 1R 4% 18 B8 & =1 A 2
WMz GEHESI E59 A
ZEaHeEHRAARARR —#Z
FITOEBSO - Bt - BHE
—E—-XRF+-_A=+—HIt
FEZHFEEVBRROLEEH
FEEY  BRZTE—RF—
A—RAME=0iRa iR
*BE 2% -

b - E B EWholly Express
SENEBLERAEERSF
¥BHEEBRRTR - O3k
KRN GRHATFERS
MHBREREANER &S
BE AEBRABRAMEX
EIHEZTE-—LF+= A
=S+—HBIEFEZEaERE
FOEBERSN  BRAQAE
ERAZEERHFAKIREHE
ASEREENER - Bt - &
E-_ET-RFt+HA=1+—H
tFEZHFERmaRZEES
BOENZ2IUFEAFEZ
2H7FH -

w8 7 3R R M 5E 29(b)AT 5
o BRARAE R E
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o
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BE R

31 December 2017 —F—+#+=A=+—A

44,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

FLOFHMBRRAR

BRARANHREMROTHARREK

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is HMER DT :
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
(Restated)
('&=5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BENRFZHE 507 168
Investments in subsidiaries J‘E/\IZHJ%”AﬂE’]&éi 591,349 —
Due from subsidiaries FE B B A Rl SR IR 180,490 180,490
Non-current deposit FE B EA DT% 429 429
Total non-current assets IEmB A EBE 772,775 181,087
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loans to subsidiaries RETHER T E’J T 3K 337,910 131,235
Due from subsidiaries FE Ui Bﬁ%’“ 2] 665,484 211,855
Prepayments, deposits and other  J& { Z 18 ET@&
receivables E?@E@Hﬁz E 1,318 640
Pledged bank deposit EHEAIEITER 39,636 38,800
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREZEEY 20,604 38,886
Total current assets MEEEELTE 1,064,952 421,416
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals HMERNRMEREER 62,455 1,811
Due to a shareholder Bt —£ Hx%m 3,778 1,376
Due to subsidiaries FET BB R B /I8 318 —
Income tax payable FET RIS TR — 396
Total current liabilities mMEBEBRE 66,551 3,583
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFH 998,401 417,833
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REBEELABERRD
CURRENT LIABILITIES =K 1,771,176 598,920
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEB
Due to subsidiaries FE BT B R B /I8 391 —
Loans from a shareholder KE—% Hx% D) % P 625,280 61,458
Total non-current liabilities FME B EERE 625,671 61,458
Net assets BEFE 1,145,505 537,462
EQUITY =
Share capital & < 1,780,663 1,219,965
Perpetual convertible bonds KA A] #2 B (E 5 82,084 —
Reserves (Note) R (Hat) (717,242) (682,503)
Total equity W B EE 1,145,505 537,462
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
MaE 2N E
Director Director
- g
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

45.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

B3R Mot

31 December 2017 —F—+#F+=-HA=+—H

44, FLTFHMBRRE (&)

(continued)
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as Mat - RRRlREEBRZENT -
follows:
Capital ~ Share option  Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
EXffG BRERE RitER it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(7)) (7))
(Note 29(b))
(H#29b))
At 1 January 2016 R-B-x5-F—8 10,868 - (643,479) (632,611)
Loss for the year and AEEERR
total comprehensive loss for the year AEELABELE — - (48,892) (48,892)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE-RE+ZA=1+—H°
1 January 2017 R-Z-+5-f-H 10,868 - (693,371) (682,503)
Loss for the year and TEEBER
total comprehensive loss for the year TEEEABELE — — (34,739) (34,739)
Equity-settled share options arrangement INEREEERERZ - 1,167 - 1,167
Exercise of share options TiEERE — (1,167) — (1,167)
At 31 December 2017 RZF—+5+ZRA=+—-H 10,868 — (728,110) (717,242)

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2018.

45. MEHIRBOH#E

KUBREN_Z-NF=ZA=-TAh
FHEZRBBAAIEEM -
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ALl Allz AN
BBV NERTYEFE
Attributable
interest of the
Location Use Lease term Group
FER
i B A& HEH rEBHER
Completed investment properties
EEBBREDHE
Boundary House, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
7-17 Jewry Street, [SES R ER AR 4V
London EC3N 2EX
Juxon House, Commercial Long term lease 100%
100 St Pauls Churchyard, [EES RHEMED
London,
EC 4M 8BU,
the United Kingdom
Investment properties under construction and properties under development
TR REVERBREPYHE
2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd., Residential/ Not applicable 100%
Santa Monica, Commercial i A
CA90403, T/
the USA
Property, plant and equipment
Building No. 3 of Kingdom Guorui, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
1 Ronghua South Road, EES FHR A 4V

Beijing Economic

Technological Development Area,
Beijing, the PRC

1 B 46 )

7B BT B 3[R

Bl e o8

KNIE35
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
total equity of the Group for the last five financial years/
period, as extracted from the published annual report and
audited financial statements, is set out below:

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AEBEBEREAMBFE HEEEEE T

A B 50 &

ENFRLRERMBRROKLLERE
EE ABENEZAOBENT :

RESULTS E§
Eleven
months
ended  Year ended
Year ended 31 December 31 December 31 January
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Bz
—E-mF Bz
+-f =—ZT-Z%
BEt-A=+-HLEE =t—-8 -A=t-H
“E-tf ZT-xF ZZ-1F Lt-fAA ILERE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET
(Restated)
(B E3)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS REREEY
Revenue KA 229,822 216,392 76,809 5,937 5,892
Loss before tax from continuing ~ #EKEEKELH
operations Al EE (67,633) (67,395) (18,414) (13,252) (34,100)
Income tax credit/(expenses) MEREE/ (B 2,619 2,082 262 (202) (206)
LOSS FOR THE REE/BEER
YEAR/PERIOD FROM BEXBELEN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BE (65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (13,454) (34,306)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ~ BRLLEE%%
Profit for the year/period KEE/HRBERIE
from discontinued operation REEBEEN
ipE - — — 5,106 1,091
Loss for the year/period AER/HEESR (65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (8,438) (33,215)
Attributable to: BER
Shareholders of the Company KRARR (65,014) (62,798) (18,152) (8,438) (33,491)
Non-controlling interests Pkl £ - (2,565) — - 276
(65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (8,438) (33,215)

Note:

restatements of results were provided.

For the results for the year ended 31 January 2013 and
2015, and eleven months ended 31 December 2014, no

M BE-_E-—=FfR-_Z-—AF-A=+—

gl o

AEFERBE_T—NF+_A=+—
BIET—EAZES  TEREXEECS
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

, v
BAFET B2
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL HE AEfAMEKEst
EQUITY
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 January
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E-t§ ZT-xf CZT-1F ZT-QmF <ZT-=F
t=h +ZA TZA TZA -A
=+-H =+-H =+—H =+—H =+-H
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(m=51) (E=31)
Total assets BELE 2,415,782 1,657,683 1,227,733 161,644 138,444
Total liabilities BEEE (1,306,958) (502,927) (247,864) (22,304) (544,967)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(BR)FE 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869 139,340 (406,523)
Attributable to: BER
Shareholders of the Company ARABRR 1,108,824 1,160,983 987,199 139,340 (406,081)
Non-controlling interests FEHER — (6,227) (7,330) — (442)
TOTAL EQUITY/ BiE/(REEA A
(DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS) 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869 139,340 (406,523)

Note: For the assets, liabilities and total equity as at 31 ffi : R —_ET—NFEF+_A=+—BER_ZF
December 2014 and 31 January 2013, no restatements of —=ZF—fA=1+—HBZEE BaEkiEx
the assets, liabilities and total equity were provided. e WEIRMEE BEMMEZLEZ

B -
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